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Chairman’s Statement
ENNE &

The Hon TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, JP, Chairman

WP W JB A2 GBM GBS SBS AFalt T

Dear Shareholders,

The Group has developed its business by pursuing a progress with
consolidation strategy in the year under review. In the first half
of the year, the Group was affected by the volatile retail industry
coupled with the appreciation of the Japanese yen and the intense
competition within the industry. The Group responded to these
challenges by making timely and strategic adjustments to maintain
its competitiveness and market share. In the second half of the year,
performance of the Group has become steady while sustaining its
market leadership owing to factors such as the improvement of the
market conditions in Hong Kong and softening of the Japanese yen.

RESULTS

In the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group’s
consolidated revenue increased modestly to HK$2,948,289,000
(2016: HK$2,941,468,000). The profit for the year attributable to
equity holders of the Company increased to HK$50,274,000 (2016:
HK$45,827,000). Sales for Hong Kong and Mainland China performed
steadily. The sales derived from Hong Kong was HK$2,030,204,000
(2016: HK$2,004,350,000) accounting for 69% of the Group’s total
sales. The sales in Mainland China was HK$918,085,000 (2016:
HK$937,118,000) corresponding to 31% of the Group’s total sales.

The Group has recorded some one-off gains net of tax in the year
under review. These one-off gains net of tax come from (i) the gain
from disposing a non-core subsidiary of the Group holding a livestock
farm amounted to approximately HK$38 million, (ii) the gain from
disposing a non-core subsidiary of the Group holding a poultry farm
amounted to approximately HK$20 million, and (iii) the gain from
disposing a non-core subsidiary of the Group holding a property
amounted to approximately HK$38 million.
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Chairman’s Statement
ENNE &

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group distributes and produces a range of food products that cater
for customers and segments of all ages. Its multifaceted food business
covers distribution, manufacturing, retailing and catering. The Group’s
distribution network stretches from supermarkets, convenience store
chains, department stores, fast food chains, wholesalers, retailers,
restaurants, hotels, bars and airlines. It distributes food items from
China, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, Indonesia, Thailand, the Philippines,
Australia, Ireland, France, Germany, Holland, Belgium, South Africa
and the United States covering food categories such as snacks, milk

powder, beverages, sauce, seasonings, ham and sausages.

Last year, the Group has stayed innovative in food distribution, retail
and catering businesses, and brought new surprises to food lovers in
Hong Kong.

Distribution Business

Food distribution is the core business of the Group and it has been
developing steadily. The Group has a wide range of distribution
networks and a good sales team that constantly explore around the
world to source unique and high-quality food to give food lovers in
Hong Kong and Mainland more quality options. Last year, the Group
has successfully introduced the famous Japanese brand, “Lotte ice
cream”. The ice-cream comes with different flavors including vanilla,
chocolate, Uji green tea, strawberry and rum raisin together with
sorbet flavored by Fuji apple, grape and mango. “Lotte ice cream”

becomes a popular item and is widely sold in convenience stores.
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Chairman’s Statement
ENNE &

Manufacturing Business

Apart from distribution, the Group has 20 production plants in Hong
Kong and Mainland China that produce different kinds of quality
food products. With stringent quality control and comprehensive
monitoring system in production, the Group has gained market trust
and confidence in its manufacturing plants that results in various
international accreditations such as the “HACCP”, “ISO 9001”, “ISO
22000” and “Hong Kong Q-Mark Product Scheme Certification”.
Owing to its strong sales networks as well as its streamlined one-
stop platform, the Group has successfully created products that satisfy
different market demands and are well received in the market.

Retailing and Catering Businesses

The Group strives for innovation in order to maintain the strength of
its retailing and catering businesses. “Okashi Land” Japanese snack
stores and “YOKU MOKU” cookie stores have solid sales in Hong
Kong and Macau, while “Calbee PLUS” and “Foodfie” have become
popular among consumers. Murray Catering Company Limited, a
school lunch box and tuck shop service provider acquired by the
Group the year before, has been developing steadily in the year under
review. Besides, the Group’s Japanese and Chinese restaurants are
well received in Hong Kong and Guangdong, including Hong Kong
managed “Blue Brick Bistro by YOKU MOKU”, Japanese style
restaurant “Shiki*Etsu”, Shanghai vegetarian cuisine “Kung Tak
Lam”, and Japanese style dumpling fast food shop “Osaka Ohsho”.
In Guangzhou, “Panxi Restaurant”, Japanese restaurant “Mori Café”
and sushi restaurant chain “Sushi Oh” are famous among food lovers.
In addition, the Group has recently introduced a brand in SOGO at
Causeway Bay that is well-known for making Kagoshima fried fish

cake called “Qjiki” and it has received rave reviews.
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Chairman’s Statement
ENE &

BRAND DEVELOPMENT

Founded in 1971, the Group has been rooted in Hong Kong and
adheres to its motto, “Eating Safely, Eating Happily”. The motto
serves as a principle that guides the Group to put food safety as its first
priority. Internally, the Group has a stringent monitoring system to
ensure the production of quality products. After 46 years of dedicated
hard work, the Group has become a well-known brand in Hong Kong
and Mainland China.

Growing up in Hong Kong, the Group is a typical Hong Kong legend.
Following market changes, the Group has been capable of embarking
on a new level of development. With its well-known brand image
and reputation, the Group, on one hand, expands its market share in
Hong Kong and, on the other hand, taps the Mainland China market.
The Group firmly believes that quality food should be shared together
and so it plays an active role as a food “ambassador” by introducing
overseas food into Mainland China while taking Mainland China food

to the international market.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Being a member of the community, the Group upholds the spirit
of “receiving from the society and giving back to the society” by
actively promoting a harmonious community and sponsoring various
community organisations, including Junior Police Call, schools,
elderly and women’s organisations, youth associations, Kaifong
welfare organisations and other federations. Such move allows the
organisations to enjoy the Group’s diversified products and share the
Group’s spirit of “Eating Happily”.
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Chairman’s Statement
ENNE &

Last year, the Group has received numerous awards, including
“Outstanding Social Caring Organisation Award” presented by the
Social Enterprise Research Institute, “Hong Kong’s Most Valuable
Companies Award 2017 presented by Mediazone, “Hong Kong
Outstanding Enterprise 2016” presented by Economic Digest and
“Caring Company Award” presented by the Hong Kong Council of
Social Services for the 15th consecutive year. The Group and Okashi
Land have been awarded the “Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top
Mark)” presented by the Hong Kong Brand Development Council and
the Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong.

Besides, Calbee Four Seas Company Limited has received “Good
MPF Employer Award 2016/17” presented by Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority, the “Supreme Supermarket Brand” and
“Star Supermarket Brand (Snack)” at the “PARKnSHOP Super Brands
Award”, and “Distinguished Family-Friendly Employer”, “Family-
Friendly Employers Award Scheme — Awards for Innovation” and
“Family-Friendly Employer in Two Rounds” presented by the Home
Affairs Bureau and the Family Council.

In addition, food supplied by the Group has been highly appreciated.
“Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine” was honored with a
“Bib Gourmand Award” by the Michelin Guide Hong Kong Macau
2017. Four Seas Seaweed has received the “Most Popular Snack
Series” of “Health Beauty Well-being Award” presented by Mannings
China. Calbee has also won the “7-Eleven Top Brands Campaign
Award” by 7-Eleven Convenience Store and “Outstanding Category
Performance Awards of Favorite Brands Awards” by Wellcome
Supermarket. HARIBO also received the “Kids Favorite Brands
Award” of Favorite Brands Awards by Wellcome Supermarket. Oyatsu
Snack Noodle has won the “Creative and Attractive TV Advertising
Awards — Merit Award” by the Hong Kong Commercial Publicity
Association.

PROSPECTS

Moving forward, the Group will focus on the strategy of “Based in
Hong Kong, Yearning for Mainland”. It will continue to strengthen its
market share in the Hong Kong food industry as well as exploring the
high potential food market in Mainland China.

Business in Hong Kong

Based in Hong Kong, the Group will continue to maintain and expand
its leading position in the food market. Last year, the Group introduced
“Foodfie” to Hong Kong and it has become a popular place for family
gathering that both parents and children love. Earlier on, SOGO’s new
store “Qjiki” which is well-known for making Kagoshima fried fish
cake has caught the attention of food lovers and the media with great
comments.

With extensive experience, the Group will, as always, introduce
different quality food products from around the world and become
a trend-setter for snacks to satisfy the demand and appetite of food
lovers.
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In March this year, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose
of a property that has been used as the Group’s office and warehouse
subject to a leaseback for one year commencing from 19 May 2017,
the completion date for the disposal transaction. The Group has been
actively finding and arranging other Hong Kong-based properties
to serve as office and warehouse. It is hoped that the new office
and warehouse will bring benefits by enhancing the Group’s overall
logistics as well as supply chain operation efficiency and convenience
and facilitate the future development of the Group.

Business in Mainland

The Group’s performance is adversely affected by the continuous weak
consumer market in Mainland while the production and operating costs
do not decrease. However, as the Group has numerous good products,
it will tap Mainland’s huge market potential and explore opportunities
in Mainland market along the principle of “excellent quality, great
variety and ample safety”. Online shopping business is one of the
future developments of the Group. Last year, the Group set up a
wholly-owned company in the Nansha New District in Guangdong
Free Trade Zone to engage in international trade in food imports and
e-commerce business. At present, the Group’s products are available
on a number of e-commerce platforms in Mainland China, such as
Taobao, Tmall, Tmall Global, Jingdong and Yihaodian, to provide
delicate food for food lovers in the country anytime and anywhere.

Besides, in terms of food selection, the Group is committed to provide
tailor-made experience for online customers. After considering many
factors such as hot selling items in the retail market and cross-border
e-commerce platforms and industry data etc., the Group selected
medium and high-end products to satisfy the demand of Mainland
China customers on the online shopping platforms. These quality
products can also meet with the preference and needs of the consumers
of Mainland China.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to explore opportunities to
develop Mainland China market and diversify its revenue streams.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the board of directors, I express our most sincere gratitude
to the management team and staff for their efforts and contribution
made to our Group. I would also like to take this opportunity to
thank all shareholders and business partners for their confidence and
continuous support to the Group.

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2017
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Major Awards of the Year
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Continuous recognition & awards recewed during this year
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Four Seas Group is one of the leading food enterprises in Hong Kong,
distributing various kinds of renowned food brands from around the world.

The Group has been developing its own premium brand successfully, and
has been highly recognised and accredited with various awards this year.

AEBIFEEHEEBEIRBUTRIE
The following awards are granted to our Group’s Chairman, Dr. Stephen Tai:

Arimam

RE /B

BRHE

Award/Recognition
REHNHE

Grand Bauhinia Medal (GBM)
4HEE

Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS)
(EHMAM) s FEANKE

AD!'\'!

RRERERLEBARELE

Honorary Certificate of “Distinguished Management Entrepreneur”
ERENEA DEFRER

11EHEARERARE ANHR

DRt ABEEH

Top 10 Business Leader of Asia Brand

2012-20132 A HEAE AR

Wolrdwide Prominent Chiu Chow Business Leader Award 2012-2013
PEESS LA [ REYEN LT AR ERE]

“Most Influential Listed Company Leader” of

The China Securities Golden Bauhinia Awards
TREERHR (BB -[HRIRRE]

Special Achievement Award of “Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Awards”

(teBELRTA 2[DNHEBEEHE]

“Asian Social Caring Leadership Award” of Social Caring Pledge Scheme
BERMARGHAE
Business Lifetime Achievement for Producing Quality Food Products

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e

Organiser
EARATHEEMN

The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
BRBATHERR

The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
ERAMATINZBHFR

hERMREEE

China Food Safety Annual Conference
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EREARBNBENLEREREHERS
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%ﬂi¢@ﬂﬁﬁﬂ%*ﬁ BZENZZELEERMNL REERR
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TXCS Economic Conference 2013

EEXLABEALRLMAAGE  LETROD LA ABCEREEPERS
EHEENBREEESRBNECEEZAR TN

EE) 4

Enterprise Asia & the Organising Committee of the APEA

HELERRR

Social Enterprise Research Institute
Mediazone Publishing
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Major Awards of the Year
AF B AR

BREN/KE

Awardee

15EPUsEH A RER mASE ERLERERE -
15 Years Plus Caring Company Four Seas Group Hong Kong Council of Social Services
HeBE LR mAsE tELEREH
Outstanding Social Caring Organization Award Four Seas Group Social Enterprise Research Institute L
AT REEHE [ AT 2520132017 |8 mA&E EEEILIR
“Manpower Developer 2013-2017" of Manpower Developer Award Four Seas Group Employees Retraining Board
Scheme
BARHIEE016 upi3o &E-8
Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises 2016 Four Seas Group Economic Digest ¥
ERSAEELR1T [LELE] Mediazone Publishing
Hong Kong's Most Valuable Companies Award 2017 Four Seas Group
[BREEmY 5B 0%E8 mifsE EREEELHE
Authenticated Member of Hong Kong Quality Brand Four Seas Group Association of Hong Kong Quality Brand .
BEBEREAENGZ[SHAE (ENIRR)AEIRE  EHNESERAT BEERT S pverianns || Loasans e -
“Excellent Enterprise (Processed Meat)” of Four Seas Mercantile Limited PARKnSHOP Supermarket
PARKnSHOP Super Brand Awards 2015
ISO9001E EERE A E mikERR OLE) BRAR HEEERTA D
1509001 Quality Management System Certificate CFSS Company Limited China Quality Certification Centre
1S020008 R E2 EREZAAR WA R R OLE) ERAR PEEERTRL
18022000 Food Safety Management System Certificate CFSS Company Limited China Quality Certification Centre e =3
BREEE FEBMMNERA A EAneREEe | — ——
Caring Company Award Calbee Four Seas Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Council of Social Services i -
ArbERFHEZ[ AT £50011-2017 ]8R FEBMAERL A EEEEIR
“Manpower Developer 2011-2017" of Manpower Developer Award Calbee Four Seas Company Limited  Employees Retraining Board S TTT U, gp—TY
Scheme
GMPR FR{EREDE FEBMNERAR EARALNE [
GMP Certificate Calbee Four Seas Company Limited ~ SGS Hong Kong Limited P e i -
HACCPRE AT REREHGRLAR FEBMNERA EABRLE — -4
HACCP Certificate Calbee Four Seas Company Limited ~ SGS Hong Kong Limited e I
10220008 R %2 EREADH FEBMHERAR BRERLE ¢ na
15022000 Food Safety Management System Certificate Calbee Four Seas Company Limited ~ SGS Hong Kong Limited el
ELIFET2016217 FEBMNERLE BAEDBLTHERR
Good MPF Employer Award 2016/17 Calbee Four Seas Company Limited  The Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes R —— th
Authority =
NUFERERPAR mEfRAEE Group BuyerBEZ
Quality Merchant Awards 2014 Shiki» Etsu Japanese Restaurant Group Buyer —
BERERBN1G LR E LEREEET FEEEH 3]
“Best-Ever Japanese Cuisine” of Best-Ever Dining Awards 2015 Shiki Etsu Japanese Restaurant Weekend Weekly Magazine
[BEERE AT WERLBER BEKERRR
“QTS Merchant” of the Quality Tourism Services Scheme Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian ~ Hong Kong Tourism Board = b f_‘x
Cuisine - ¥
CKEBKREES/BRNI7IERAZRENE-ZREE  MENLEZER REIBER .
“Bib Gourmand Award” by The MICHELIN Guide Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian ~ Michelin Guide - 3
Hong Kong/Macau 2017 Cuisine - =
BREES IR ERULERERE :
Caring Company Award Okashi Land Hong Kong Council of Social Services
EREERER 2RNE mEER ;
The Most Popular Hong Kong and Macau Brand Okashi Land China Media ol
[BEHERS AT TR BRRERER
“QTS Merchant” of the Quality Tourism Services Scheme Okashi Land Hong Kong Tourism Board —
[EREEHE 4BL%EE ERUE EREERTHE : en "
Authenticated Member of Hong Kong Quality Brand Okashi Land Association of Hong Kong Quality Brand
HBWARZE B2 [#EE NS RAM] Wi %3 e - =
“Most Popular Snack Series” of Health Beauty Well-being Award  Four Seas Seaweed Mannings China
NUFERERRMEALR 48 T-Eleven %
2014 7-Eleven Top Brands Campaign Award Calbee 7-Eleven Convenience Store
168mERZ[LERER] 48 EERATH
“Outstanding Category Performance Awards” of Favourite Brands Calbee Wellcome Supermarket s "
Awards
BEEERBARN162[ZBRARE] ~48 BERBATS
“Supreme Supermarket Brand” of PARKnSHOP Super Brands ~ Calbee PARKnSHOP Supermarket
Award 2016
BEBSREAEN16Z[2RATRIE(ZR)] 48 BERATS
“Star Supermarket Brand (Snack)” of PARKnSHOP Super Brands  Calbee PARKnSHOP Supermarket
Award 2016
BE2RES (TOPE) S BERRBERREETEREH S
Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark) Maid Brand Hong Kong Brand Development Council and
The Chinese Manufacturers Association of
Hong Kong
EEQEREERAE SHREAE EaIgae
Hong Kong Q-Mark Licence Maid Ham The Federation of Hong Kong Industries
g Kong i l i g Kong Industri i II—! A

MOEF REARBESIXER -

Certain recognition/awards are only provided with official Chinese name.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Year ended 31 March
BEZH=14—HILEE

2017 2016 Change
R L RS W] 391 b
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 (%)

Mt wWTIL T

Key items of consolidated statement of ~ LA HEFHEH
profit or loss
Revenue N 2,948,289 2,941,468 +0.2
Gross Profit EF) 919,980 948,365 -3.0
EBITDA REFE ~ FreeBt - I8 R
5 W ¥ A 1 165,158 143,978 +14.7
Profit attributable to equity holders of S5 RS R AS A W RE 25 TR B A
the Company 50,274 45,827 +9.7
Key financial ratios T B IR
Gross profit margin Ecy e 31.2% 32.2%
Net profit margin Alip) R 2 1.7 % 1.6%
Inventory turnover days 8 RER 3 55 62
Trade receivables turnover days JAEE WA B 5 O R R 4 69 69
Trade payables turnover days JRE A B 2 MR ok R R 8 3 31 36
Notes: M
1. EBITDA refers to earnings before interest, income tax, depreciation 1. AR ~ FRASBE - e SR B AT R OF B 4G IE
and amortisation (excluding share of profits and losses of associates). A6 W56 2% 2 Wl e A X s 1R o
2. Net profit margin is calculated as profit attributable to equity holders of 2. i ) 2R 5 A O ) RE 28 BT A 3 ME AN s A B DA B
the Company divided by revenue. Ho
3. The calculation of inventory and trade payables turnover days is based 3. 1758 T WA B2 5 e sk ) T R S vy 5 A 4 3 40 B B
on the average of the opening and closing balances divided by cost of TR 1 S 35 SRR DB B AR 15 3 D4R N R R
sales and multiplied by number of days for the year. o
4. The calculation of trade receivables turnover days is based on the 4. JRE W B 5 B ik R e S S A e B A % B K 4 B
average of the opening and closing balances divided by revenue and RESE NGNS IV ANP N L A

multiplied by number of days for the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PR ) s S a3 A

During the year, revenue of the Group recorded a slight increase of
0.2% and reached HK$2,948,289,000 (2016: HK$2,941,468,000).
Gross profit as a percentage of the revenue decreased from
32.2% in the previous year to 31.2% in the year. Accordingly,
gross profit decreased from HK$948,365,000 in the previous
year to HK$919,980,000 in the year, representing a decrease of
HK$28,385,000 which is equivalent to a decrease of 3.0%. EBITDA of
the Group increased to HK$165,158,000 (2016: HK$143,978,000) and
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year was
HK$50,274,000 (2016: HK$45,827,000), representing an increase of
9.7%.

During the first half of the year under review, the weakening of
consumers’ purchasing power together with intensified market
competition have made the Group to intensify promotional price
reduction to maintain its competitiveness and market share. Such
market conditions have adversely affected the profitability of the
Group. The appreciation of the Japanese yen against Hong Kong
dollars during the first half of the year has further added adverse
impact to the profits of the Group. Despite these, the improvement of
Hong Kong market conditions coupled with the weakening of Japanese
yen against Hong Kong dollars during the second half of the year
affected the profitability of the Group positively. The gain from the
three disposal transactions, details of which are set out in note 33 to
the financial statements, has compensated the adverse factors affecting
the profitability of the Group during the year. This has resulted in an
increase in profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company for
the year to HK$50,274,000 (2016: HK$45,827,000).
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FEN > REAMZBRAHRBO2PZ BB RE > B
2,948,289,000%s JC (T — N4 1 2,941,468,000%%
JG) o B B A Z W B B 234 Z232.2% 0 A BEAR
FZ312% - Wil s MR Z BN EFBRFEZ
948,365,000% JC I & 2 A 4E 2919,980,000% 5T > IR
BV 9% 4228,385,000%5 76 > #4571 A3.0% o A4 E
ZARFER B - AR~ PR Kk B AT % R B &
165,158,000% JC (= F— /N4 ¢ 143,978,000%JC) >
] AR AT J3E 555 B 7 A 2 R AR 25 i 8 B 462 F) 25 50,274,000
Wt (2B — N4 1 45,827,000956) » B N9.7% -

AR BB BB E ) TR AT SRS
I > AR 4R K AR B RS TR ) BE > DU AR B
W) B A H o A B T UL AR 2 R e )
AR o B4 > H B ST —
Bm AR L BB AR EE - HEWL > |RTF
A 1 T UL S B H B B ik e B2 2 S A 4R
ZHEAEENHRIEEEE - =L ER G EA
Z W G RO B 285 i BRF k33 ) A 4 1 R B
AR A BE Ol Z B R o B o ACAE B B
A\ F R 25 BT A 3 s R 3G %50,274,0008 06 (ZF
—NEE 145,827,000 08) ©



Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year, sales revenue of the major items of the Group are:

" B kB a3 AT

AR ARG I B G 2 B AT

Year ended 31 March
BEZA=Z1—HILEE

2017 2016 Change
e Sl i S TR I3 e
HK$°000 HK$’000 (%)

BT idio an
Snack INE 1,249,561 1,224,338 +2.1
Confectionery Uit 568,786 555,551 +2.4
Ham and sausage KR e W 372,623 366,130 +1.8
Beverage and dairy products ORE B LA 235,076 255,859 -8.1
Food materials/ingredients T RER TR 227,505 244,227 -6.8

Snack items continued to be the major items carried by the Group. The
sales revenue derived from snack items recorded an increase of 2.1%
during the year. Popular items such as potato chips, prawn crackers
and corn sticks have been continuously well received by consumers of
both Hong Kong and Mainland China and achieved satisfactory sales

performance.

Confectionery items of the Group attained a steady increase of 2.4% in
the sales revenue during the year. The Group distributed more variety
and brands of confectionery products including candies, chocolates,
pastries and cookies to both Hong Kong and Mainland China markets
during the year and made a positive contribution to the revenue of the
Group.

The sales revenue of ham and sausage items of the Group recorded a
steady growth during the year. Mostly under the brand name “Maid”,
the ham and sausage items of the Group are regarded as high quality

items by the market.

With the continued weak market demand and heavy competition, the
sales revenue of beverage and dairy products of the Group decreased
by 8.1% during the year. Despite this, the Group introduced Japan
Lotte ice-cream to the market during the year and was well received by
the consumers. This indicates that unique items with good quality can

become appealing to consumers.

With the weakening of the overall consumer market during the year,
sales revenue of the food materials/ingredients business of the Group
witnessed a decline of 6.8%. Major customers of the business include

restaurants, bakery and various kinds of food manufacturing plants.

INBHE R T A SR R o AR N R A2, 1988
BHR o B SRR S SOR RS 1 8 2 A AR AT 2 B
A U B P b O DR T IR B T
LR3I

7 55 ) 2B SRR R AR R 9 U2, 49083 SE 8 15 3
R BN AREFMPREFBMPE AT SHEES
A Tk A B il R B SRS o AR R - Rl )
B T o 75 BF 2 o AR S5 I B B OB AR ELRK -

ACHR ) 2 K R D A e E A 2 8 B U AR 9 SR AT A
W o ARG Z [ IR | T R A M i — 1 i
5 R 58 Ty W BB L i

FH T 355 7 SRR 58 B YR 30 T R A > KSR T 2 O}
Lo LR i 1 89 B R A A 8. 1% o AT itk
ASRE CRAE N T AR ARG > W
WO > SR G R LB A S T RS R

FH A 4 Py 2 R 2 5 55 > KSR I JEURE T
BEEH Z B8R FIk6.8% » B LEE P A
B - PR E R A TR AR ERE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Capital, liquidity and financial resources

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows and facilities granted by its principal bankers.
As at 31 March 2017, the Group held cash and cash equivalents
of HK$839,440,000. As at 31 March 2017, the Group had banking
facilities of approximately HK$2,649,525,000 of which 38% had been
utilised. The Group had a gearing ratio of 77% as at 31 March 2017.
This is expressed as the total bank borrowings to equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company. Bank borrowings of the Group,
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Japanese yen, Renminbi and
United States dollars, mainly comprise trust receipt loans and bank
loans (the “Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings”) at prevailing market
interest rates. The Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings which are
classified as current liabilities are repayable on demand or within
one year and the Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings in non-current

liabilities are repayable in the second to third years.

The proceeds from the disposal of a property, details of which are
set out in note 25 to the financial statements, will be utilised as to
(i) approximately HK$115,277,000 for the distribution of the special
interim dividend to the shareholders of the Company after taking
into consideration the existing cash flows of the Group pertaining
to the completion of disposal of the property; (ii) approximately
HK$2,500,000 for the associated direct costs for the disposal of
property; and (iii) approximately HK$250,223,000 for the general
working capital of the Group.

Charges on assets and contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2017, the Group did not pledge any assets and had no

significant contingent liabilities.

Capital commitments

The Group had capital commitments in respect of property, plant and
equipment which were contracted but not provided for in the financial
statements of HK$9,313,000 as at 31 March 2017.
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MZzEBEEREEZBE R _F—LHE=AH
E+—H o AREMBEZHSAHSEMHEER R
839,440,000 7C « N —~F—LHE=ZH=ZT—H » &K
£ B SRAT 5 B R 3L £92,649,525,0009 06 » H
8LWEHH - KEFMN _—R—LHE=ZA=+—H
ZEBEARLRETI% » I8 B ERAT A Sk A8 B AR A
] BE 25 BT A EAG R 25 2 o) o A 4R [ 2 SRAT A R
PUWwoc~ HIEE - ANRWRELC AR > B HE
o WU H WRIBAT T 3 B AR R Bk B AT B
(THMAMARN B ZWATEK]) - 2B R RB AR
Z BT B Z BRAT B R R e B R R A — 4 A
Ao 43 A8k IR U B B AR < ZE AT R R 2 BRAT B
JH SR AR B S AR AR o

B — JE A S R AR R TE (L5 1 R o 25 3 & B
FE25) % B F R G) AR T B AS 5 [ 56 h 2 B AR
H AT Z B4 o 1) AS 2 5] BB 3R 4 YR 31 o 39 e 6L 40
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Foreign currency exposure

The Group has transactional currency exposures mainly from sales and
purchases transactions in Japanese yen and Reminbi. The appreciation
or devaluation of Japanese yen or Renminbi against Hong Kong

dollars will have impact on the Group’s operating results.

The Group’s foreign exchange position is monitored on an
ongoing basis in order to minimise the impact from the unfavourable
fluctuation of foreign currencies. The Group currently does not

maintain a foreign currency hedging policy.

Staff employment and remuneration policies

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2017 was
approximately 3,900. Remuneration packages are generally structured
by reference to market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries
and wages are normally reviewed annually based on performance

appraisals and other relevant factors.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group recognises the importance of environmental conservation
and employs various environmental protection and energy saving
measures in the business operation. In general, employees are
encouraged to reduce paper consumption, recycle paper and toner
cartridges, use electronic communication and filing, and reduce
travelling by conference calls. The Group also installs energy saving

lighting systems in the workplaces.

The factories of the Group continuously devote effort in the
improvement of the water usage management and sewage treatment,
atmospheric emissions and energy utilisation efficiency. The measures
include construction of sewage stations to process waste water
discharged from factories and enhancement of the water cooling
system in factories resulted in reduction of water usage; replacement
of coal-fired boiler with alcohol-based fuel boiler, installation of dust
bag filters and fume extraction and filtration system to reduce air
emissions; and review of energy consumption level on regular basis to

control the usage and find out further energy saving methods.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure the compliance in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.

" B kB a3 AT

A W o, B

AR 2 22 5 b W L B R AR A DA HIEL & N R RO
TTZHE A S o H RSN R 5 9 o0 THE s 2 A6 1%
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A SR e A B 2 A AR L > DA AN A Z B 5 B
W A AR A o AR [ B IR 3 S8 A0 S e O

L R B 36 T BOR

AREMPR —F—-CEEA=ZT—HZBHBETHEK
#13,900\ © 1@ B 5 B — Bt 2 7% T 35 sk S ol ¥ JEE
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TEREAE AR -

BRAR O B e BL

A R BRAR A I > WREHEED IR L
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HE > 33 R Sk DA D 2 o ACSR B R R T AR
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Relationships with key stakeholders
Employees

The Group recognises human resources as an important capital and

emphasises on retention and development of staff.

Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to market
terms and individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally
reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and other relevant
factors. Staff performance is assessed annually under an objective
framework. Interim reviews are also conducted to remunerate
employees with outstanding performances. To motivate staff in
achieving the Group’s business goal, incentives like performance-
based bonuses are rewarded to staff.

To recognise staff loyalty, prizes are awarded to long-serving
staff annually as an appreciation of their long term services and
commitment to the Group. The Group also launches model employee
campaign each year in order to recognise the dedicated staff for their
outstanding performance and contributions to the Group. The Group
provides to staff both training held in-house and conducted by external
organisation covering a variety of subjects on sales techniques,

management skills, technical topics and personal development.

Members of the Group are accredited “Good MPF Employer Award
2016/17” by Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority and
“Manpower Developer 2013-2017” of Manpower Developer Award
Scheme by Employees Retraining Board.

Customers

The Group values customers’ satisfaction and trust on the products and
services provided by the Group. The Group endeavors to source brand
new products and produce various food products in good quality for

the enjoyments of consumers in both Hong Kong and Mainland.

Understanding the preference and feedback of consumers are
important for improving the quality of the Group’s products and
services. Various communication channels including customer
hotline, company website and social media are in place to enhance
communications with our customers. Different loyalty programs are
launched to enhance the relationship with consumers by offering

exclusive benefits to the members.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Suppliers and business partners

The Group distributes various internationally renowned brands of
quality food products from many countries. Therefore, the Group
places strong emphasis on relationships and communications with
suppliers. The Group believes that constructive interactions and
effective communications with suppliers can enhance the efficiency
of the entire supply chain process including products procurement and

inventory management.

The Group has developed long-standing relationships with major
suppliers. The Group invites key suppliers to strategy meetings,
arranges tours to the retail outlets and offices of the Group, invites
them in business events and parties, and shares information about local
sales performance, new products and personnel. Likewise, the Group
visits the suppliers’ factories and understands their production process
and products development. Personalising the relationship and getting
to know one another create a solid partnership and build up trust on
each other. Being a pioneer of importing food products from Japan
to Hong Kong, the Group received appreciation letters from various
Japanese business partners for the recognition of the Group’s effort in

distribution of their products.

Community

“Taken from Society and Give Back to Society” is always the belief of
the Group. The Group is participating actively in community services,
and supporting the charity activities and youth programs. The Group
supports the community by sponsoring its food products to different
parties including Junior Police Call, schools, elderly and women
organisations, youth organisations, Kaifong welfare organisations and

federations of associations. People from different sectors can enjoy the

Group’s delicate products, and share its spirit of “Eating Happily”.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Principal risks
Operational risks
Socioeconomic change risk

There are many ongoing trends in society that can impact the demand
for a product. Customers have more choices nowadays and have raised
their expectations on food quality and variety. The Group keeps on
engaging in product reformulation that makes it conform more closely
to social trend. In addition, the Group keeps abreast of the current
trend in retailing and catering businesses and continues to introduce

brand new retailing and catering experience to the consumers.

Supply chain risk — inadequate suppliers performance

The Group sources food materials and food products for production
and distribution. The stability of the supply and quality of the food
materials and products from vendors are critical to the business
operation of the Group. In order to mitigate the risk of possible
supply chain failure, the Group sources food materials and products
from a portfolio of suppliers. The Group also established a stringent
supplier selection process including the assessment of qualifications of
suppliers, inspection of the products, and visit to suppliers’ factories

etc.

Financial risks

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in note 39 to the financial statements.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company present their
report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in

the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

A discussion and review on the business activities of the Group,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future development in the
Group’s business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4
to 13 and pages 17 to 24 of this annual report, respectively. Certain
financial key performance indicators, a discussion on the Group’s
environment policies and performance and its compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations, and an account of the Group’s
relationship with its key stakeholders are included in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis”. These discussions form part of this Report

of the Directors.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of

the Group are shown in note 39 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2017 and the Group’s

financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 74 to 187.

An interim dividend of HK3.0 cents per ordinary share was paid by the
Company on 18 January 2017. On 30 June 2017, the Board resolved to
declare a special interim dividend of HK30.0 cents per ordinary share
in respect of the year to shareholders on the register of members on 20
July 2017. The Board recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK6.5 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to shareholders

on the register of members on 8 September 2017.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited

financial statements, is set out below:

Yo 5 B

A A [ A 2 A S B A R 2 S AR R A LR R
FiT L A 2 AR A W S 85 S A P i R > SR B

Year ended 31 March
BEEN=Z1—HIR4EE

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
2L ZFAN TR-HE TERNE SR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT i o N BT BT BT
RESULTS B3
REVENUE WA 2,948,289 2,941,468 2,907,497 2,910,406 2,899,647
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A N Y A 53,399 45215 137,349 152,280 107,203
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the A W) HRE RS T
Company & 50,274 45,827 140,185 160,137 110,779
Non-controlling interests e et 7 3,125 (612) (2,836) (7,857) (3,576)
53,399 45215 137,349 152,280 107,203
As at 31 March
R=H=1+—H
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
SR -BE CF-NFE SFHFE SFNE F =4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT BT BT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ R
TOTAL ASSETS B 2,763,762 2,879,798 2,835,330 2,589,950 2,465,385
TOTAL LIABILITIES A (1,416,029) (1,483,387) (1,409,986) (1,231,265)  (1,236,643)
1,347,733 1,396,411 1,425,344 1,358,685 1,228,742

The information set out above does not form part of the audited

financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in either the Company’s authorised or

issued share capital during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2017, the Company’s reserves available for cash distribution
and/or distribution in specie amounted to HK$404,875,000, of which
HK$115,277,000 has been declared as a special interim dividend for the
year and HK$24,977,000 has been proposed as a final dividend for the

year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

WU Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director)
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis

WU Wing Biu

NAM Chi Ming, Gibson

Independent non-executive directors:

LEUNG Mei Han
CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter
Tsunao KIJIMA

In accordance with article 119 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Wu Wing Biu, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr.
Tsunao Kijima shall retire and being eligible, will offer themselves for

re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Ms. Leung Mei Han, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao
Kijima pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and still considers them to be

independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who is proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s board
of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities
and performance and the results of the Group, and reviewed by
the remuneration committee of the Group. Particulars of the duties
and responsibilities of the remuneration committee are set out in
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and subject
to the provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
every director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No director or a connected entity of a director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2017, the interests and short positions of the directors N —LE=A=+—H > KAFEE LR HIT
and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying BABRARAFHRHEEMMHBEER (EXRAEBER
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within BB ([3E5 L EEN ) SBXVES) 2 k4 K&t
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance BA B > BEAR A A B IE S 5 M B ) 4R 352
(the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the BHEMGEERE 2B 8 » SO v # B B

7°

17BN B AR f£
JBe By B il Bl Bt it

FH»
(\-&l
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w47 B
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Company under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to BR10FT R Z B BT N E FRAT RS 5 AT
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code A (TSl ) e AN a LR 2 s Rk
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model FWE

Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: IARAFSBRBRH 20T :
Approximate
Number of percentage of
ordinary shares the Company’s
held/interested total issued shares
Notes TP 16 iAo v B AT
Name of director HY A Hiit  Capacity 26 TRBB O H B A R T 2
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen i1 (i) Interest of controlled A FIHEZE 259,478,000 67.52%
corporations
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly ~ #%E%A (ii)  Interest of spouse and  FCfH#E %S K Pl 259,478,000 67.52%
interest of controlled AR
corporations
Notes: Bt -
(i)  Such shares comprise: (i) FARBEmaR:
(a) 70,000,000 shares, representing approximately 18.22% of the (a)  70,000,000/8 43 (1 A< 7] T84T R4y 48 B 4
Company’s total issued shares, are held by Careful Guide Limited 18.22%) J53 M Careful Guide Limited ([ CGL]J)
(“CGL”) which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen; B HAR HRELEESERESR
(b) 74,250,000 shares, representing approximately 19.32% of the (b)  74,250,000/8 B4y (1 A< 7] TLBEAT 4 4 B 4
Company’s total issued shares, are held by Special Access Limited 19.32%) J3 HiSpecial Access Limited ([SALJ)
(“SAL”) which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Fef > WA v R e A R ER L
his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak T EEHEA - Hb > MEYALE KWEAEL L
Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are deemed to be By 5 S AL R B 274,250,000 8 A< 2 5] i
interested in the 74,250,000 shares of the Company held by SAL; By A AR 5

and
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)  Such shares comprise: (continued)

(c)

115,228,000 shares, representing approximately 29.98% of
the Company’s total issued shares, are held by Capital Season
Investments Limited (“CSI”). CSI is wholly owned by Advance
Finance Investments Limited (“AFI”) which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited
(“HKFH”). Accordingly, HKFH is deemed to be interested in the
115,228,000 shares of the Company. HKFH is owned as to 0.07%
by the Company, 2.59% by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, 20.38% by
SAL, and 11.91% by CGL. As Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is the
spouse of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is
deemed to be interested in the shares of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
and vice versa. Therefore, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his
spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are considered to have deemed
interests in the 115,228,000 shares of the Company by virtue of
their interests in HKFH.

(ii)) As mentioned in note (i)(b) above, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly and her

spouse, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen are deemed to be interested in the
74,250,000 shares of the Company held by SAL. In addition to the
deemed interests of 115,228,000 shares in the Company’s total issued

shares as stated in note (i)(c) above, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is also

deemed to be interested in the 70,000,000 shares of the Company through

the interests of her spouse, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, in CGL as

mentioned in note (i)(a) above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, none of the directors

and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short

positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of

its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)

as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under

section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, none of the directors and chief

executive of the Company (including their spouses and children under

18 years of age) had been granted or exercised, any rights to subscribe

for shares of the Company required to be disclosed pursuant to the

SFO.
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(c) 115,228,000/8 B #y (1 A 2 w] C 8 47 % O 4
B %929.98% ) J5 HiCapital Season Investments
Limited ([ CSIJ) ¥ - CSIHAdvance Finance
Investments Limited ([AFI]) & #H > i AFI
AR FWE MR ERERARAR (THFBEMH])
Z G E AT - F b 7R AR B
A AT 115,228,000/ B4y o 75 s £ i 4353
AN F BEF0.07% » SR W S A B 2.59% »
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any of the directors or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors

to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2017, the following parties (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had interests
of 5% or more in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:
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Approximate
Number of percentage of

ordinary shares the Company’s

held/interested total issued shares
Name of substantial Note Y ipg Yl A8 A | AT
shareholder FEBORAH Hi#  Capacity B4 WBB R EEH RS S E S
SAL Beneficial owner % LN 74,250,000 19.32%
CGL Beneficial owner JEE X 2PN 70,000,000 18.22%
CSI Beneficial owner BIEEA A 115,228,000 29.98%
AFI (i)  Interest of controlled A AR 115,228,000 29.98%
corporation
HKFH A (i)  Interest of controlled Pl AR HEDS 115,228,000 29.98%
corporation
Note: it -
(i)  The entire issued share capital of CSI is held by AFI which in turn is (i) AFIFAH CSIZ# B EAT A » 17 AFTR g1 75 %6 12 5

wholly owned by HKFH. Accordingly, each of AFI and HKFH is deemed EEWA o B > AFIK AW &/ 538 8t & R CSI
to be interested in the same 115,228,000 shares of the Company held by i #5 A Z A2 7115,228,0008¢ B4 o AT ) 25 4
CSL 5 o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2017, no persons (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any associated corporation”) had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in note

30 to the financial statements.
There was no outstanding share option at the beginning or at the end

of the year. During the year ended 31 March 2017, no share option has

been granted under the share option scheme.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2017

ﬂ

A A 2y vl It Ay B A B OB £y

JBe HOIR
% e Wk AT ()

B0
Z Hi

B b2l B 4 8 A A A R E S IR > R R
—HEZH =1 A F R R R
191 55 33646k T 76 ik BB R it Z AL gk o S SN L (A
O P R m AT BN B BRAh o 04 2 b AR R b
SC T 5 R d5e i AT BON B A 2 W) sl AT o A T8 35
JBe i B A B e Ay 2 M 2 T SR AT | — 8) A AR 4
JBe Ay A Bl JBE Ay v e AT R 2 R AT o

Yl Jb it it =
A7 B 7 B 382 IR B B 5 30

T4 B BR f o SRR o S R AT S PR E o AR
EOR-CEZAZ— HARAEE > 3 EAR
R T 381 452 ) A J e e



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. the Honourable TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS,
JP, PhD (honoris causa), aged 69, has been an executive director of
the Company since June 1993. Dr. Tai is the founder and chairman
of the Group, in charge of corporate and policy planning. Apart from
being awarded the Grand Bauhinia Medal, Gold Bauhinia Star and
Silver Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, Dr. Tai has also been appointed as Justice of
the Peace. He holds the Visiting Professor of South China Normal
University and South China Agricultural University, member of the
Board of Trustees of Jinan University. He is a Standing Committee
Member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and a Standing Committee Member of the
Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”). Dr. Tai holds several public
positions, including the president of the Hong Kong Foodstuffs
Association, the president of Friends of Hong Kong Association, the
founding chairman of the Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial) Members
Association, and the chairman of the Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber
of Foreign Investors. He received a number of awards and accolades,
including Asian Chinese Leader Award, Certificate of Honor for
Business Lifetime Achievement for Producing Quality Food Products,
Asian Social Caring Leadership Award, “Special Achievement
Award” of Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Awards, the Worldwide
Prominent Chiu Chow Business Leader Award 2012-2013, the World
Outstanding Chinese Award, the Philanthropist Award of the Grand
Charity Ceremony 2011, the 30th Food Industry Distinguished Service
Award, the Award of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and
Fisheries of Japan for the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food, the
Outstanding Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry,
the China Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished
Management Entrepreneur, the Social Responsibility Contribution
Award, “Honourable Citizen of Shantou City”, “Honourable Citizen of
Guangzhou City” and “Honourable Citizen of Jilin City” in Mainland
China. He is also the chairman and an executive director of Hong
Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (“HKFH”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company and the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and a director of Careful Guide
Limited and Special Access Limited, both of which are the substantial
shareholders of the Company. Dr. Tai is the spouse of Dr. Wu Mei
Yung, Quinly, the managing director and executive director of the
Company and the father of Mr. Tai Chun Kit, the director of the
Group’s business development department. He is also a brother-in-law

of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an executive director of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Dr. WU Mei Yung, Quinly, PhD (honoris causa), aged 64, has been
an executive director of the Company since June 1993. Dr. Wu is a
co-founder and the managing director of the Group, responsible for
the Group’s strategic planning and operation policies, leading the
Group’s core business in congruence with its corporate development.
She has more than 30 years’ experience in the food and confectionery
business. Dr. Wu is also a director of Careful Guide Limited and
Special Access Limited, both of which are the substantial shareholders
of the Company. She is the spouse of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the
chairman and an executive director of the Company and the mother of
Mr. Tai Chun Kit, the director of the Group’s business development
department. Dr. Wu is a sister of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an executive

director of the Company.

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 61, has been an executive
director of the Company since August 1999. Mr. Man is the finance
director of the Group, responsible for corporate finance, accounting,
information technology and project investments of the Group. Mr.
Man has a Master of Commerce degree from the University of New
South Wales in Australia. He is also a member of the CPA Australia
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has
gained extensive experience in finance and accounting from overseas
multinational corporations. Mr. Man joined the Group in 1992. He is
also the managing director of HKFH.

Mr. WU Wing Biu, aged 58, has been an executive director of the
Company since June 1993. Mr. Wu is experienced in sales, marketing
and merchandising and is now responsible for the establishment of
close relationship with Mainland Chinese and overseas suppliers, and
catering business of the Group in Hong Kong. He has more than 30
years’ experience in the food and confectionery industry. Mr. Wu
joined the Group in 1978. He is a brother-in-law of Dr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen, the chairman and an executive director of the Company, and
a brother of Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, the managing director and an
executive director of the Company. Mr. Wu Wing Biu is an uncle of
Mr. Tai Chun Kit, the director of the Group’s business development

department.

Mr. NAM Chi Ming, Gibson, aged 56, has been an executive
director of the Company since April 2010. Mr. Nam is responsible for
managerial controls and company secretarial affairs. He holds a Master
of Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Nam is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and an
associate of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He has
extensive financial and managerial experience. Mr. Nam worked in the
Group from 1996 to 1999, and re-joined the Group in 2001.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. LEUNG Mei Han, aged 58, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since December 1998. Ms.
Leung holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of
Queensland in Australia and is a fellow member of CPA Australia. Ms.
Leung has more than 30 years’ experience in accounting, securities,
corporate finance and related areas. Ms. Leung is currently an
independent non-executive director of Bossini International Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter, aged 71, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since July 2000. Mr. Chan was the
chairman of a company listed on the Stock Exchange until July 2002.
He was a senior general manager of a local bank until November 1998.
Mr. Chan was also a director of a listed company in Hong Kong from
1993 to 1995 and an executive director of a joint Chinese foreign bank
in Shenzhen until 1995. He has more than 30 years’ experience in
the banking and finance industry. Mr. Chan was an independent non-
executive director of Imagi International Holdings Limited from May
2010 to 28 January 2016 and of GOME Electrical Appliances Holding
Limited from May 2004 to 24 June 2015. Mr. Chan is currently an
executive director of Asia Resources Holdings Limited. The shares of

these companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tsunao KIJIMA, aged 69, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since July 2011. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from Keio University in Japan.
Mr. Kijima is a managing executive officer of Nissin Foods Holdings
Co., Ltd. (“Nissin Foods”), and is in charge of its businesses of the
United States and those concerning Premier Foods Plc. Nissin Foods
is listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange. He is also a non-executive
director of Premier Foods Plc, a company listed on the London
Stock Exchange. He was the executive vice president of Mitsubishi
Corporation and also the chief representative for China and Europe of
Mitsubishi Corporation during different periods of time. Mr. Kijima
has more than 35 years’ experience of worldwide trading of processed
foods, beverages, snack foods and other food products. Mr. Kijima
served as a non-executive director of Lianhua Supermarket Holdings
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
from 2001 to 2006. He was an independent non-executive director of
the Company from 1997 to 2006.
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Report of the Directors
EREGHRA

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 56, is the managing director of Hong Kong
Ham Holdings Limited (“HK Ham”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, responsible for the overall strategic planning and production
operation of the Group’s ham manufacturing operations. He has
extensive experience in the manufacturing of ham and ham related
products. Mr. Tse joined HK Ham in 1980. He is also an executive
director of HKFH.

Mr. LAI Yuk Fai, Patrick, aged 62, is the director of the Group’s
China sales department, responsible for sales development and
strategic management of China markets. Mr. Lai has a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Prior to joining the Group, he was the general manager of the
sales department of a multinational company. Mr. Lai joined the Group
in 1998 and temporarily left in the latter part of 2007 and re-joined the
Group in 2008.

Mr. TAI Chun Kit, aged 34, is the director of the Group’s business
development department, responsible for new business planning and
development of the Group. Mr. Tai holds a Bachelor of Business
Administrative (Hons) degree from the City University of Hong
Kong. He has extensive experience in retail management, brands
development and marketing planning. He joined the Group in 2004.
He is also an executive director of HKFH. Mr. Tai is a son of Dr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen, and Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, both are executive
directors of the Company and serve the position of the chairman
and managing director of the Company, respectively. Mr. Tai is the

nephew of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an executive director of the Company.

Ms. LAM Mei Chi, Clara, aged 44, is the director of the Group’s
Hong Kong, Macau and overseas sales department, responsible for
sales development and strategic sales management of Hong Kong,
Macau and overseas market. Ms. Lam holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
She gained extensive experience in sales, merchandising and category
management. Before joining the Group, she held senior position of
merchandising department of leading supermarket chains in Hong
Kong, and a reputable health and beauty chain store in Singapore. Ms.
Lam joined the Group in 2008 and temporarily left in early 2015 and
re-joined the Group in 2016.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Mr. FUNG Kwok Wing, Kenny, aged 56, is the associate director
of the Group’s internal audit department responsible for internal
audit function. Mr. Fung holds various Master degrees in Business
Administration, Corporate Governance, Finance and Professional
Accounting. He is also a member of various professional institutes,
including the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the Chartered
Institute of Marketing in the United Kingdom. Mr. Fung has extensive
experience in accounting and administration. He joined the Group in
1985 and temporarily left in the latter part of 2007 and re-joined the
Group in 2008.

Mr. WONG Hung Kin, aged 58, is an associate director of the
Group’s merchandising and marketing department, responsible for
product purchasing and merchandising. Mr. Wong holds a Master
of Business Administration degree from the California Southern
University in the United States. Prior to joining the Group, he was
a marketing manager of a local wines and spirits company and has
extensive experience in purchasing and marketing. Mr. Wong joined
the Group in 1995.

Ms. TAM Bo Yee, Joan, aged 39, is the financial controller of the
Group, responsible for finance and accounting. She holds a degree of
Bachelor of Business Administration in accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong and a Master of Business Administration
degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. She is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Ms. Tam has extensive experience in finance and accounting
profession. Prior to joining the Group, she was a manager of an

international accounting firm. Ms. Tam joined the Group in 2008.

Ms. VONG Cheng I, Carmen, aged 53, is the associate director of the
Group’s human resources department, responsible for human resources
management and strategy development. She holds a Bachelor of
Business Administration degree in Human Resources Management
from Simon Fraser University in Canada and a Master of Business
Administration degree from The University of Hong Kong. Ms. Vong
has extensive experience in Hong Kong and China on human resources
management and strategic planning. Prior to joining the Group, she
was a general manager of the human resources department for Hong
Kong and China of an international FMCG firm. Ms. Vong joined the
Group in 2017.
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Report of the Directors
EREGHRA

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Mr. LAI Chi Ming, aged 60, is the general manager of Dongguan
Four Seas Meat Processing Company Limited in Guangdong, China,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, responsible for overall
management of ham and sausages production in Mainland China. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Heriot-Watt
University in the United Kingdom, Bachelor of Laws degree from the
Peking University of China and Master of Professional Accounting
degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Lai has extensive experience in meat processing manufacturing and

management. He joined the Group in 1981.

Mr. HO Kwok Tong, Fred, aged 63, is the general manager of the
Group’s information technology department, responsible for corporate
information management and information technology development. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the California
Southern University in the United States. Mr. Ho has extensive
experience in the development of management information systems.
He joined the Group in 1994.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the year.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued shares) had any

beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2017.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares were held by the public as at the date of

this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in

the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and the risk management and internal control
systems. The audit committee comprises the independent non-

executive directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and works of the audit committee is set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant event of the Group after the reporting period

are set out in note 40 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EREGHRA

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2017
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE

As environmental, social and governance indicators progressively
become a growing benchmark for companies, the Company is
pleased to present the Group’s position on Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG”) issues for the year ended 31 March 2017.
This section has been prepared in accordance with Appendix 27,
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide, of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Appendix 277).

For cross-referencing against the relevant aspect of Appendix 27, the
relevant aspect number of Appendix 27 is placed next to the headings

of this ESG report, where appropriate.

The aspects specified in Appendix 27 are:

Aspect Al:  Emissions

Aspect A2:  Use of Resources

Aspect A3:  The Environment and Natural Resources
Aspect Bl:  Employment

Aspect B2:  Health and Safety

Aspect B3:  Development and Training
Aspect B4:  Labour Standards

Aspect BS:  Supply Chain Management
Aspect B6:  Product Responsibility
Aspect B7:  Anti-corruption

Aspect B§:  Community Investment

The Group has four main branches of operations located in Hong
Kong and Mainland China, including manufacturing, wholesaling
and retailing of food products, and catering business; all of which are
represented within this discussion of ESG issues. These topics have
been discussed and approved by the Group’s management team, and
this section provides a snapshot to reflect and expand on those ESG
issues considered most important to the Group’s operations, as well as
to the Group’s stakeholders.

VISIONS

The Group places an emphasis on ensuring its role as a good citizen
for the environment and the community surrounding its operations
and beyond. As the first time reporting on ESG issues, the Group
will endeavour to provide future reports with further strengthening
of corporate social responsibility and enhancing of environmental

performance and resource efficiency within operations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BREL AL LR

VISIONS (continued) R B (45)
The Group identified the following ESG subject areas and aspects ARG COHER T P AR s A AL [ B B R
which are considered relatively more material to the Group’s business. ESG == 35 i 12 )% J& 1 o
Subject Areas Material Aspects
R0 o 2 o i
Social — Operating practices Ensuring product quality
- REEH e DR o L
Compliance with food regulations and legislation
B4 B S AL B 3
Supply chain management
e S 4 B
Social - Employment and labour practices Compliance with labour regulations
Fhfr — 08 Ko 57 T8O & 55 TR
Ensuring occupational health and safety
Tike DR T S8 e B B % 22
Training and development
Bl e 5%
Social - Community Contribution to community development
o — kI AL [ 2% A IR
Environmental Resources consumption management including energy, water and other raw materials
B5 B URAE A B B R AR R ~ AU B At J A R

Waste management

% Ty A B
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CUSTOMERS FIRST (Aspect B6)

The Group has established a trusted name in providing top quality
products in Hong Kong since 1971. Operating in the food industry
means that utmost importance is placed upon food safety and quality,
which are essential to the longevity of the business, and thus a core

focus of the Group’s operations.

Today’s consumers are increasingly concerned about food nutrition
information and food safety issues, and the Group believes that the
food retail business should exhibit good responsible business practices

to provide consumers with unwavering quality assurance.

The Company’s subsidiaries are committed to following all relevant
food regulations and legislation in their places of operation. Within
Hong Kong, the Group complies with all applicable food industry
legislation as stipulated by the Hong Kong Centre for Food Safety,
including Hong Kong’s Food Safety Ordinance (Chapter 612), Food
and Drugs (Composition and Labelling) Regulations (Chapter 132W),
Preservatives in Food Regulation (Chapter 132BD), and Sweeteners in
Food Regulations (Chapter 132U).

Stringent quality inspections are performed for every batch of product
made within our production premises prior to distribution and sale, e.g.
microbial content tests in compliance with guidelines set by the Hong
Kong Centre for Food Safety. Any products that do not pass inspection
are handled according to strict non-conforming product handling

procedures.

A standard food safety practice involves diligent record keeping of
production lot numbers, with the storage of corresponding samples for
the duration of their shelf lives in case there is a need for sampling
or testing. Following the distribution of these products, there are also
standardised complaint handling and product recall procedures in
place.

In addition, the Company’s subsidiaries go above and beyond
regulatory compliance with facilities and production plants achieving
internationally recognised certifications including Hazard Analysis
and Critical Control Points (HACCP) for food safety, ISO 9001 for
quality management, and ISO 22000 for food safety management, and

therefore conform to stringent requirements.
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BREE A& LR

CUSTOMERS FIRST (Aspect B6) (continued)

Raw ingredients are key to the quality of our products. Research
and development, hand in hand with careful due diligence, ensures
that the best quality raw materials are used in the Group’s products;
for example, aluminium-free baking powder, and non-Genetically
Modified Organism (GMO) soybean oil. The Company’s products
have achieved certifications demonstrating high-quality products
including:

. Q-Mark certification

. Hong Kong Top Brand Mark

Cfl&)RING FOR OUR EMPLOYEES (Aspect
B

At the core of any business is the employees. The Group places
unrivalled value in its workforce, with an understanding that the
success of any company revolves around its people. Ensuring a
beneficial development process to encourage career growth is essential
to retaining a happy team of staff. The Group operates in jurisdictions
that do not allow child and forced labour. It is also the policy of the
Group that child and forced labour is strictly prohibited and all the
requirements of the laws and regulations on this aspect have been fully
fulfilled by member companies of the Group.

Working with Us (Aspect B1)

Onboarding of new staff includes the provision of an employee
manual, which provides all relevant information, procedures, and
company policies. The Group offers benefits to support and enhance
the professional lives of the employees; some examples of which
include:

. Working hours in accordance with the law;
. Annual and sick leave allowances;
. Insurances in accordance with the law, including medical,

maternity, work injury, endowment, and unemployment
insurance; and

. Housing provident fund.

Prioritising Health and Safety (Aspect B2)

The Group strives to provide a safe and efficient working environment
for all its employees, and various steps are taken to ensure the health
and safety of its workforce in everyday operations as a top priority.

The Group’s Health and Safety Handbook has been prepared for all
employees, which outlines policies and procedures, and emergency
response procedures. The Group aims to provide and maintain safe
working conditions for all employee roles and responsibilities through
defining health and safety, explaining potential hazards and the
relevant safety measures, and describing ways to avoid accidental
injuries. Procedures are also provided for emergency situations, as
well as off-site safety measures.
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CARING FOR OUR EMPLOYEES
(continued)

Prioritising Health and Safety (Aspect B2) (continued)

Staff working in production areas are subject to additional policies,
such as annual physical examinations, and a mandatory dress code that
conforms to proper protection and hygiene requirements (including
masks or mouth guards, gloves, hairnets and earplugs, etc.). Regular
training programmes are mandated for special equipment operations,
safety, and food hygiene.

Formal assurance mechanisms are in place for any complaints or
observed violations, and accessible by any member of the workforce.
Management also conducts periodic spot-checks to ensure procedural

compliance.

Investing in our People (Aspect B3)

The Group values the learning and development process of each staff
member at all levels, and provides suitable and appropriate training
to allow employees to meet their basic job requirements and fulfil
personal development goals. Policies and procedures are clearly laid

out in the Employee Manual.

Within the manufacturing arm of the business, regular participation in
safety training is mandated, both during staff onboarding and annually
thereafter. Any government programme related to food safety policies
are closely monitored and followed.

Heavy emphasis is placed on additional staff training programmes
to maintain the international standards that our facilities are
proudly accredited with, such as ISO 9001 for quality management,
ISO 22000 for food safety management, FSSC 22000 Food Safety
System Certification, and Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points
(HACCP).

UPKEEPING SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group believes in supporting, investing, and fostering a good
relationship with the people and communities in which we work.

Fair and Just (Aspect B1)

First and foremost, the Group operates in compliance with all relevant
labour laws and regulations in its place of operation. The Company is
an equal opportunity employer that endeavours to provide a working
environment that is free of discrimination of any form, such as

ethnicity, race, gender and age, etc.
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BREE A& LR

UPKEEPING SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
(continued)

Responsibility down the Supply Chain (Aspect BS5)

The Group’s operations largely rely on a supply chain, whether it be
a food manufacturer, local farm, or overseas companies that supply

high-quality food products or goods.

Strict guidelines are maintained for the selection of raw material
suppliers, which cover the provision of valid business licences;
registration for the export of goods; test results of raw materials to
certify no use of pesticides, clenbuterol, etc.; imported animal product
permits from the relevant government organisation (e.g., Agriculture,
Fisheries and Conservation Department in Hong Kong); and any other

mandated requirements in the relevant place of operation.

An annual supplier audit process is in place to evaluate performance in
terms of product quality, price, delivery time, after-sales service, etc.
Suppliers are requested to provide relevant third-party reports on the

supplier’s environmental and social impacts.

Transparency and Integrity (Aspect B7)

The Group maintains a strict code of conduct on the topic of anti-
corruption, and transparency in the honesty and integrity of operations.

Anti-corruption policies are clearly set out in the Employee Manual.
The Group distributes guidelines to the associated supply chain, which
covers the topic of bribery. If any suppliers are found to exhibit any
adverse behaviour in relation to bribery, their supplier qualifications

are voided and their involvement with the Group are suspended.

Giving back to the Community (Aspect BS)

The Group participates actively in community services, supporting
charitable activities and youth programs. Food product donations are
also provided to the community and organisations including Junior
Police Call, schools, organisations for the elderly, women and youth,
and Kaifong welfare associations. The Group actively seeks out
and participates in charitable activities, such as providing training
opportunities to university students to establish their own business,
and organising staff to make donation for the devastating Wenchuan
earthquake.
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COMMITMENT TO THE ENVIRONMENT
(Aspects Al, A2 and A3)

The Group places a high value on their operations and associated
impacts on the environment. The Company acknowledges the
interdependency between finite natural resources and the need for
these resources in operations revolving around food production
and distribution, and therefore, conscious efforts to manage this

relationship are critical to the Group’s continued success.

The Group’s operations comply with relevant environmental legislation,
for instances, on air emission and discharge of sewage, and the Group
diligently maintains the required environmental licences/permits for

operations.

Regardless of the type of operation, members of the Group have
their own environmental policies in place, coupled with resource
saving initiatives that are appropriate to their businesses, all of which
progress towards the ultimate goal to minimise their impact on the
environment. Initiatives implemented to reduce energy, water and
natural resource consumption (and therefore, emissions generation)

currently include:

. Recycling of organic kitchen waste into animal feed, in

partnership with recycling service company;

. Recycling of waste cooking oil generated from production and

catering businesses;

. Implementation of energy saving plans with energy efficiency
initiatives;
. Regular energy surveys are conducted for comparison

year upon year, for identification of energy management
opportunities and improvements;

. Installation of occupancy sensors to control lighting;

. Installation of automatic low-flow water faucets;

. Recycling of paper, cardboard, packing materials etc.; and

. Procurement policies of appliances with energy efficiency
labels.
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BREE A& LR

COMMITMENT TO THE ENVIRONMENT
(Aspects Al, A2 and A3) (continued)

Particular attention is given to promoting environmental awareness to
the workforce through education, so that the Group’s staff are aware of
how their work as well as daily lives can affect the environment. Signs
and posters promoting the benefits of saving electricity, reducing
paper use, healthy eating, etc. can be found on walls of common areas

throughout the facilities.

The Group will continue to look for ways to reduce emissions and

natural resource impacts from their operations.

WAY FORWARD

The Group is diligently in the process of collecting ESG data to be
reported for the year ending 31 March 2018, and is eager to publish
next year’s ESG report that will include quantifiable data. The
Company will continue to strive to understand and assess its impacts

and contributions to all environmental, social and governance issues.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the “Annual Report™).

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below

Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintaining
a good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders.
The Company believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential to a continual growth and enhancement of shareholders’
value. The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices with reference to the latest development of corporate
governance. Throughout the year under review, the Company has
applied the principles of corporate governance and complied with
most of the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (“the Listing Rules”) with the exception of
code provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2 of the CG Code, details will be set out
below.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of prudent
and effective controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed;
delegate authorities to the management to manage and supervise
the business of the Group; and ensure the management monitor

performance against objectives being set.

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Certain
responsibilities or functions have been delegated by the Board to the
management which include the day-to-day business operation of the
Group, execution of corporate strategies, business and financial plans
and budgets approved by the Board; and preparation of annual and
interim financial statements. The Board has reserved for its decision
matters of the Group covering the approval of significant changes in
accounting or capital structure; approval of public announcements
and financial statements; approval of major acquisitions, disposals
and major capital projects; approval of material borrowings and any
issuing or buying back of equity securities; and approval of the annual
budget and setting of the dividend policy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) HRE(H)

Board Composition HEFHS

The Board of the Company comprises eight directors consisting of five AAFERFGRB{ENLGEF > P BB LLUTH
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors. FHEEZLBLIERITES -

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the Board R-F—LtHFEZH=1+—H #EGREFEZEY
and Board Committees as at 31 March 2017: B A I B A R T 3R

Board of Directors

WA

Executive directors

HITHF

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)
W ()

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director)
WIRR (FHHAAH)

Man Wing Cheung, Ellis

SO

Wu Wing Biu

H kB

Nam Chi Ming, Gibson

Lo N

Independent non-executive directors

B BT HF
Leung Mei Han Coinpany Secretary
% mogdk
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter Nam Chi Ming, Gibson
B 2 ek
Tsunao Kijima
PNZE L
Executive Committee Audit Committee Remuneration Committee Nomination Committee
Wi RAE HBEERG HHERE WHZEHA
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen Leung Mei Han Chan Yuk Sang, Peter Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
(Chairman) (Chairperson) (Chairman) (Chairman)
W (F) B (L) BRE 4 (L) WA (EE)
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly Chan Yuk Sang, Peter Wu Mei Yung, Quinly Leung Mei Han
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis Tsunao Kijima Leung Mei Han Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
SCKFE A B A e P S i R E A4
Wu Wing Biu
KB

Biographical information of the directors and relevant relationships FHRPNBREABEBEZ WM BEARBRRARIERES
among the directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of THRENMERELSHRESHABEREE AN | — -

Directors and Senior Management” in the Report of the Directors of
this Annual Report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) HRE(H)
Board Meeting wH R
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance £ ik ok 2 Je T i I
The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and I AR N B B B e DL Et e B B A A R Y
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial B s EERME RS AT WP A L
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well as DA R H A B R EIE -

other significant matters.

The Board has convened four regular meetings during the year ended HFHEGNERE _F-LE=ZA=Z1T—HILEELT
31 March 2017 and the attendance record of each director at the said PRI IR E MA@k » M A ERF R ERE G LB
board meetings and the annual general meeting of the Company is set JRAE R W R AL sk B F -

out below:

Number of meetings

attended/held
% BAT AR KB
Regular Annual
Board General
Meetings Meeting
Name of director HHELR wEElaE  RENERS
Executive directors AT H G
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) AR () 4/4 1/1
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director) WIER (HHAAPE) 4/4 171
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SCAKAE 4/4 1/1
Wu Wing Biu [iFi 4/4 1/1
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [ari] 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive directors B JEPUAT E
Leung Mei Han BoLE 3 4/4 1/1
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B A 4/4 1/1
Tsunao Kijima * YN 4/4 0/1
* Mr. Tsunao Kijima was unable to attend the annual general meeting of * 7 s A e S e R v A S R A R AR A R
the Company held on 25 August 2016 due to his overseas commitment. Z—NENHZ T HEITZ BB ERE -
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting (continued)
Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms

of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors or committee members at least
3 days before each Board meeting and each committee meeting
to keep the directors or committee members apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All directors are encouraged to take
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the
performance of their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board
and each director have separate and independent access to the senior

management where necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally sent to directors
or committee members for their comment within a reasonable period
of time after each meeting and final version is open for directors’

inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered material by the Board, the matter will be
dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal
with the matter.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”) from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an additional member of the Board. Appointments are first
considered by the Nomination Committee and recommendations of the
Nomination Committee are then put to the Board for decision. Details
in respect of the process and criteria for the Nomination Committee to
select and recommend candidates for directorship are provided in the
section headed “Nomination Committee” in this Corporate Governance

Report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election (continued)

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the
directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation and re-election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company, such that
every director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every

three years.

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, all
independent non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Articles of Association. As such, the Board considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the
CG Code.

Under the code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after their appointment. Every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with the Articles
of Association, any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that such
a deviation is not material as a casual vacancy seldom appears and
interval between the appointment made to fill casual vacancy and the

immediate following annual general meeting is short.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory

requirements.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development (continued)

All directors have complied with the code provision A.6.5 in relation
to continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged an annual training
session on the new development of the Listing Rules and statutory
updates for the Board during the year. In addition, some directors have
attended seminars and workshops on topics which are relevant to their
work and responsibilities so as to update their technical knowledge
and professional skills during the year ended 31 March 2017. Relevant
reading materials on corporate governance, regulatory developments
and changes of accounting standards and other topics relevant to the
Company’s business and director’s duties and responsibilities have
been given to the directors of the Company from time to time during

the year under review.

Participation by individual directors in continuous professional

development during the year under review is summarised below:

A (5)
0 2 R U (4D

R TR RS AL 6. 5% B F5 AT SR 5%
J& > DAY W B S A A 2 0 B B RE o AR > AR
) O K R B S S e R % s
SE BEHT BRI AR BE B IR o B > ME Rk
EZHZA4— HRERE > B E S R B AR
T Y 50 AH R =2 PR R B T AR My o DL BT A 5 v B A
e R AR o AN T ZH R E BN > A
B A B A SE AT IR~ TR BRI R R 2 s
Be FL oA IR A A W) 3 5 DA % 2 S5 TG e 5 T e
B B 7 R o

Y T A I 5 % S 3 9 1 5 1
M

Types of training

Name of director HHELR RN
Executive directors PTG

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) WY () B, C
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director) W SR (i Fr A A5 PE) B,C
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis XK A,B,C
Wu Wing Biu KA B,C
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [y A, B, C
Independent non-executive directors Sk PuAT g

Leung Mei Han B A, B, C
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B E A4 A, B, C
Tsunao Kijima NSRS B,C

A — R e ke Hk
B — th R P AR B 3 I R
C — PR M B ek T R > B3 A SR ¥R S LB

A — Attending briefings/seminars/conferences/forums
B — Attending in-house annual training session
C - Reading updates on relevant topics including corporate governance and

regulatory updates
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly
hold the positions of Chairman and Managing Director respectively.
Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in

writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. With the support of the
executive directors and senior management, the Managing Director
is responsible for managing the Group’s business, including
implementation of objectives, policies and major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board. She is also in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day operation in accordance with the instructions

from the Board.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors, representing one-
third of the Board, with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and
3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received a written
annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director of
his/her independence and the Company is of the view that the existing
independent non-executive directors are independent under the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules up to
the date of this Annual Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely the Executive
Committee, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which are available
to shareholders upon request. The terms of reference of the Board
committees, except those of Executive Committee, are also available

for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established with specific written terms
of reference and all of its members are executive directors.

The primary duties of the Executive Committee include approval and
execution of the corporate guarantees to be provided by the Company
to individual bankers in respect of the banking facilities granted to
any company of the Group, including wholly-owned subsidiaries, non
wholly-owned subsidiaries and associates within the meaning of the

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

The Executive Committee has held twenty-four meetings during the
year for the purposes of approving, inter alia, to give guarantees for
banking facilities granted to companies of the Group and to provide
guarantees and/or indemnities with respect to the obligations of a

wholly-owned subsidiary in tenancy agreements.

The attendance records of the Executive Committee during the year are
set out below:

wRZHG ()
WA Z U

BAT % B G ©Ror o S DL AT YR Y R
B A R B Y R AATESR -

BT % B A 0 3 S B B e R B A A R R A
AR VAT oyl 2 ] (3 A 0 A 0 T 8 i o i B
SE T 0 22 S R 2 W]~ 2 A 2 W) S M A )
M4 W SRAT S 1 8 3 SR AT B B 2 W AR AR o

TR B ERE N YR Rk E g o DA (L
H AL A ) A AR [ R A T A7 R AT R PR A AR
Bt — [ 2 ¥ B Jag 2 ) 7 AL e S T 2 EAR ARt
PR K/ S A IR o

PAT Z B I AR R AL SRS T

Number of meetings

attended/held

Name of Executive Committee member WA EBARASH BT AR KB
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen s

(Chairman of Executive Committee) (B 172 A & FMH) 24724

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WEA 24/24

Man Wing Cheung, Ellis K 24/24

Wu Wing Biu Wi Ik AL 24/24
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with specific written terms
of reference and all of its members are independent non-executive
directors, one of them possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive directors, namely Ms. Leung Mei Han (Chairperson of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao Kijima.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, to monitor the integrity of
the Company’s financial statements and review significant financial
reporting judgements contained in them, to maintain an appropriate
relationship with the Company’s external auditor and to oversee the

audit process.

The Audit Committee has held two meetings during the year ended 31
March 2017 to review the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discuss internal controls and financial reporting
matters including a review of the interim financial statements for
the six months ended 30 September 2016 and the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 of the Group. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31
March 2017 of the Group.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year are set

out below:
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wRZHG ()
HHEUG

T E G RO o I DL E T R Y T R
B o JLRTA B R R B SLIE BT E S Hoh— R
5 ELA 90 P S A S O R A S
ko FEREHGBRNABE =B LTS
ATRRRM L L (ERZREEEN) - BREA AR
A S A o

T T A R b e T B A AR ) S
W R P DA B R B B R P A R AR B A
A B e 2z Se B o Sl B R B A R S
e 2 TOOAI B ~ A dep SELAC 2 ) A1 I A S 0 T
R EREBEGRT

FRERORRE_Z -LE=A=+—HILHEE
W ERAT W UCET ko DA D A B T B AR AN Y o BOR
BeH B o S ek i P 30 B S i A BT
FRARMBRE-Z-AFILA=ZTHIEAMA W
hH B RS > UERRE_F-AE=ZA=+—H
Ak AE BE AR BE I S i - IR B DA B AR
MBE—F-LEZA=T—H IR Z A -

T B R R A S

Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Audit Committee member BEZEHARBAE i) Y Zan-f- Ve
Leung Mei Han (Chairperson of Audit Committee) REW(FEHZEATER) 2/2
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B A 2/2
Tsunao Kijima A B A T 2/2
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and is currently constituted by two independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter (Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee) and Ms. Leung Mei Han and an

executive director, namely Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly.

The Company has adopted the model where the Remuneration
Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure of the
Company for the remuneration of all directors and senior management
and the remuneration packages of individual directors and senior

management.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting during the year
to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration policy and structure,
the remuneration packages of all directors and senior management by
reference to the individual performance, skills and knowledge, time
commitment and responsibilities, and performance and profitability of
the Group, and the service contracts of the directors for the year under
review. Details of the remuneration of each director of the Company

are set out in note 8 to financial statements.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during the

year are set out below:

wRZHG ()
L EI

W2 B ©ORor o Sl DL E T R Y T R
B > BLNF R E RS A R LR AT S B R A S
(HMZ B & 1) RREM L DR SBTE
FWIRALL -

A0 B AR T I 22 2 A AT e A
BN B 22 55 T 4 268 1 = 48 ) e 2 K o T
ZEEZ ERER A LA A T 4 8 S % A B
N B Z A0 W) 57 T SR S 2R DA AR o
A TN B Z 35 T A 208 1 o P e

% H AN BB AT ok o DL (L)
7 B0 A 5% 1) S T BBOSR A S8 5 225 R RSB ~ 3¢
BB 0 ~ P A L A I [ R B A DA R AR SR B K
BAGES > UFER M E S LR AR ZH MW
TR 5 DAR o B [l LA B N 3 o 2 IR 5 40 o A
) 45 T 0 T I I SR A A B R AR PR S

i 2 B AR A R A SRS I R

Number of meeting

attended/held

Name of Remuneration Committee member HWME BB 4R W87 ek
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B & A4

(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (FWZ B &1 5) 1/1

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WEE 1/1

Leung Mei Han PoLE SR 1/1
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the remuneration of the members
of the senior management, not being the directors of the Company, by

band is set out below:

Remuneration band 5 T AL
(HK$) (#5)
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wRZHG ()
LESAC T

BEZF-LHEZA =S4 HIRFEERERA A
ERZHAEEARZHMAL W

Number of persons

A

Nil to 1,000,000
1,000,001 to 2,000,000

Further particulars regarding the directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in

notes 8 and 9 to financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and currently comprises an executive director,
namely Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and two independent non-executive directors, namely Ms.
Leung Mei Han and Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
Board composition, to develop and formulate the relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of directors, to monitor the
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive directors. The
Nomination Committee will also identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships when
there are vacancies on the Board. All appointments will be made based
on merits and against objective criteria with due regard to the Board

diversity policy of the Company.

% %1,000,000
1,000,001 %2,000,000
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting during the year
to review, inter alia, the Board’s structure, size and composition
to ensure that it had a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive directors
of the Company.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee during the year

are set out below:

wRZHG ()
RAEE UG (5D

RAZBGNFENERT - REE - DFERN GLp
W) B F G AN - NSO AR o DA R £ A 2
H SR T HE AR DR R BRI P o I
O Pl A 2 T B L JE BUAT S 2 W Lk

RAZBERFENZ W LERIMT

Number of meeting

attended/held
Name of Nomination Committee member RLZBEANABLB Y P ST e
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen E gy
(Chairman of Nomination Committee) (#BEZHAFLN) 1/1
Leung Mei Han pouE S| 1/1
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B E A4 1/1
Summary of the Board Diversity Policy EE S AET (A ST T

The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage.
The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board of the
Company. Under the Policy, the Nomination Committee will consider
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service in reviewing and assessing the Board
composition. The Nomination Committee has assessed the composition
of the Board against these aspects and has come to the conclusion that
it is a balanced board of directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance

functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this

Corporate Governance Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors of the Company
(the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors
of the Company, the directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Code of
Conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2017.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities
Transactions by Relevant Employees (the “Employees Code”) on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by
the employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Code by the employees was noted by the Company throughout the year
ended 31 March 2017.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2017. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2017, appropriate accounting principles and policies are
selected and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are
appropriate and reasonable; and these financial statements have been

prepared on a going concern basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board with
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial

information and position, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of both annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the

Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, Ernst
& Young (“EY™), are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of
this Annual Report.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

External Auditor’s Remuneration

EY has been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor by
shareholders at the 2016 annual general meeting until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting. They are primarily responsible for
providing audit services in connection with the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2017.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, EY received approximately
HK$3,086,000 (2016: HK$2,928,000) for audit and related services
and approximately HK$748,000 (2016: HK$410,600) for other non-
audit services which include the taxation services.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibilities for maintaining
adequate risk management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets and reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems, including the strategies, policies and
expectations on the oversight, have been designed to manage rather
than to eliminate the risk of failure in achieving the Group’s business
objectives. Therefore, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute

assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

Risk management and internal control systems are designed and put
in place with a view to safeguard the Group’s assets and business
operations. In order to successfully implement, support and sustain the
risk management process, the Group has taken into account the factors
including risk-aware culture, risk prioritisation, as well as allocation
of roles and responsibilities. The systems are featured with defined
organisational and management structure with authorities properly
delegated to qualified personnel from different management levels

within the Group.

The regular monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems is mainly conducted by the delegated executive directors
and senior management. With the oversight of the Audit Committee,
the delegated executive directors lead the senior management in
overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk

management and internal control systems.

Executive directors of the Company determine the business strategies
and objectives of the Group, and evaluate and determine the nature and
extent of risks the Group is willing to take in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives and therefore are accountable for the effectiveness

of the risk management.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Senior management from different departments identifies and
evaluates the risks which may potentially impact the major business
processes, including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security, monitors the risks and

takes measures to mitigate risks in daily operations.

Periodic meetings are held between the delegated executive directors
and senior management. Standing instructions have been provided to
management of the Group that if any material issue relating to risk
management and internal control systems that may have or have had
a material impact on the business of the Group arise, it should be

reported on a timely basis.

Internal control procedures are designed to protect the Group’s assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure proper maintenance
of accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used for business decision or publication; and to provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement. The internal audit function
reviews the major operational, financial and compliance controls and
risk management function on a continuing basis to cover the major

operations of the Group.

The delegated executive directors and senior management has reported
to the Board the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year under review. The Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the systems including the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting functions and considers that the risk management

and internal control systems of the Group are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling inside information, monitoring

information disclosure and responding to enquiries.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Nam Chi Ming, Gibson, an executive director of the Company,
is the company secretary. During the year under review, Mr. Nam

undertook more than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 73 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition
of shareholders holding at the date of deposit not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right to
vote deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

If the Board does not within 30 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed to convene the general meeting, the requistionists
themselves may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are available for viewing on the Company’s

website at http://www.fourseasgroup.com.hk.

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests for putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Four Seas Group Building, No. 1 Hong
Ting Road, Sai Kung, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company

Secretary.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted a Shareholders” Communication Policy
reflecting mostly current practices of the Company for communication
with its shareholders. Such policy aims at disseminating information
in relation to the Group to shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars, and is reviewed regularly by the Board

to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website at http://www.fourseasgroup.com.hk
as a communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s announcements, business
developments/operations and other information are available for public

access.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The chairmen
of the Board and Board committees actively participate in the annual
general meeting and answer questions from the shareholders. Notice
of the annual general meeting is sent to the shareholders at least 20
clear business days before the meeting. All resolutions put forward
at shareholder meetings including the annual general meeting will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange

after each shareholder meeting.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. A consolidated version of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Ernst & Young BXKEFTEIEHR
22/F, CITIC Tower BEEPRRAREIR
§* 1 Tim Mei Avenue hiERE221E

Central, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Four Seas
Mercantile Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 187, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is

provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the

accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Recoverability of trade receivables

MW B 59 06 sk Z T AR [

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had trade receivables of
HK$551,098,000. Management performs an impairment assessment
on a regular basis, with the impairment provision estimated through
the application of significant judgement and use of subjective
assumptions.

REZF-LE=ZH=1+—H> HEMZIBERHZEKXS
551,098,00095 7T ° 45 BH g 4 4% M P O OH) B R 0 A 3 98 AR 8t B
il s B o016 488 2 90 28 AT I AP A

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 21 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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We evaluated the inputs and assumptions used by
management in their impairment assessment, and
management’s procedures on aged receivables
or amounts in dispute. We also tested the ageing
classification of receivables and assessed the
impairment provision made by management as of the
end of the reporting period, taking into account factors
such as the payment history of debtors, subsequent
settlement of the receivables and other relevant
information.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

B 32 % i e
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

2 JEAE A i v R o S

Write-down of slow-moving inventories

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had inventories of HK$273,836,000.
The write-down of slow-moving inventories is estimated by
management through the application of significant judgement and
use of highly subjective assumptions on future sales estimation. The
specific factors considered by management in the estimation of the
provision include types of inventory, the conditions of the inventory,
expiration dates of the inventories, the forecast inventory usage and
sales.

REF-LFEZA=+—H HEMZFRT273,836,00048 70 °
i B A 65 U o A BE 0 B AR B Al SRR TR OROR) B %
5 P v AR BHE AT A R o A BILRE AE A R 44 IR T % B i EL
HRBHAREN - FER - RN H D ERHNEZERE R

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 20 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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Our audit procedures included the assessment of
controls over identifying and valuing obsolete,
damaged, slow-moving, excess and other inventory
items whose costs may not be fully recoverable; and
evaluating the methodologies, inputs and assumptions
used by the management in calculating the inventory
provision by reviewing subsequent sales quantity
after the year end and comparing with historical sales
record. We also tested the ageing classification of
inventories and subsequent usage of raw materials and
work-in-progress.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
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ol 3t 2 it o o (5)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

T UL o i o o 3

Impairment of goodwill

2 0 1

The carrying value of goodwill amounted to HK$43,680,000 as at 31
March 2017. The Group is required to perform an impairment test
for goodwill on an annual basis. The impairment test is based on the
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units to which the goodwill
is associated with. Management’s assessment process involves
significant judgements and assumptions, including the expected future
cash flow forecasts, associated growth rates and the discount rate
applied, which were sensitive for expected future market conditions
and cash-generating units’ actual performance.

REF-EHE=A=Z+—H > @B ZIEMEHE%43,680,000
Wor o 4 I A AR R v B AT DA A o DRl SR AR R T
B B < B4 e A LA Y AT W [ e BB AT o A B R R AG R P
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B e B o 355 TR R 2B < T TR B ~ A B 8 R R % B HE 2

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

B 45 2 S RO A £ B 5 S B 3 B 16 o

Our procedures included examining and recalculating
management’s discounted cash flow projections
for the determination of value-in-use and assessing
key assumptions such as the budgeted gross margin
and growth rates by comparison to recent historical
financial performance of the cash-generating units.
We also performed sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions and cash flow projections and involved
our valuation expert to assist us with our assessment of
the discount rate used in determining the recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating units.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements

and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves

fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Ki Wing Yee, Winnie.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
30 June 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

i 1H 2 R

Year ended 31 March 2017 BE _FE—tHE=ZH=+—HILEE

2017 2016
e Sl S ZR AN
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt BT BT

REVENUE WA 5 2,948,289 2,941,468
Cost of sales 898 p A (2,028,309) (1,993,103)
Gross profit EF 919,980 948,365
Other income and gains FC A WA B e s 5 132,317 23,573
Selling and distribution expenses B KB (645,036) (594,505)
Administrative expenses T B X (297,944) (290,621)
Other operating expenses oAt 25 3 B S (14,903) (11,533)
Finance costs il R A 6 (16,785) (16,764)
Share of profits and losses of associates FEAN Wit 2% n \) e ) I s 18 748 8,062
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B B 1 i A 7 78,377 66,577
Income tax expense Fr 5B B 32 10 (24,978) (21,362)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AE P e A 53,399 45215
Attributable to: SRR -

Equity holders of the Company AKAFINER TR & 50,274 45,827

Non-controlling interests e I HE RS 3,125 (612)

53,399 45215
HK cents HK cents
M A

EARNINGS PER SHARE A% 2 wi) ¥ W DA

ATTRIBUTABLE TO AV B B 8 A

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS

OF THE COMPANY

— Basic and diluted — B B 12 13.1 11.9
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
f A AR AR

Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

2017 2016
—Z2—-L ZRNE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt i BT BWT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AR B A 53,399 45,215
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS e 2 i s 8L
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be Vi i LT el
reclassified to profit or loss in Fifa Z H M2 H
subsequent periods: Weas~(JEE)
Available-for-sale investments: A E R
Changes in fair value A TE5% ) 39 (64)
Reclassification adjustment for gain HHRERZIREZ
included in the consolidated R4 R %
statement of profit or loss
— gain on disposal - hEZ KR 5 (16) -
23 (64)
Exchange differences: I S 25
Exchange differences on translation of WP EHZ
foreign operations i 5, 2 4 (54,789) (35,997)
Reclassification adjustments for foreign AR JEE Hh B g A S S
operations disposed of during the year Z HH 4 R 33 (6,067) -
Share of other comprehensive loss of JREAT g 25 ) A 2 T
associates EE (3,396) (3,712)
Reclassification adjustment for share of an HY B — R 4 2 ) IR HE
associate’s other comprehensive income A % T8 o R 2 oAt
upon disposal of the associate 2T W R 2 T A B
H % - (2,874)
(64,252) (42,583)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR 4 i i 2 viii i 4 »
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX BB (64,229) (42,647)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  4¢ R 8 & ¥ 2~ O 1])
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (10,830) 2,568
Attributable to: R .
Equity holders of the Company A RESE TR & (12,452) 4,148
Non-controlling interests Pl e £ 1,622 (1,580)
(10,830) 2,568
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A 0 B IR LR

31 March 2017 =& —tHFE=H=+—H

2017 2016
—ZF -t TR AR
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 7t W o BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS e BE A
Property, plant and equipment LE By & 13 502,319 602,187
Investment property wEWE 14 18,607 19,362
Prepaid land lease payments TE A A B sk0E 15 88,277 99,395
Goodwill T 16 43,680 49,580
Other intangible assets HAb M & & 17 4,172 5,993
Investments in associates NS AT Z2I/E 18 158,735 161,041
Available-for-sale investments kR E 19 1,188 1,351
Deposits R 22 30,721 32,285
Deferred tax assets R b B T s 28 8,629 8,771
Total non-current assets e B A 856,328 979,965
CURRENT ASSETS iU h e g
Inventories ety 20 273,836 339,981
Trade receivables FEW R 2 IRk 21 551,098 568,798
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AT #KIE ~ 514 R H Ath
JRE Wk I 22 142,098 131,638
Tax recoverable w) I e B T 8,211 16,669
Financial assets at fair value through A THIE BB AR
profit or loss A 45 il 2 23 47,444 43,315
Cash and cash equivalents B R4S EEH 24 839,440 799,432
1,862,127 1,899,833
Assets held for sale HEHEEE 25 45,307 -
Total current assets B A A 1,907,434 1,899,833
CURRENT LIABILITIES A SR
Trade payables, other payables and accruals — HEA} B 5 lak ~ Hofth E AT
I e e w1 26 365,034 341,660
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JEBAT R B 22 SRAT R 27 930,120 1,004,317
Tax payable JEAS AL TE 20,363 12,098
Total current liabilities W) R 1,315,517 1,358,075
NET CURRENT ASSETS L Bl ¥ 591,917 541,758
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B 7 R B 1 4%
LIABILITIES 1,448,245 1,521,723
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B IR DL AR

31 March 2017 & —tLHFE=H=+—H

2017 2016
—Z—t4 TR
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M it BT BT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Fhi8 ) 4 %
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BT RS Z SRAT B3k 27 82,469 105,205
Deferred tax liabilities ESERL I £ 28 18,043 20,107
Total non-current liabilities FEm B £ A5 K E 100,512 125,312
Net assets gl 1,347,733 1,396,411
EQUITY i 2%
Equity attributable to equity holders BB R AN A T RE AR T AT
of the Company 1y BE 2%
Issued capital SR ZFY N 29 38,425 38,425
Reserves ikt 31 1,279,675 1,328,632
1,318,100 1,367,057
Non-controlling interests P B 22 29,633 29,354
Total equity RE %5 4814 1,347,733 1,396,411
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen #75% NAM Chi Ming, Gibson % W
Director #%H Director #%H
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2017 BE _FE—tHE=ZH=+—HILEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RRRAL TR
Available-
for-sale
Share investment ~ Capital ~ Exchange Non-
Issued  premium  Reserve Revaluaton  Capital revaluation redemption fluctuation  Refained controlling Total
capital ~ account funds reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total ~interests equity
ik i} 4] kg WAEE  ERNS FBR
Rk SR RGO BRRE VKRR TR il BifE MermA it R R
Note HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 — HKS'000  HKS'000
i EETT EETT BEFC EEFL BEFL BRTL O BETL O BFTT BEFT BEFL BREL BEE
(note 29)  (note 31)  (note 31) (note 31) (note 31)
(i) (Was1) () (Hits1) (Hits1)
At 1 April 2015 REF-TENA-H 38425 199,301 9828 20,798 750 07 1330 17860 1008853 1399414 25930 1425344
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - - - - $5807 45807 (612) 45215
Other comprehensive loss for the year: M M2TIEH :
Changes in fair value of Ak EREZ A THES
available-for-sale investment - - - - - (64) - - - (64) - (64)
Exchange differences related to HRSMER e R 20
foreign operations - - - - - - - (41,615) - (41,615) (968) (42,583
Total comprehensive income for ERARTE
the year - - - - - (64) - (1615 4587 4148 (1,580) 2,568
Contribution by non-controlling R TN
interests - - - - - - - - - - 6,407 6,407
Dividends paid to non-controlling O PRERBIRA
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (1,403) (1,403)
Finel 2015 dividend declared ERCE-RERMRE - - - - - - - - e -
Interim 2016 dividend “ERRETHRE i - - - - - - - SN 15 (Vi -3
Transfer to reserve funds HERRES - - 3576 - - - - - (3,576) - - -
Release of revaluation reserve on HELARET IR
leasehold land and buildings to b2 Rae Al
retained profits - - - (535) - - - - 535 - - -
At31 March 2016 REZ-EZHZ1-H 84251993010 13404+ 22263 750% 3 1531% T6.246%  L0IS,134% 1367057 29354 139411
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2017 BE - —tLE=H=+—H IL4EE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

BERAATRARA %
Available-
for-sale
Share investment ~ Capital ~ Exchange Non-
Issued  premium  Reserve Revaluaton  Capital revaluation redemption fluctuation  Refained controlling Total
capital  account funds ~ reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total ~ interests equity
Lt R nikhEg  WREE  EANE EE

Wk RWE BEE MR WA YEGEE 0 B BB RERM &b B BEMK
Note  HKSOD0  HKSOO0  HESOOD  HKSOO)  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSOD  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000

M #ETT o #ETT ¥ETT KT #ETT #NTT #RTL #ETL BT #iTn #Tn #NTr

(more29)  (note31)  (note 31) (note 1) (note 31)
(Wet2) (W) (1) (i) (Hits1)
At 1 April 2016 REF-NENA-H 845 19301 13404 22,263 750 3 1531 7646 1015134 1367057 29354 1396411
Profi for the year it - - - - - - - -0 S0 35 5339
Other comprehensive loss for the year: M M2TIER :
Changes in fair value of Ak EREZATHES
available-for-sale investments - - - - - il - - - 3 - Al
Exchange differences related to HENETME £
foreign operations - - - - - - - (62,749) - (62,749) (1,503) (64,252
Total comprehensive loss for the year 4 [E2TER - - - - - 2 - (0249 S0 (1245) 162 (10830)
Contribution by non-controlling s g
interests - - - - - - - - - - 3 3
Disposal of subsidiaries HEREAR - - (19 - - - - - 1739 - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling B FHERAAME
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (1,374) (1.374)
Final 2016 dividend declared HRCE-REAHRA 1l - - - - - - - NI | O 1 -
Tnterim 2017 dividend ZE-LhRg 1l - - - - - - - - (3% (115) - (1)
Transfer to reserve funds HRERES - - 1,264 - - - - - (1.264) - - -
Release of revaluation reserve on MEL R TR
leasehold land and buildings to AR A
retained profits - - - (53) - - - - 535 - - -
At 31 March 2017 RoF-tEZA=1-H 38425 199301 12.929¢  21728* 750 26 1331 13497% 1,029.913* 1,318,100 29633 1347733
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * % SR R B AR B R DR P 2 B A
HK$1,279,675,000 (2016: HK$1,328,632,000) in the consolidated 1,279,675,000% J& (=% — A 4F : 1,328,632,000%

statement of financial position.

Jo) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HAEBEmER

Year ended 31 March 2017 & E _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H I4FE

2017 2016
SR SRR
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
wik BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXRBZBEWRR
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax Wi A iy ¥4 78,377 66,577
Adjustments for: 7R 5 4 T A
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE AN Bk 7 2 ] ¥ A B i 4R (748) (8,062)
Bank interest income SRATH BB 5 (3,497) (2,224)
Dividend income B B WA 5 (591) (13)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries H B B IS A W] 2 s 5 (100,046) -
Fair value gain on an investment property HEWMEZ A TFHRERE 5 (461) -
Gain on disposal of an available-for-sale 8 2 AR B R 2 W) 4k
investment stated at cost w"EZ W 5 = (688)
Gain on disposal of associates B T A Rl 2 s 5 - (12,012)
Gain on deemed disposal of associates e A B B A R 2 iR 5 - (336)
Fair value gain on available-for-sale AR E 2 AR
investments (transfer from equity on (H B 15 B A 25 )
disposal) 5 (16) -
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair T P AE 75 38 15 25 AR ) 2 b
value through profit or loss &2 A P EW R 5 (19,650) (1,777)
Finance costs Tl B AR 6 16,785 16,764
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of iR ¢ L/ER 0 Ed
property, plant and equipment and HHREMN LA EREZ
prepaid land lease payments, net W18 - A 7 5,515 1,709
Depreciation e 7 65,971 64,739
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments T A} + #b FH 6 3k 35 = 3 8 7 2,952 3,202
Amortisation of other intangible assets ol 4 T A 2 HEA 7 1,821 758
Impairment of trade receivables HE W & 5 B 2k e 7 149 357
Write-down of slow-moving inventories B A B BB 7 6,578 1,932
53,139 130,926
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BEZWA, (W) 47,591 (10,591)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables HEW R 5 IRk =2 WA (B ) 5,686 (41,963)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other TEAFFKIE ~ 5T 4 B o fih R i
receivables I Z (15,174) (29,485)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, other AT B2 5 MRk ~ G At B A R T T
payables and accruals Az ®m ) (5,821) (40,131)
Cash generated from operations BN EZH4 85,421 8,756
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERREERETIEES (2,593) (42,920)
Overseas taxes paid A 3 Al B8 I (6,593) (9,337)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating MEEBZBEERA (FE)
activities — page 81 R —-81H 76,235 (43,501)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HAEBEmER

Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H I4FE

2017 2016
L4 ZR N
Notes HKS$’000 HKS$’000
Kt BT Vet n
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating RBEBZHEHRAN(HH)
activities — page 80 HR—80H 76,235 (43,501)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BERHZBERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received R AT FI B 3,497 2,224
Dividends received from listed investments W B T R 591 13
Dividends received from associates W B I 2 3 =) i 8 - 3,867
Purchases of items of property, AW - W R xMER
plant and equipment 13 (82,276) (93,805)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE - WEAEHEE IS
plant and equipment and prepaid land lease RJE e FE AT - MR B R
payments 12,276 3,657
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale B 0 B 4R P AT kO
investments 202 3,064
Proceeds from disposal of associates B W O W) B A5 K 0 - 30,000
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERAFEBERES AR
fair value through profit or loss S WE B T AR IE 33,000 30,636
Deposit received from disposal of a property HE—TEHY MR ZET & 36,300 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wt 1% 6 & A /) 32 = (17,528)
Disposal of subsidiaries H B B B 2 A 33 132,124 —
Purchases of financial assets at fair value AN T EERBRARZ
through profit or loss 4 RhE (17,479) (44,862)
Decrease in time deposits with original FAHBEMAZR=MAZ
maturity of more than three months & W AE 3 Ik A
when acquired - 81,930
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing |EEHEZBRHEHRARE)
activities PR il 118,735 (804)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING R ) B
ACTIVITIES
New bank and trust receipt loans BT ERAT B M AE R B 2,397,999 2,116,031
Repayment of bank and trust receipt loans SRATEH R RAEFERBE R Z B (2,485,932) (1,993,262)
Interest paid [ERREIPSS (16,785) (16,764)
Contribution by non-controlling interests e RRERR TR 31 6,407
Dividends paid [ERE S-S (36,505) (36,505)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders B\ f ¥ JF 2 i Bt 5 it . (1,374) (1,403)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing MEEBZHERA Gil)
activities i (142,566) 74,504
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HAEBEmER

Year ended 31 March 2017 BE _FE—tHE=ZH=+—HILEE

2017 2016
—Z2—L TR
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Mk BT BT
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH B4 B B4 25 L H B Imi
EQUIVALENTS 52,404 30,199
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ]2 B4 KB &EMHIEE 799,432 775,657
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net RSB A > A (12,396) (6,424)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT A/ B RBA%MEA
END OF YEAR 839,440 799,432
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BRERBEEMEH TN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B RARITHAF 24 515,648 500,775
Time deposits EWFR 24 323,792 298,657
Cash and cash equivalents Bl& MB4E%SEEE 839,440 799,432
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Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION

Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Effective from 30
April 2016, the registered office of the Company is located at
the office of Sterling Trust (Cayman) Limited, with the address
being Whitehall House, 238 North Church Street, P.O. Box 1043,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1102, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in investment
holding, manufacturing and trading of snack foods, confectionery,

beverages, frozen food products, noodles, ham and ham-related

1.

products, and the operations of restaurants.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

2 vl B AR R

WMEBMARAG S —XRHEEHE
R S X AR A et A
HZEZ+ B> KA Z Gk E MR
Sterling Trust (Cayman) LimitedZ 2% > #i
Hik % Whitehall House, 238 North Church Street,
P.O. Box 1043, George Town, Grand Cayman
KY1-1102, Cayman Islands °

R REEZ BEEB BBRERER - WER
MEZERE R BB RWER R X
o8 T K BT R S i > DA % R R R

A7 B B0 A\ 2 TR
ARAFZ EEEH A FFEWT

follows:
Issued ordinary/
registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company
and business TR A2 v EAG HERR 3 1B Principal
Name SEWE b2 4R Direct Indirect activities
# 1 X i B 24 i B B R A HH G ER >3
Champ Business Development Limited Hong Kong HK$20,000,000 - 70.0 Investment
(“Champ Business”)* B 20,000,000 70 holding
RFERRAMAR (R3] * RE
Cowboy Food Company Limited Hong Kong HK$6,000,000 - 85.0 Manufacturing
A A IRA i 6,000,003 78 of snack foods
INERE
Crowne Profits Limited* British Virgin US$1 - 100.0 Investment holding
Islands 1% BERER
S B JE A T B
E-Options Technology Limited* British Virgin Uss1 - 100.0 Property holding
Islands 13678 WY
S R4 B B
Eat & International (H.K.) Co., Limited* Hong Kong HK$11,500,000 - 51.0 Restaurant operations
KIREA A RA ] B 11,500,000% ¢ RELE
Ever Media Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100.0 Investment holding
B 17T BE I

R e " R O S

mow &% M oAF R oA A



Notes to Financial Statements

S 285 i B

Year ended 31 March 2017 & E _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H I4FE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. A BHEMER (5)

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

A7 B B D A W) 2 R (A
Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business BB 4 AR v MEAY e 23 B Principal
Name HR 3 DA 3P4} Direct Indirect activities
#ik Xl B B e 84 B A H Gk R3]
Fancy Talent Ecommerce Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100.0 Ecommerce retailing
Company Limited* P 10,000,000%7C of confectionery and
FEWTEEFHBEARA R food products
R R BMZ
ETHHEE
Fancy Talent Limited* Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 - 100.0 Marketing of
FRWAARA ik 100,000,000% ¢ snack foods
MRS
R
Four Seas (Guangzhou) Food Import and PRC/Mainland RMB23,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
Export Trading Company Limited* * China (2016: confectionery
PO OB ) bty 5 A 6] A K B RMB15,000,000) and food products
A RH#23,000,0007C HR K
(ZF—A BMZHS

A B 15,000,00072)
Four Seas (Hebei) Food Company PRC/Mainland HK$24,000,000 - 100.0 Processing
Limited* A China 24,000,000¥ 7T of chestnuts
WM GRde) AR AR A K B KL
Four Seas (Qingyuan) Tourism PRC/Mainland HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property
Development Company Limited* * China 20,000,000¥ 7T holding and
MW R el AR A A P PN restaurant
operations
WL
BELE
Four Seas (Shantou) Foods Industrial Park PRC/Mainland HK$30,500,000 - 100.0 Property
Management Co., Ltd.* A China 30,500,000% 72 holding
VUM RIEE) e T A R ]+ A K B IESE
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

1.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

2wl B 5 M EORE (57)

A7 B B D A W) 2 R (A

Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business kT A v EA AR Vi 2 Je Principal
Name W YR Direct Indirect activities
# 1 X e B 24 B R B AR F G ER >3
Four Seas (Suzhou) Food PRC/Mainland US$19,700,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
Co., Ltd.* » China (2016: of beverages
PO (M) B AR A G VLN US$18,700,000) ki

19,700,000 7

(TR

18,700,003 7 )
Four Seas (Yang Shan) Development PRC/Mainland HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property
Company Limited* A China 20,000,00036 70 holding
P (Gln) BEREATR AR A ik B ESLT)e
Four Seas Candy (Shantou) Co., Ltd.* * PRC/Mainland HK$50,203,380 - 100.0 Manufacturing
DU (MEE) ARAR A China 50,203,380¥7C of candies
ik B HERSE
Four Seas Candy Company Limited Hong Kong HK$50,550,000 - 100.0 Investment
9 B A PR A B 50,550,000% 75 holding
R
Four Seas Catering Enterprises Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investment
Company Limited i 10,0009 7¢ holding
P B A A R A REER
Four Seas China Holdings Limited* British Virgin US$1,000,000 - 100.0 Investment
VL e 4 A R Islands 1,000,000 7% holding
£y ) ey RE R
Four Seas Confectionery PRC/Mainland HK$33,320,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
(Shantou) Company Limited* » China (2016: of cakes
S P SRR A R 24 ] i VA PN HK$28,320,000) g

33,320,000 7T

e

28,320,000% 75 )
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Notes to Financial Statements

S 285 i B

Year ended 31 March 2017 & E _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H I4FE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

2wl B 5 M EORE (57)

A7 B B D 2 W) 2 R (A

ARAFZ LEEH AR T ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business ik 2 AR T EA HEAS T 2 Be Principal
Name W YR Direct Indirect activities
H Xl K B8 BB B A A A% EX 3
Four Seas Confectionery PRC/Mainland HK$17,000,000 - 80.0 Manufacturing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* * China (2016: of snack foods
WMER (FI) HRAE* A ik B HK$12,000,000) M

17,000,000% 7t

(ZZ—RE:

12,000,0009 7))
Four Seas Enterprises (BVI) Limited* British Virgin US$20,000 100.0 - Investment
Islands 20,00037C holding
KRR LR Eracectle
Four Seas Foods (Shantou) PRC/Mainland HK$96,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
Co., Ltd.* » China 96,000,00036 70 confectionery
TS S AR A o and food
products
BER T A
285
Four Seas Investment Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 100.0 - Investment
PO B M A A B 50,000,000% ¢ holding
RERER
Four Seas Logistics Company Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100.0 Provision of
19 A PR A B 200,000% 7T transportation
services
ERRE
Four Seas Mercantile Limited Hong Kong (i) Ordinary - 100.0 Trading in
UM 5 A E i HK$200 snack foods,
(ii) Non-voting confectionery
deferred and beverages
HK$20,000,000 IME R
(i) % IR 200% ¢ KMz E 5

(ii) 8

JEAE R O

20,000,000#75
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

1o 2] B4 ¥R (49)

A7 B B 0 A W) 2 R (A

Issued ordinary/

AN F Z EEHE AR T ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business B4 A ] EA HEAS T 22 Be Principal
Name M YR Direct Indirect activities
# 1 X B 24 e B B A o G ER >3
Four Seas Property Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 - 100.0 Investment
I Y40y S PR A ) Hik 50,000,000 76 holding
Future Corporate Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Property
A A Hil 10,000 7¢ holding
Guang Dong Fourseas Frozen Food PRC/Mainland RMB71,300,000 - 100.0 Trading in
Products Co., Ltd.* A China  AR¥71,300,0007C frozen food
BRI 2 A A PR ] g vk e products and
snack foods
R R
NEZHE S
Guangzhou Four Seas Catering Co., Ltd.* A PRC/Mainland HK$37,500,000 - 100.0 Restaurant
T T DO B A PR T A China (2016: operations
B A HK$32,500,000) RELE

37,500,000% 7t

(2B

32,500,000% 7¢)
Guangzhou Sushi Oh Catering Co., Ltd.* » PRC/Mainland HK$6,000,000 - 33.2%% Restaurant
M R SRR A RRA R A China 6,000,000 76 operations
iV PN BELE
Homeright Properties Limited* British Virgin Us$1 - 100.0 Holding of
FME AT LA )+ Islands [ES trademarks
£y ) el FEH TR
Hong Kong Biscuit (International) Limited* Hong Kong HK$40,000,000 - 99.3 Investment holding
O (Bp) ARAF LR 40,000,000 7 BB

R i S S

mow &% M oAF R oA A
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. A BHEMER (5)

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

A B HE R 2 vl 2 2R ()

AR F) Z T ZEH A R RERE R ¢ (

A0

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company
and business TR A ] EA HEAS T 2 Be Principal
Name M YR Direct Indirect activities
# 1 Xl B 2K B B A FH G ER-F371
Hong Kong Confectionery Company Limited Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 - 100.0 Investment
BERHRAARAT Bl 7,000,003 76 holding
R
Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Manufacturing
B BRI A R A ) B 2078 and packaging
of ham and
ham-related
products
BOE R % B
T B BB
IFSCO Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$57,200,000 100.0 - Investment
B 57,200,000% 78 holding
BE
J.P. Inglis Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
FMLRTERAR (3 1,000,000%7¢ food materials
BAERE 5
KTC Corporation* Japan JPY 10,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
JEE 5t By etk X HA 10,000,000 H [ cakes
Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Hong Kong HK$3,660,000 - 99.0  Restaurant operations
Cuisine Limited ik 3,660,000% 7% RELE
ThiEMk LR R HRAT

Li Fook (Qingdao) Foods Co., Ltd.* * PRC/Mainland US$5,220,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
E (BE) BHAERAFA China (2016: US$4,620,000) of noodles
i VT PN 5,220,000 ¢ R

(ZF—AF:

4,620,000 75 )
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INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
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1.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

2wl B 5 M REORL (51)

A7 B B 0 A W) 2 R (A

AN F Z EEHE AR T ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company
and business TR A ] EA HEAS T 2 Be Principal
Name M YR Direct Indirect activities
# 1 Xl B 2K B B A FH G ER 3]
Matchless Bakery Company Limited* British Virgin HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Investment
FEA R P B A | Islands 20,000,000 78 holding
£y ) ey RE R
Men Taishou Co., Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100.0  Restaurant operations
TR RA T B 17T RERE
Murray Catering Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 70.0 Provision of lunch
(“Murray Catering”)* i 1,000,000% 7¢ box and tuck
FA R B A RA R ([H 1) * shop services
SRBER A B /N RS B
Namtien Noodle Limited* Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51.0 Manufacturing
KA A (3 1,000%7¢ of noodles
TRk
New Kondo Trading Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
EREAERAH B 1,000,000%7C Japanese food
materials
AR,
JRHE 5
Nico Four Seas (Shantou) Co., Ltd.* A PRC/Mainland HK$28,000,000 - 51.0 Manufacturing
R (IUBE) F RRAF* A China 28,000,0003 7C of seaweed
P PN products
FR RIS
Nico-Nico Four Seas Company Limited Hong Kong HK$28,000,000 - 51.0 Investment
RO MWAHRAR Bl 28,000,000% 7 holding
RE

TR o b OE R e WOW KM OE R A




Notes to Financial Statements

S 285 i B

Year ended 31 March 2017 & E _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H I4FE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

2wl e 5 M EORL (57)

A7 B B 0 A 7 2 R (A1)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as AKAFZ FEM B AR SEENT ¢ ()
follows: (continued)
Issued ordinary/
registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company
and business TR A ] EA HEAS T 2 Be Principal
Name M YR Direct Indirect activities
# 1 Xl B 2K B B A FH G ER 3]
Okashi Land (Macau) Company Limited* Macau MOP500,000 - 100.0 Retailer of
BT () ARAR W 500,000 "] Bl snack foods
MEZERE
Papochou Holdings Limited* British Virgin HK$15,000,000 - 100.0 Investment
HENEEA AR+ Islands 15,000,000 76 holding
£y ) veils BE
Restaurant Shiki Limited Hong Kong HK$3,200,000 - 100.0 Restaurant
B 3,200,000¥7C operations
Shenzhen Matchless Food Co., Ltd.* * PRC/Mainland HK$12,300,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
ISR B AT R )= A China 12,300,000% 7% of bread and
vk e bakery products
T B
Tsun Fat (Huizhou) Biscuit PRC/Mainland HK$63,000,000 - 99.3 Manufacturing
Factory Limited* * China (2016: of biscuits
B8 (CEM) BHCRCA A A L VLT PN HK$53,000,000) BF s
63,000,000 ¢
(ZF—A
53,000,003 7¢)
T & M Advertising Company Limited Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Advertising
EREEHRAR B 2078 agency
[ il
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Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

2wl e 5 M EORL (57)

A7 B B 0 A 7 2 R (A1)

Anvlz EEREAFFEEDT : (8)

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company
and business BB 4 AR ) BEASTRE 2 F 23 b Principal
Name R DY S Y&R ] Direct Indirect activities
a Bl BB B 55 0 It A H % FERH
LT 5 A A PRC/Mainland RMB300,000 - 100.0 Trading in
China A\ BH500,00078 confectionery
A and food
products
R
BMZHS
SRSE U A A R A PRC/Mainland HK$37,000,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
China 37,000,000% 7T and packaging
U R of ham and
ham-related
products
UG R %
KRB
KBS E
KBRS (FY) HRAR A PRC/Mainland HK$5,600,000 - 100.0 Trading in
China 5,600,0003 70 food
K materials
BRRZE 5
VRN DU 5 2 B A = A PRC/Mainland HK$67,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
China (2016: snacks and
g K HK$47,000,000) confectionery
67,000,000 G MERBEZHS
(ZF—A

47,000,000% 7¢)
JEN T P KA R 7]+ A PRC/Mainland RMB73,959,210 - 99.0* Restaurant
(“GZ Panxi”) China  AR#73,959,2107C operations
(TEMBEZ]) vk B BERE

TR o b OE R e WOW KM OE R A
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

*

ok

AN

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network

Guangzhou Sushi Oh Catering Co., Ltd. is a subsidiary of a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and accordingly, is
accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s control

over it.

These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned

enterprises under PRC law.

This subsidiary is registered as a Sino-foreign co-operative joint

venture under PRC law.

Pursuant to the stock purchase agreement entered into by the Group
and JE M T 7 ¥ I\ ROBURT I E BB BILR) (the “Vendor”)
for the acquisition of GZ Panxi, the Vendor retains 1% shareholding
in GZ Panxi and is not entitled to any share of the profit or loss
in GZ Panxi nor has the right to participate in the operation or

management of GZ Panxi but has the veto right in the following:

- the alteration of the tax registration of GZ Panxi in Liwan
District, Guangzhou, the PRC;

- the alteration of the use of the building occupied by GZ Panxi

other than the Cantonese style restaurant operation; and

- the use of the trademark of GZ Panxi.

During the year, the Group disposed of certain subsidiaries.

Further details of the disposals are included in note 33 to the

financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group acquired

Murray Catering. Further details of the acquisition are included in

note 32 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for

the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the

Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 % Wk e

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for an investment
property, certain properties classified as property, plant and
equipment, financial instruments at fair value through profit or
loss and certain available-for-sale investments which have been
measured at valuation or fair value. Non-current assets classified
as held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amounts and
fair values less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand

except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2017. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when

the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current

ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).
When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of

the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

A B 5 A T AR B A o A ([ A o e
Hill 7 1) A 2 A i i o R U (T v S
Heth e J0) 1) CF v G455 P 78 o S 5 s R U
AW A ([ 7t el ) i) - &
WA R A Z At R > DL WA R Y
BBmBLAERE - BRIEWHE - & THEAWE -
W B e B Z 3~ 3R A FAEIE R iR a5 AR
S T R T AT S B TR A A T
fE AT A > 7% B 2 2 AL 40 M RS 3 A o
3 R 5 A A 2 D0 B A 4 R v L oF
U B AR 2 AR SR o A R B 2.4
2t o A BoF 785 3 DA W W 250 o B D0 A RE W
Ab o B AT AR 4 A e B T LU o

SRR H 2 e

A B 5 R AL A A W) R SL R A ) (A
(AREEDEE—Z-LE=ZH =+ —HILE
JREH B o B JRE 2 W)  AR ELR B P
el i TE A (LR AS VT E) » AN FT A
VAR AR B A 42 o i

o HBEHZATHMD

o P2 BLEE G AR I I ) 1B R R
BN E R 5 K

o RSB BREHR M) (BT A
SR M B R ) 46 5| B0 B SO B B BE
FERER) 56 8% 5 B ) -

AN EEKMEERIRBERZ KRS
W S R OV A > A B T A A LR
B B 5T HE ) W25 B R A A B I NN
UL B

(a) BRBEHZIAMB IR N Z A8
L

(b) oAty %% HE R AE A 2 HER 5 I

(c) ABLEZBERERBELRBENE -
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 L (4)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to

be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of

control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i1) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group

had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has fully assessed and adopted, to the extent that is
relevant to the Group, the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the

Consolidation Exception

(2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 11

HKFRS 14
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27
(2011)

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations
Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Disclosure Initiative

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

Amendments to a number of
HKFRSs

The adoption of the above new and revised HKFRSs has had
no significant financial effect on these financial statements and
there have been no significant changes to the accounting policies

applied in these financial statements.

2.2 €l WOR R B 2 2 )

ACER [ CUA AR A B 2 B 5 A v 2 A e
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs and a new interpretation that have been issued but are

not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKEFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 15

HKEFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 7

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions*

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4

Insurance Contracts®

Financial Instruments®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers®

Clarifications to HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with
Customers*

Leases?

Disclosure Initiative'

Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses'

Transfers of Investment Property®

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration*

Amendments to a number of
HKFRSs*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or

1 January 2018, as appropriate

adoption

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for early

m FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2017

2.3 CLAUM L 2 302 7 W B 30 3
e B

7S [0 3 R 7 A B 2 i 4% i B DR LA A
AR A BB BT RT S KA T A v B s o A B B

ik o

A 8 T 2 ot o S SR 2 0%
Z BT

A B 5 i o o T 24 5%
Z BT

T vk 2 45 o R BB 9%
T vl B B i R RIS 105
B 7 v 6wl e ) SR 28 5%
TR AE) ZEET
vl BA F i i R RIS 1558

T v o 5 A B SR 15 9%
Z &R

T vl B B i R BN SR 1658
T s &l R SR 7%

Z &R
e a R 1298

Z &R

7 s & wl RSB 4058

Z &R

vk (10 B2 B 7 ko i R

ZAW) iR 22k
SF R SE A
L A S

Ut 75 2 BE 1T
X5 2 5 B R it
ﬁ-z
—OHHE B v 5
e 7 L FOYE
& TR B
gy 2 ot
SBAYER B 7 A9
& TR

BB A S 2 2
GEEFRZZ
B U] B
AWK >

T T A
R 15HER T
BRI #3>
A

e 5E il &'

VES E7) 7
AT I !
Wi E

Sh W3 S5 R H T
U

Z T W I B
e Z BT

ORISR BE - B R A Z 4R BN

3K

ORISR A H B AR B AR AR BT

3K

ORISR R B R B A Z AR

3K

fOREFR B A IR SR NEH
R PR A6 08 TR 2 ) 8 =2 158 B ke =2 44 JRE 40 ) A 2k
S T R i ) 2 28 D T 3 R A



Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version
of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous
versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements
for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge
accounting. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April
2018. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the standard

upon adoption.

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in
HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for measuring
and recognising revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance
obligations, changes in contract asset and liability account
balances between periods and key judgements and estimates.
The standard will supersede all current revenue recognition
requirements under HKFRSs. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued
amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the implementation issues
on identifying performance obligations, application guidance
on principal versus agent and licences of intellectual property,
and transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure
a more consistent application when entities adopt HKFRS 15
and decrease the cost and complexity of applying the standard.
The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018 and is
currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 15 upon adoption.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 Ebﬁﬁﬂﬂ A2 W W

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for
most leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions
for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term leases.
At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a
liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an
asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during
the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset
is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets
the definition of investment property in HKAS 40. The lease
liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the
lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be
required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease
liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.
Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon
the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease term
and change in future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the
lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor
accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from
the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify
all leases using the same classification principle as in HKAS 17
and distinguish between operating leases and finance leases. The
Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019 and certain
portion of the operating lease commitments will be required to
be recognised as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position upon adoption of
HKFRS 16. The Group will perform a more detailed analysis
upon the adoption of HKFRS 16.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 L EFIBUEHE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates REBB A ZHE

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term W AT AERERSEE RS IN20%2 EREHR =
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights W22 RS YT EREE I ZE
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. o WRME N2 HITEH R B LS ER
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial KU EZRE S > T FEdeE ) B 3k R e ) 5% SR -

and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the A B A S AT Z B E IR IERE S & e ik
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share 2K 4 [ B AL R R AT T W s H s AE S
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any AR L35 o ASEE [ A2 A w] W15 > %
impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition S RHMMERBAS NG AEEBREERES
results and other comprehensive income of associates is included HA I A o AP s N EEREE AR ZHE
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated SR ERE > AIAREHGH PFHERREGS
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when RERS B B KT PG foT 58 By o AN 45 ) B
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of B N TR 5 2 R W RS A 4 3
the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, N AR ZHE AR » N REHER
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in oy T A P DA 2 IR o W 2 A ] R
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions ZHEIEEREBNGEZE AT ZRE 4
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent Bk o

of the Group’s investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is

included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint MR B AT ZHEB BN ELEZHRE
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. BN ABLEZRER BN E AR ZHRE
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under BHEESATENTE R > BEGEE K
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant WERSYEHIEE o ZEFTE AT » N 28
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint BATZEREE B S840 L FE
venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained Wi > AR E RN V5T B 5 W AT 45 8
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying oo AR BEH KRR sk R AR A
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant ARG ECEZEREEAEHRE A FELE
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained BT IE Z B AT 22 BN RS IR o

investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or

loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host

contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition fair value and

any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are

assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion

of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative financial
instruments and equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or

indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, an investment property
and non-current assets classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the

relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

()

(i1)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

()

(i1)

(iii)

(@iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of

the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEEFEHEORMNE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item of
property, plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or
when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is
not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current
assets held for sale”. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition

and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Property, plant and equipment carried at revalued amounts in
the financial statements relating to periods ended before 30
September 1995 are not required to be regularly revalued when
the Group does not revalue their property, plant and equipment
subsequent to 1995. An annual transfer from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits is made for the difference between
the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an
asset and the depreciation based on the asset’s original cost.
On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the
revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is
transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost or valuation of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land under finance leases Over the lease terms

Buildings 2% — 10%
Leasehold improvements 10% — 33':%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% — 25%
Plant and machinery 10% — 20%
Motor vehicles 15% — 30%
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment property

An investment property is an interest in land and building
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such property is measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the investment property is stated at fair value, which

reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
investment property are included in the statement of profit or loss

in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of the
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or

loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amounts will be recovered principally through a sales transaction
rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the
asset must be available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of
such assets and its sale must be highly probable.

Non-current assets (other than investment properties and financial
assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for

sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful

life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Backlog contracts, licences and customer relationships

Backlog contracts, licences and customer relationships are stated
at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on the

straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Backlog contracts 3 years
Licenses 5 years
Customer relationships 6 years
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a

constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss on

the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements, the
entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and
buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEEFEHEORMNE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables,
and available-for-sale financial investments or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the
case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or

loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include the
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value presented as other income and gains and in the
statement of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for

“Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial

recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in other income and gains in the statement of profit
or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in other

operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
club debentures. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor

designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in other
income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired,
when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the statement
of profit or loss. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the
available-for-sale financial investments are reported as interest
income and dividend income, respectively and are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance with

the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,

such investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEEFEHEORMNE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group
may elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has
the ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable
future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective
interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be
impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,

but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and

obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of

consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for
which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are

not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate

computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on
the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or

has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the

recovery is credited to the statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not

reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is

impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the

statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there
is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the statement of profit of loss — is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the statement of
profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after impairment are

recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to which

the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEEFEHEORMNE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments

in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable

transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables

and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on

their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective

interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is

included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair
value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative

amortisation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and
includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. In the case of work in progress and self-produced
finished goods, cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be

incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral

part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at

banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2017

B0 e b £

i B0 T < R AT el S i i - R
R e

BB S Rl E AR — BN DA I 2 A
AR Z I3 — SR AU BB AR
AR BRAETT > ML R B AETT > JU AL 2 N
T R D T > A B 2 M T <
ZFERUNAEIR 25 R W

kot MR GE T

W FEBUAT o] T HUAT Z 5 HRE A DL 8 Dol &
WS BRI AT > SO B A SR
BRI REHEAT o P HG B <6 bl 8 7 % 0 bl £ A
T B B AR DA O

i1

88 15 A e 7] 8 B 8 2 BARE A
W o A DL IMHEF 2 8 AR B Z A
JRAS ~ WA ~ AR B 5 B I 8 0 B
TR S8 BT 7 A 2 SL A AR o T B e B R
PR D7 T > JRAS LG B AR - BERA TR
0 A A e P A3 I o T 5 B DI R
A0 25 B I S et A 1R 5 ) B2 A AR
o

BERBREFMHEA

AR ERERN S > Bae kB eSS EEA
T8 F BB B BT 1A K S0 B s i I
B o T % S B AT B IR R O R B
& o AR EEAKN > B FRER
Jilg N\ I 2 2 S0 R PR B8 = > P
BRI RUE 2 ATE L > WA AL B &4
Bz HLRHR 43 o

WA G M B R VLR > BlE R BLESEEA
T FEBlE R BAITE A BRI RRR g2
REWIAE K -



Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 FEEHEHEORE (5)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax W 58

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax P A5 B B35 i A AL TE R e BiIE o B E S IR
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised INERZEEH A B Z AN EISENZ H Al
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or S B EH BN RERS TR o

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount EWIRE G E AR > TR OB BN s
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, BIRORBHEM 2 PR (LR » WEEARLE
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or HEXRMAEBRR A BB LER » 27E %
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking BB RS S PRERZS48GE -

into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all R LB TE B A RS R R M A 2 B e A g
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between FHRER P ZREEZ A kA4 A
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 5 e s o

for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary Bl JRE SRR T IRtk 2= W i R A IR AL TEH A

differences, except: i > M ¢

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial . IR R TR e — AR 5 A 5 W Ik
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a BREAMZEERABMES » RN E
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the TR 5 W > A 5T s A B0 SRR s A
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit BRE R R 2 IEERIE A BRI s &
nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated . A B A b g 4[] T R 2 A 2 IR I A T
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the M 25 20 W] TH W 2 01 AR A A T R 98¢ 0] 22 B
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be & A T L % N T Z 180G 2 E SRR IRk
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences SEH R o

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary A AT AR 2 T R 24 - R 2 BLIEE
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any B B AT AT AR A FH Ba % i 18 =2 45 4 35 o e ol s R
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent WEFLIE G B o MEEPR N T RE A E SR g A DL %
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against S AT FI IR RS - R 2 BIE G E AR
which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of BB EEBA TR M

unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible . EOIRER—TER G M %R 5 WA E
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of Atz EEsABEmES: s RRNERFRS
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business IRF A 6 3 6 51 s A 3 e SR 5 A 3k s TR R
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects MR IEERIEEEIRA s &

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated . A B i A R B 2 N B 2 B T AR
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax Z AU S s BRI G E DL ]
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable B HY B 2 7 ek 25 4 7 AT FE R R 2R A 3% ]
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable T AT Re A JE % A] Bh P E SRR %8 A1) 1K 0 By B
future and taxable profit will be available against which the FHT P S M T AW R o

temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same

taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with

ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) commission income, when the relevant service has been

rendered;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial

asset;

(d) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established; and

(e) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease

terms.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2017

i #3-Bt (50)

8 0B A5 L 7 R T L A o R AR
S 09K 2 A T AR M R B i R T A
sl A 90 S 5 W B Ak o R Z
5 0B 58 S M o B0 R O R A o Sl
A2 ] BB A 0 M SR v ) O A S A A
TEU A ) FH AT DR

9 0B 750 T 7 D M DA O A B R R R
5 6 IR TR 2 R A o SO R 4
oK Ol o T B o o 2 B R e (B 1) it
% o

il A 5 T AT R R I 300 B I I I
VH RS LR A B UH B B (] — HE B
) B [F] — 750 2 4 I A > A 28 O T
A JiE £ 48 EAH S o

WA e 8

ik A T 2 35 T A 20 A6 075 ) 2 Sl B VT S M A
F > J5 3% T B 58 Y DA R -

(a) FREEE R AL o B R T OK LB % W sk
OB 7 > WA B R R 3 B A
M ZEHEE > FAHHENEZGMA
AT BT B 42 S R 5

(b) HHAMOA > B $2 B0 AH B R 1 5

(c) M B WCA e B FH R E B &R 5t
S FTER 2 R 2% TR #ic 4 ik T B #EE
AF 30 SN AR I (A ) R A R R AR B
4 WA HETE B B 2 4 A R R YR (L 2 R
X

(d) JBEBWCA > B IR B S Z A e E
W &

(e) HHAEWN > FA A4 DL ] LA st 4 o



Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 13% to 21% of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable

in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled

transactions”), if any option is granted to the eligible employees.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model or the Black-

Scholes model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed
as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are

also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as

additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that

an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a

liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are

recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,

respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars

at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing

rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at

the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on

the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable

profits together with future tax planning strategies.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. Changes to these key judgement and
estimates could materially affect the determination of whether there
is an impairment and the related amounts. If there are significant
adverse changes in the aforementioned judgement and estimates, it
may be necessary to record significant additional impairment charge
in future periods. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2017
was HK$43,680,000 (2016: HK$49,580,000). Further details are

given in note 16.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables

The Group conducts impairment reviews of financial assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their carrying amounts may not be recoverable in accordance
with the relevant accounting standards. The Group makes its
estimates based on the ageing of its trade receivable balances,
customers’ creditworthiness, and historical write-off experience.
If the financial condition of its customers was to deteriorate so
that the actual impairment loss might be higher than expected,
the Group would be required to revise the basis of making the
allowance and its future results would be affected. At 31 March
2017, the provision for impairment of trade receivables was
HK$1,066,000 (2016: HK$1,106,000) and the carrying amount of
trade receivables was HK$551,098,000 (2016: HK$568,798,000).
At 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of deposits and other
receivables was HK$106,383,000 (2016: HK$111,301,000) and
no impairment loss was made (2016: Nil).

Provision for inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of the Group’s
inventories regularly and at the end of each reporting period,
and makes provision for obsolete items when events or change
in circumstances show that the carrying amount of inventories
may not be fully realisable or are no longer suitable for sale.
The specific factors considered by management in the estimation
of the provision include types of inventory, the conditions of
the inventory, expiration dates of the inventories, the forecast
inventory usage and sales. The carrying amount of inventories at
31 March 2017 was HK$273,836,000 (2016: HK$339,981,000).
Further details of which are included in note 20 to the financial

statements.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BB BER

INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on geographical areas and has two reportable

operating segments as follows:

(i) the Hong Kong segment is engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen
food products, ham and ham-related products, noodles and
the retailing of snack foods, confectionery and beverages,

and the operations of restaurants; and

(i) the Mainland China segment is engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen
food products, noodles, ham and ham-related products, and the

operations of restaurants.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax.
The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income,
dividend income and unallocated gains, gain on disposal/deemed
disposal of associates, finance costs, share of profits and losses
of associates and corporate and other unallocated expenses are

excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude available-for-sale investments, deferred
tax assets, tax recoverable, investments in associates, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and cash and cash

equivalents as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank borrowings,
tax payable and deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are

managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices.
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4. BB WER (B)

Geographical segments I B, 23 3B
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
ik Gl NG Bt
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
2L R ZZ2-E ZFAF 22t ZEAF
HKS$’000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$'000
BHTI Vi BT V3 BH T Vi
Segment revenue: ABOA :
Sales to external customers* HETFIRE P 2,030,204 2,004,350 918,085 937,118 2948289 2,941,468
Intersegment sales N g 11,450 9,662 194,868 212,255 206,318 221917
2,041,654 2,014,012 1,112,953 1,149,373 3,154,607 3,163,385
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment sales 1A G (206,318) (221,917)
Revenue A 2,948,289 2,941,468
Segment results AiES 67,589 86,660 26,952 (6,407) 94,541 80,253
Reconciliation: B -
Interest income FERA 3,497 2,224
Dividend income and unallocated gains Bt B KR 2RO 2% 20,257 2,478
Gain on disposal of associates WERS AT Z IS = 12,012
Gain on deemed disposal of associates PR A h & A
Mgk - 336
Finance costs g A (16,785) (16,764)
Share of profits and losses of associates  JEA5 2 A ) i K s 748 8,062

Corporate and other unallocated expenses /2 ) & 2LAl A 2HEC B 3¢

Profit before tax Bt Bl i A

(23,881) (22,024)

78,371 66,577
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

4. BB WER (B)

Geographical segments (continued) Tt B2y B (45)
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
Hik il PN At
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
SR ZBRNE ZR-UE 2R SR ZRNE
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BN T W BN T WL EW T HEWTL
Segment assets iR 1,139,995 1,189,527 882,392 997,823 2,022,387 2,187,350
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment receivables /3 REWGHKTEHE 8 (322,212 (338,131
Investments in associates REEAFRZRE 158,735 161,041
Corporate and other unallocated assets AT R ARG B 904,912 869,538
Total assets BEMAE 2,763,762 2,879,798
Segment liabilities M 376,341 340,026 310,965 339,765 687,306 679,791
Reconciliation: HE -
Elimination of intersegment payables TR 0 A s T 1 (322,212) (338,131)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities /27 LA 2Bl & 5 1,050,995 1,141,727
Total liabilities U Y 1,416,029 1,483,387
Other segment information: Kb WEH
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) TEW B SR seE
of trade receivables (WA ) 79 (60) 70 417 149 357
Write-down of slow-moving inventories a7 £ 4 990 12 5,588 1,920 6,578 1,932
Depreciation and amortisation T8 Sy 28,789 26,792 41,955 41,907 70,744 68,699
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 8 I 2 ) 2 W 38,306 - 61,740 - 100,046 -
Capital expenditure** B S 60,561 52,550 21,715 52,689 82,276 105,239
Non-current assets Jf B 195,114 234,459 461,941 542,058 657,055 776,517
* The revenue information above is based on the locations of the * DL B A B RE TS AR 48 H % B AE [ 48k i 3
customers. 4y o
*#*%  Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and ok ﬁﬁ%iﬁ?ﬁf@ﬁ%% R R TE
equipment, prepaid land lease payments, investment property and e 1 ' z o
F - H BaKIE ~ L lﬁ]\; A
other intangible assets including assets from the acquisition of a i SR BoR ﬁﬁ?%&ﬁﬂﬂ i
cubsidi JE B 355 WG — [ R B A ) Y o
ubsidiary.
sk DL b IR B A EORE )T R AR A T AE i 4

*#*%  The non-current assets information above is based on the locations
of the assets and excludes financial instruments, deferred tax assets
and investments in associates.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA ~ Befi BN B W g
GAINS
Revenue represents the invoiced value of goods sold, net of WATRBZIMEBEREHRE M BEHE
discounts and returns. An analysis of revenue, other income and o WA ~ Kb A RIS Z i T :

gains is as follows:

2017 2016
e S i ZEAF
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T
Revenue WA 2,948,289 2,941,468
Other income oAb B A
Bank interest income SATH WA 3,497 2,224
Commission income A4 WA 228 269
Dividend income BB A 591 13
Rental income M4 WA 1,245 1,261
Others H At 6,583 4,993
12,144 8,760
Gains €3
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 33) B B B W) 2 s (MY AE33) 100,046 -
Fair value gain on an investment property HEWEZ AN TFEHRE
(note 14) (Hfit14) 461 -
Gain on disposal of an available-for-sale H B 4 AR 5 W =2 Tt
investment stated at cost HEREZ WS = 688
Gain on disposal of associates H B I A W) Z e - 12,012
Gain on deemed disposal of associates PR A 5 00 A W) 2 W 2R - 336
Fair value gains: AP AR
Available-for-sale investments WAL ERE
(transfer from equity on disposal) (B IF B A 2 ) 16 -
Financial assets at fair value through N AL B R 35 AR
profit or loss P 4 i 19,650 1,777
120,173 14,813
132,317 23,573
6. FINANCE COSTS 6. FhYE A
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: g ARSI .
2017 2016
—Z2—Li ZR N
HKS$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Interest on bank and trust receipt loans SRITE R AE e iR ) B 16,785 16,764

= F - b E o WoW HE EA WA H
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BB A
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging: A4 ] 2 BB A e A O A0 B -
2017 2016
e S RS TERNE
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Kt BT T BIF o
Cost of inventories sold CEAE Z A 2,021,731 1,991,171
Depreciation Yreg 13 65,971 64,739
Amortisation of prepaid land FE AT o L AR I 2 A
lease payments 15 2,952 3,202
Amortisation of other intangible assets I i 2 1 & 7 2 #f & 17 1,821 758
Minimum lease payments under BB Z KM 4
operating leases 183,047 181,590
Auditors’ remuneration” A% B il ) 4 4,037 3,825
Employee benefit expense e BRI B (FRE#HES
(excluding directors’ and chief Bl wATBON B 4
executive’s remuneration (note 8)): (HaEs)) -
Wages, salaries, allowances TE -~ FH4 - @i &
and benefits in kind YA 368,135 351,549
Pension scheme contributions® RN 1 R 17,330 15,281
385,465 366,830
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of & &% ¥ - WFE &
property, plant and equipment and BHEEH RTEA LA E
prepaid land lease payments, net KIEZ WGHE > FH 5,515 1,709
Foreign exchange differences, net [ i % B > AR 2,839 6,677
Direct operating expenses WHBREEEEZ
(including repairs and maintenance) HEREHZ
arising from a rental-earning (45 41 T R 38)
investment property 782 902
Impairment of trade receivables** R WA B R K DA+ 21 149 357
Write-down of slow-moving T B 17 1 B e
inventories®** 6,578 1,932
* At 31 March 2017, the Group had no forfeited contributions o R TE-BEZHZ T H o ARE M
available to reduce its contributions to the pension scheme in future KCRT A DA AR 2R A IR AR &R B Bk (=%
years (2016: Nil). =N JE) o
**  The impairment of trade receivables is included in “Other operating = KRB HRFZWMECEERGEHER L2
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. [ Al B 2 IR o
##%  The write-down of slow-moving inventories is included in “Cost of ek MBI CAFRGEHAER L2 THE
sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. NI~
#  Of the above auditors’ remuneration, HK$3,086,000 (2016: * bl O B 4 3 3,086,000 08 (ZF — A
HK$2,928,000) is payable to the Company’s auditor for audit and 4R 1 2,928,0009 7T) & ME AT T A 4w A% 2
related services. A% B B e s o
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. MY R wmiT BN H &
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, FERNEEAEETHRAEMESIZ EWHRA - F
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), W\ 5383(1)(a) ~ (b) > () (DDA K 2
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 " (WEEFNRZER) P2z HEmT :

of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2017 2016
R4 RN
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT I
Fees 4 640 640
Other emoluments: H AT 4 -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind i~ R EYA 7,005 7,373
Pension scheme contributions AR ATl =2 Bk 58 181
7,063 7,554
7,703 8,194
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) B IePATER
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FERNEHTEILIERTERFZAEWT
the year were as follows:
2017 2016
it S S ZR N
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T
Leung Mei Han PLES ] 80 80
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter Bk A= 80 80
Tsunao Kijima I S A 80 80
240 240
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent AR AT 2 R R TR IR AT
non-executive directors during the year (2016: Nil). (ZF—RF ) -

:?*t@ﬁiﬁ'ﬂl%%@ﬁl‘ﬁ&ﬂ



Notes to Financial Statements

S 285 i B

Year ended 31 March 2017 BE _FE—tHE=ZH=+—HILEE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. WY REMITHABMAE (H)
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(continued)
(b) Executive directors and the chief executive b)) UTEFERENTHRAR
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
s B R Bk4e
e A EiF PAlT 3 A4
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
Vi V. 3 T T
2017 - Sl s
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen Egr 80 3,600" - 3,680
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly* WER 80 1,215 18 1,313
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SCIKFE 80 - 4 84
Wu Wing Biu W 7Kk A 80 1,079 18 1,177
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson EEm 80 1,111 18 1,209
400 7,005 58 7,463
2016 ZEANE
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen ki 80 3,600 - 3,680
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly* LiES 4 80 1,440" 63 1,583
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis Ik 80 - 4 84
Wu Wing Biu B KA 80 1,136™ 56 1,272
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [ 80 1,197 58 1,335
400 7,373 181 7,954
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (continued)

A Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits
in kind is an estimated rental of HK$3,600,000 (2016:
HK$3,600,000) for a director’s quarter owned by the Group.

* Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits
in kind is a discretionary bonus of HK$270,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2016.

*#* Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits
in kind is a discretionary bonus of HK$95,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2016.

##* Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits
in kind is a discretionary bonus of HK$126,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2016.

# Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is also the chief executive
of the Group.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year (2016: Nil).

8. i Fedg WA BN HMH 4 (4)

(b) BATH P R w5 AT BN H (50

A RLEE R Rk A EERE R E R 2R TR
SR BER Bk %4 R R A A B
Z A 5L 423,600,0009 0 (& — N4E ¢
3,600,000¥ 70 ) °

*OREZFR-ANEEAZTHIEFE S 4
TR A 4 ~ HERG R B A 7% 75 5 T8
#1270,000% G ©

o BRECR-NEZHA=ZTF—HILEE &
T F s 4~ HEHS R B R 25 5 15 AR
#1.95,000% JC ©

sk R ZBR-NEZH=Z+—HIEE > &
TR I 4 ~ I R B R 25 5 G AE

#1.126,000% 7T ©

o OHIRE R RAREZ B RTBAE -

N 25 R AT BON BB AR R
B PR T B IR RO H U T (%
NG ) o
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
(2016: four) directors which included the chief executive, details
of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2016:
one) highest paid employee who is neither a director nor chief

executive of the Company are as follows:

9. 4 357 B 3se 5 O

9o T L I B R E LA Y fr (B
BREITBANER) (ZF N4 0A) » Z%#ES
Z R HUR B SCHERES o JLER— L (RN
A ) T g v R B (3 SR A A W] S R
FATBON ) AR B2 BRI F

2017 2016

- S S TR AR

HKS$°000 HK$’000

T T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fid > B EY R 1,716 2,640
Pension scheme contributions BRI A58 Z ek 18 96
1,734 2,736

The remuneration of the highest paid non-director and non-chief
executive employee fell within the band of HK$1,500,001 to
HK$2,000,000 (2016: HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000).

10. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2016: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/

jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

iR E AR HITBAN BB Z 4
1,500,001 7C F2,000,0008E 76 = 4L 51 (—
F—N4 12,500,001 78 3,000,000 5T ) °

10. i 158

T Vs P A5 B G H A TR A 98 T A 2 Al R
B A H216.5% (ZF— N4 1 16.5%) Z BLRAE
WA o Al b [ 2 R SRR R P 2 I TG AR B
ABE BB MR R R BT

2017 2016
it Sl S TN
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT W T
Current — Hong Kong -

Charge for the year A4 BEBLIH 16,164 18,942

Current — Elsewhere ] — At s
Charge for the year ARAE BE B IE 10,004 8,224
Overprovision in prior years A AT LI P T (78) (353)
Deferred (note 28) BAE (M FE28) (1,112) (5,451)
Total tax charge for the year ARAE P 2 HA B IE X 24,978 21,362
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10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. B 738 (#45)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax FRER A 2y | I WG A W B R
at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which the VA IR 2 W B R E A HL I A B B i v A
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the Z B IE S R D MR OB R R S 2 B IR S Hh
tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the W > DL Rdd R (B 3k e Bl %) BREE PR Bl R
applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax HHRWMT -

rate, are as follows:

2017 2016
e Sl i 2 TENE
HK$’000 % HK$°000 %
BT I BT

Profit before tax [ 0 iy s A 78,377 66,577
Tax at the applicable tax rates 3 TR 3R 5T B B IH 7,791 9.9 9,313 14.0
Adjustments in respect of current tax T3 =2 B T A 5 A

of previous periods (78) (0.1) (353) 0.5)
Profits and losses attributable JRE AW Wt 28 2 ] i

to associates B 18 21 = (1,415) 2.1
Income not subject to tax WEHRBLZ WA (6,898) (8.8) (492) 0.7)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT AR F0 0

Z 3 4,085 5.2 2,448 3.7

Effect of withholding tax of 10% FHBL0% (—F—N4F

(2016: 5%) on distributable profits of 2 5%) BAE M

the Group’s subsidiaries in Z B K BB A ] 2

Mainland China ] it 43 Ik e B 2 2 128 0.2 97 0.1
Tax losses utilised from previous periods 5 Ff 1% £5 # fHl > A6 78 5 48 (62) 0.1) (1,113) (1.7)
Deferred tax assets not recognised KRR 2 IR AT B 24,930 31.8 17,061 25.6
Deferred tax assets recognised in THE TR A B = MR R B I

respect of previous periods - - (5,013) (7.5)
Others Fofts (4,939) (6.2) 829 1.2
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate  F%ANEE [H B B FL R 51 H

ZBH 24,978 31.9 21,362 32.1

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to FE AN W 2 A W 2 BLIE 362,710,0008 0 (—F
HK$2,710,000 (2016: HK$2,924,000) is included in “Share of —INAE 12,924,000 50) CRIFERFEAIBEE
profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of Z AL S AT G REEBIRA -

profit or loss.

TR o b OE R e WOW KM OE R A
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Year ended 31 March 2017 & E _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H I4FE

11. DIVIDENDS 11. BBt &
2017 2016
—R— LA —FAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT I
Interim — HK3.0 cents (2016: HK3.0 cents) 0 — 45 JB 3% 4 JBt 3.0 Il
per ordinary share (ZF— N4 3.08140) 11,528 11,528
Declared special interim dividend — EL B R4 1 P B B —
HK30.0 cents (2016: Nil) B Ji A 98 230,09 il
per ordinary share (ZF—R 4 %) 115,277 -
Proposed final — HK6.5 cents SR R — B T B 6. S AIl
(2016: HK6.5 cents) per ordinary share (ZF—4 : 6.5u1l) 24,977 24,977
151,782 36,505

12

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on
30 June 2017, a special interim dividend of HK30.0 cents per
ordinary share totalling approximately HK$115,277,000 was
declared by the Company.

The special interim dividend and final dividend are based on
384,257,640 ordinary shares (2016: 384,257,640 ordinary shares),
being the total number of issued shares of the Company at the
year end. The special interim dividend and final dividend which
were declared or proposed after the end of the reporting period,
have not been recognised as liabilities at the end of the reporting

period.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016
in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive
ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 March 2017
and 2016.
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Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. 7 2% vi) 3% S0 0 4 P AT 4 WAV 4 OBt
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY A (%)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based TR R B R A A
on:
2017 2016
L4 RN
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
Earnings A
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders #5345 B e A< K2 44 3 23 )
of the Company, used in the basic and i Al Z AR 28 w) 3%
diluted earnings per share calculation WE 25 P A & MEAG 2 A 50,274 45,827

Number of shares

BBy H
2017 2016
e S etis RN
Shares JB By
Weighted average number of ordinary shares #4245 [ b AR % # 3 2 F1)
in issue during the year used in the basic AR O A
and diluted earnings per share calculation Z INRET- 1 8 384,257,640 384,257,640

:?*t@ﬁiﬁ'ﬂl%%@ﬁl‘ﬁ&ﬂ
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Year ended 31 March 2017 BE _FE—tHE=ZH=+—HILEE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. 912 ~ W5 Beak i

Land  Leasehold  Furniture,

and improve- fixtures and Plant and Motor Construction
buildings ments  equipment  machinery vehicles  in progress Total
T AT Bl R
y3 53 R REREH BB HWE IR At
HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HK$°000
#WTE BT #WTc  #WTx BT #EWTx BRI
31 March 2017 “Z-LEZA=Z1+—H
At 31 March 2016 and REB—AEZAZF—H R

at 1 April 2016 ZR-NENA—A

Cost or valuation N 492,608 242,262 126,077 231,880 52,662 926 1,146,415

Accumulated depreciation 2% (167,765) (87,841) (96,057)  (149,889) (42,676) - (544,228)

Net carrying amount e A 324,843 154,421 30,020 81,991 9,986 926 602,187
At 1 April 2016, REZ—AENA—H »

net of accumulated BHRRGE

depreciation 324,843 154,421 30,020 81,991 9,986 926 602,187
Additions E 45,892 17,340 8,621 7,579 2,844 - 82,276
Disposal of subsidiaries HEREAE (Hitz3)

(note 33) (23,131) (8,017) (264) (218) (225) - (31,855)
Disposals/write-off hiYE G (790) (13,320 (1,483) (537) (80) - (16,210)
Depreciation provided ENTBEE

during the year (10,964) (30,756) (9,072) (10,601) (4,578) - (65,971)
Transfers 2§74 - - 888 - - (888) -
Transfers to assets held HREREHEEE

for sale (note 25) (Hiit2s) (45,307) - - - - - (45,307)
Exchange realignment [ J (10,615) (6,825) 977) (4,132) (214) (38) (22,801)
At 31 March 2017, net of ~ RZ=F—LHE=A=+—H

accumulated depreciation B NER Rt T#E 279,928 112,843 27,133 74,082 7,733 - 502,319
At 31 March 2017: R-B—LHEZA=Z+—H:

Cost JA 391,049 215,972 127,553 219,264 50,733 - 1,004,571

Accumulated depreciation R (111,121) (103,129) (99,820) (145,182) (43,000 - (502,252)

Net carrying amount e 279,928 112,843 21,733 74,082 7,733 - 502,319
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. 3% > Bl B ie i ()

(continued)
Land Leasehold Furniture,
and improve-  fixtures and Plant and Motor ~ Construction
buildings ments  equipment  machinery vehicles  in progress Total
T HERT B~ BERA
Ry R KB LR Kb e IR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000
BRTC  BWFTL #FTr ENTo ENTC BFTL BFT
31 March 2016 “E-NEZNZET-H
At 1 April 2015 RZZ—HENA—H
Cost or valuation AR A 484,281 187,763 119,145 216,192 52,756 37,523 1,097,660
Accumulated depreciation BRI (159,282) (71,994) (94,406) (144,609) (39,056) - (509,347)
Net carrying amount e A 324,999 115,769 24,739 71,583 13,700 37,523 588,313

At 1 April 2015, net of REZZ—THENA—H »

accumulated depreciation ~ CIBRRFHI# 324,999 115,769 24,739 71,583 13,700 37,523 588,313
Additions wE 54 59,865 13,043 15,064 1,677 4,102 93,805
Acquisition of a subsidiary W% F g 24 51 (# #£32)

(note 32) - 813 1,902 1,508 460 - 4,683
Disposals/write-off e/ (1,200 (1,654) (2,310 (62) (140) - (5,366)
Depreciation provided ENTBEE

during the year (12,253) (27,868) (7.823) (11,243) (5,552) - (64,739)
Transfers LUk 19,802 11,725 1,147 1527 - (40,201) -
Exchange realignment JE 3o A % (6,559) (4,229) (678) (2,386) (159) (498) (14,509)

At 31 March 2016, net of ~ RZF—ANE=H=+—H >

accumulated depreciation TNk EEHI# 324,843 154,421 30,020 81,991 9,986 926 602,187
At 31 March 2016: REB—AFEZA=Z+—H

Cost or valuation FAR A 492,608 242,262 126,077 231,880 52,662 926 1,146,415

Accumulated depreciation B # (167,765) (87,841) (96,057) (149,889) (42,676) - (544,228)

Net carrying amount W T (E 324,843 154,421 30,020 81,991 9,986 926 602,187
Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings, which are 2 A B B A AL AV 2 LS A B s TR
situated in Hong Kong, were revalued at 15 July 1993, by C.Y. —NWNIWEFH T+ HH BB L HEESERMEE
Leung & Company Limited, independent professionally qualified PR B BT AR AR EL - HE -
valuers. The leasehold land and buildings were revalued at open M ERBITHEZAB TG REEDR
market value, based on their existing use. Since the year ended Fiffic BBRE—NWIWNE=H=1+—H IR
31 March 1994, no further revaluations of the Group’s leasehold s A ARE ERER TSRS 169880AA
land and buildings have been carried out, as the Group has relied BEZ Bk R A H AR 50 DL AR A
upon the exemption granted under the transitional provisions in ¥~ WE MM ETEA > MOF ME AR
paragraph 80AA of HKAS 16 from the requirement to carry out EHZHE L R E o T
future revaluations of its property, plant and equipment which Z—LHE=Z=A=1+—H  AEMEE T Lk#EE
were stated at valuation at that time. As at 31 March 2017, the NEAMB RN EC B AR EREEE -
relevant leasehold land and building was classified under assets — 3 2R WOA B EE2S o

held for sale in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Further details are included in note 25.

:?*t@ﬁiﬁ-ﬂl%%@ﬁl‘ﬁﬁﬂ



Notes to Financial Statements

S 285 i B

Year ended 31 March 2017 & E _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H I4FE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 14. 8t G5 Y%

2017 2016

—2— L RN

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT Vedioln

Carrying amount at beginning of year W) Z R AL 19,362 20,125
Gain from a fair value adjustment (note 5) AR Wets (MaEs) 461 -
Exchange realignment [ b, 34 3% (1,216) (763)
Carrying amount at end of year AR Z MR TENE 18,607 19,362

The Group’s investment property represents an industrial property
in Mainland China. The Group’s investment property was
revalued on 31 March 2017 based on a valuation performed by
DTZ Cushman & Wakefield Limited, independent professionally
qualified valuers, at HK$18,607,000. Each year, the Group’s
finance team decides to appoint which external valuer to be
responsible for the external valuation of the Group’s property.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
The Group’s finance team has discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is

performed for annual financial reporting.

The investment property is leased to an associate of the Group
under an operating lease, further summary details of which are
included in notes 34(a) and 36(a)(iv) to the financial statements.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment property are

included on page 188 of the annual report.
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s investment property:

14. e E WX ()
BT

R BI AR B W 3 Z PR R

Fair value measurement as at 31 March 2017 using

R L= = HZ A TGHER A

Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

6y ERBE  ERAWHLE

i B A PN 1y iy A\ AFL
(F—H) (%) (5B=)) b
Recurring fair value measurement for: HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
YL FEH i 0 Ve A i W T YT W T W T
Industrial property TEWE - - 18,607 18,607

Fair value measurement as at 31 March 2016 using

RER-AEZ] = HZAPEG R

Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

i HRAELE  EARATEE

R 1 i A AE i A ME
(—)) E=0E) (=) frat
Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
VAT H AR P AP E G BT BT BT HW T
Industrial property TEY% - - 19,362 19,362

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements

between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3

(2016: Nil).

N g R T A RS A M
AEEE > T 5 = 0 S O\ B 2 UL (2
NG ) o
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Year ended 31 March 2017 & E _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H I4FE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 14. B EWE (5)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AT (%)
Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key T B 2 4 Al LT R D A B A e
inputs to the valuation of the investment property: i A\ A B -
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Weighted average
LR KA v B Wyl A AL THE 125 ¥
2017 2016
S L A ks
Industrial property Direct capitalisation Market rental value HK$26 HK$28
T %% method (per square metre and per month) 2645 28T
HIREAE WAL (R ITR R BEA)
Term yield (per annum) 5.75% 6.00%
W AR R (B4R )
Reversionary yield (per annum) 6.25% 6.50%
15 55 W g5 % (F47)
The Group has determined that the current use of the industrial A AR B O E W% TE e R E T 2 e At i
property is the highest and best use at the measurement date. HZ e R & -
Under the direct capitalisation method, a property’s fair value WIBEZEE AR - WEA VIR Z Y %
is estimated based on the normalised net operating income Jit 85 20 2 B — A 3 4 WA Bk D)L AR AL L R i
generated by the property, which is divided by the capitalisation fli &t o
rate.
A significant increase (decrease) in the market rental value would 7 B ALAE KR B (A ) B s g
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the TE KRB (A ) o (A W 25 23 R A8 ik
investment property. A significant increase (decrease) in the term R Z KR ) & S8 E W N A
yield rate and reversionary yield rate in isolation would result in a B K W v A (B4 m) o

significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of the investment

property.
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Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 15. AT 4 AL A% K
2017 2016
—2— L RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Vedion
Carrying amount at beginning of year AR 2 R T A 102,551 109,874
Recognised during the year SE N HERR (2,952) (3,202)
Disposal & (1,581) -
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 33) M E AR (Hf7E33) (615) -
Exchange realignment [FEE b, 3 2% (6,239) (4,121)
Carrying amount at end of year A & 2 W I E 91,164 102,551
Current portion included in prepayments, BIGE/ETHN#KE ~ 5T &K%
deposits and other receivables o R WAk T =2 9 B R 4 (2,887) (3,156)
Non-current portion e BT 88,277 99,395
During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group acquired J& BEZZFZLFE=EA=ZT—HIEER » K4
BB R A RAF (“GZ Panxi”), which operates a restaurant P W Y M T R T R W) (TR e
on a piece of land (the “Land”) in Liwan District, Guangzhou, Bl) o M EAE P IEANRLEFE (THEH])
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). At 31 March 2017, JB N 2% b — R e ([ L)) BB WK »
the carrying value of the Land was HK$37,114,000 (2016: RoF—LHE=H=Z+—H » LM REME
HK$40,917,000). In the opinion of the directors, based on the #37,114,0008 76 (= — A 4 1 40,917,000
advice from the Group’s external legal advisors, GZ Panxi has JG) o IBAREEIE Z AEEEER > EER
the right to use the Land and occupy the buildings thereon for its By o BN PEE A REGE 5% 1 H Ak P AR 9 s
restaurant operations, and upon the payment of the land premium, L MEERERRZA > DR AT 1
the Group can obtain the land use right certificate for the Land. B 1% » A 45 3] W) 3 B 22 - bl REE o

:?*t@ﬁiﬁ'lﬂl%ﬂ%@ﬁl‘ﬁ&ﬂ
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16. GOODWILL 16. B %
HK$’000
BT
At 31 March 2015: R HAEZA=Z+—H
Cost A 40,104
Accumulated impairment T (3,292)
Net carrying amount T R 36,812
Cost at 1 April 2015, net of accumulated impairment  * ~F—HAEPMH —H ZJHA »
TR R EHR A 36,812
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 32) Wl b g A R (M EE32) 14,090
Exchange realignment FEE 54, 3% %% (1,322)
At 31 March 2016 R_F—ANEZHA=+—H 49,580
At 31 March 2016 and at 1 April 2016: N_F—ANE=ZA=1+—HK
“F-NENA—H
Cost JRA 52,872
Accumulated impairment T (3,292)
Net carrying amount R TG VML 49,580
Cost at 1 April 2016, net of accumulated impairment A~ ZF—N4EMH —H Z B4
T BR R EH A 49,580
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) 8 S A W) (M EE33) (3.929)
Exchange realignment FE 3, 5% %% (1,971)
At 31 March 2017 RoF-HE=ZA=Z+—H 43,680
At 31 March 2017: MR —tLE=ZH=1—H:
Cost A 46,972
Accumulated impairment BEHE (3,292)
Net carrying amount YR T ML 43,680
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Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

16. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
units is as follows:

16. ¥ % (A1)
2 5 0 3

43 S 2 B 4 A A B AL T OB R TR A
T

2017 2016

it RN

HK$°000 HK$’000

i3 n Vodia an

Trading business I E 16,065 17,133
Lunch box and tuck shop services R T /INE s 2

operation (the “Catering business”) (TEMRER]) 14,090 14,090

Mainland restaurant operation [N Hb 2 i 2 11,544 12,311

Poultry business REBEW = 4,065

Others Ho Al 1,981 1,981

43,680 49,580

Mainland restaurant operation, trading business and Catering

business cash-generating units

The recoverable amounts of the Mainland restaurant operation
cash-generating unit, the trading business cash-generating
unit and the Catering business cash-generating unit have been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 13% (2016: 13%). The growth rates used
to extrapolate the cash flows beyond the five-year period were
(i) 0% (2016: 0%) for the Mainland restaurant operation cash-
generating unit; (ii) 0% (2016: 0%) for the trading business cash-
generating unit; and (iii) 0% (2016: 3%) for the Catering business

cash-generating unit.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
Mainland restaurant operation cash-generating unit, the trading
business cash-generating unit and the Catering business cash-
generating unit for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016. The
following describes each key assumption on which management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment

testing of goodwill:

P b BEHER T~ B 59 R 5 RAE KB Bl 2
HApr

N BBEEGBRESELAMN B EEB&E
A B A i 3 5 B 4 2 LA 2 R R R OE
T AR o AR AT o o AR R A A B
i T A3t v v 2 A 2 B B S A T B 4 3
FHE o BIAREM AT Z B BIR13% (2%
—NEE 1 13%) o MIBAAEM M Z B E&HRM R R
T ¢ )R B R B A A AL 0% (2
B—ANE:0%) s (VEDEBB S EERNS
0% (ZF—N4E : 0%) 5 R(iD)VEREBGBE&E
AL R50% (ZF— N4 1 3%) °

M HERE R -LER-FR-AFEZNH
=t Bk AR B Py R B B B 4 AR
B~ B 5 SR B 4 i A LA B R R R B4
He B 2 A P O B T Bk o AR 4
e A Lo A ) B T T BR A 2 % AR
C VLI AT T 1 0
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Year ended 31 March 2017 & E _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H I4FE

16. GOODWILL (continued) 16. 752 (4)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Mainland restaurant operation, trading business and Catering

business cash-generating units (continued)

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,

increased for expected efficiency improvements.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and

reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Purchase price inflation — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to inventory price inflation is the forecast price indices
during the budget year from where inventories are sourced.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on expected
efficiency improvements, discount rates and purchase price
inflation are consistent with external information sources.

Poultry business cash-generating unit

In the prior year, the recoverable amount of the poultry business
cash-generating unit was based on fair value less costs of
disposal. Consistent to the external sources of information,
management regarded that the prices of the land relating to the
poultry business cash-generating unit, being the most sensitive
to its recoverable amount, was the key assumption to the
determination of fair value less costs of disposal of this cash-
generating unit. The land of the poultry business cash-generating
unit was valued on 31 March 2016 by DTZ Cushman &
Wakefield Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers,
using the direct comparison approach. This meant that the
valuation performed by the valuers was based on active market
prices, significantly adjusted for the difference in the nature,
location or condition of the specific land. During the year, the
Group has disposed of the poultry business cash-generating unit.
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TR L3R — A B (A b Bk 2 P R TG 3%
TERAF B A A7 B R TR M 2 T B R A R A -

ST AR SO - B BUR AR LRk &
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W FAR > FB 5 B4 A A B W] i I
T AR 48 O B U6k 1) 5 A B A o 4 B R A B
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Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

16. GOODWILL (continued) 16. ¥ 2% (74)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) P DA AR (A9
Poultry business cash-generating unit (continued) FEEHEH 2 ELEHE ()
Based on the significant inputs used, the fair value measurement WERRAZERGAE  BREAFHEEEAE
was categorised as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. During NEEPEERNIEEE =g  BRE_F A4
the year ended 31 March 2016, there were no transfers between ZA=Z+T—HILFE > F—fgRE g Z M
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The MR A FEF R 5 =g M A sl
following significant unobservable input was used in determining ZHER - N _FE—-NFEZH=Z+—H  FHEE
the fair value of the land as at 31 March 2016. Tz AP IR > DLR T KON WA g A B
®H -
Significant unobservable valuation input: RS W] LA A i A
Range
i
2016
RN
Price per square metre HK$363 to HK$783
BV J5 R RS 363 L E783W L
A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated price per square w887 J7 R AEAE KRB (i) & B8NP
metre would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value. fERWE EF CF ) o

:?*t@ﬁiﬁ'ﬂl%%@ﬁl‘ﬁ&ﬂ
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Year ended 31 March 2017 BE _FE—tHE=ZH=+—HILEE

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. 3ok S 08 ¥
Backlog Customer
contracts Licences relationships Total
MEFH e et %P % Wt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T BT
Cost at 1 April 2015 RB—FAENH—HZ WA - - - -
Acquisition of a subsidiary W S WY 4 W) (M it 32)
(note 32) 5,464 408 879 6,751
Amortisation provided during RS (M FE7)
the year (note 7) (667) (34) (57) (758)
At 31 March 2016 N _F—-NFE=ZH=+—H 4,797 374 822 5,993
At 31 March 2016 and No-FE-ANEZHA=ZFT—HBK
at 1 April 2016: R -AENA—A ¢
Cost TR A 5,464 408 879 6,751
Accumulated amortisation PR o (667) (34) (57) (758)
Net carrying amount R T 4,797 374 822 5,993
Cost at 1 April 2016, net of REZF-AENH—HZ
accumulated amortisation AR s 1B B A1 A 4,797 374 822 5,993
Amortisation provided during AN RS (HE7)
the year (note 7) (1,602) (82) (137) (1,821)
At31 March 2017 Ro-Z—tEZA=1+—H 3,195 292 685 4,172
At 31 March 2017: R-F—tLE=ZA=+—H:
Cost B A 5,464 408 879 6,751
Accumulated amortisation LR 0 (2,269) (116) (194) (2,579)
Net carrying amount R i 3,195 292 685 4,172
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

18. AR B A vl 2 B

2017 2016

e S S RN

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT Vot an

Share of net assets FEAY & P A 158,735 161,041

The Group’s trade payable balances with the associates are

A S ) BLIG  ON ) Z E AT B2 5 SRR A R TR

disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements. T B e A BB 26 ©
Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: FEBEEARGFEHENT -
Percentage
Place of of ownership
Particulars incorporation/ interest
of issued registration attributable to Principal
Name shares held and business the Group activities
HHC# kWb 7 4 19 M AN
# JBe £ it Hal RERNE  HAEERTAR ER >3
Calbee Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 50.0 Manufacturing
Company Limited 57 g of snack foods
RYEBIWA R AT ANE3
VY PP A £ B AR A ] O Paid-up capital PRC/Mainland 50.0 Manufacturing
BOR AR China of snack foods
v M
Want Want Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Trading in
Company Limited @@ 78 piavis snack foods
IEE JEE PO A R A ] i MG
Lotte Four Seas Limited @G Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Investment
LERPUWA R AR o ipild B holding
BB
Cheers Cafe Limited ©® Ordinary shares Hong Kong 22.2 Investment
WIKR KA R AR oo 98 B W holding
BB
J&E M R B PR A R G Paid-up capital PRC/Mainland 22.2 Restaurant
B BA China operations
LA PN WL
i SRR PR A F] G Paid-up capital PRC/Mainland 22.2 Restaurant
BB e A China operations
LA PN R

TR o b OE R e WOW KM OE R A
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Year ended 31 March 2017 & E _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H I4FE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. A W % A v 2 ¥ (B)

(continued)

Notes: Vi

(i) Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm () Ik U 2k 6 E] S T B Ak A Bk A 4%
of the Ernst & Young global network HoAl i B 2w F 5

(ii) The financial years of these associates are not coterminous with (i) % S5 U 4 A ) Y B B4R I B SR M AR R
that of the Group and have financial year ending 31 December. HBBEEEFI AT _A=1T—H « &%
These associates use 31 December as their financial year end date T oAZ B A HMBUEELARH 2B A
to conform with their holding companies’ reporting date or statutory FAHEEER AT Z 28HH Bk EoRMA -

requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group disposed of its BECE-NFE=ZH=1T—HILEE > A4EH
entire 30% equity interests in Meiji-Four Seas Company Limited AR YA R A 7 &M R R RE
and Guangzhou Meiji Confectionery Company Limited for a cash FRA T 2 2 30% B HE » B4R 18 %30,000,000
consideration of HK$30,000,000. T o

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the FEHRR AU Lk R RN EHEE 2 R A
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the K5 Bl 4 [ 2 B K HR 40 5 A 2 A AR [
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the BT BEBEWFIGTHZE AR NS
Group. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion TR It -

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The financial years of the above associates are coterminous with MW S O B 2 B W AR R B A 4 1] B AR BE
that of the Group, except for associates as mentioned in note H— > M b SO kGO IE P 2t 2 62 A | B
(ii) above, for which the consolidated financial statements are B o f A BA T SR A 25 J A 4 1E) 7 B AR BE
adjusted for the material transactions between their financial year B HZBZERZGEL -

end date and the Group’s year end date.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information TEEEAEBRMENTEAERNEZS AT Z
of the Group’s associates that are not individually material: BRI B G R :
2017 2016
—F—-Li TR N
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T
Share of the associates’ profit for the year R A Y 7 2 R 4R 1 i ) 748 8,062
Share of the associates’ other JRE A Tk 7 2 R HE At 2 THI S 4R
comprehensive loss (3,396) (3,712)
Share of the associates’ total JRE A Tt 8 23 B 48 2w
comprehensive income/(loss) Wz, E#R) (2,648) 4,350
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AR AR R W A ) 2 BB Y
investments in associates FS TR 158,735 161,041
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19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

19. w4 B B

INVESTMENTS
2017 2016
e S S ZE AR
HK$’000 HKS$’000
W T EWETT
Listed equity investments, at fair value bR o A TE 204 367
Club debentures, at fair value TITER » A FE 627 627
Unlisted equity investments, at cost e L RERR A » AR 357 357
1,188 1,351

During the year, the net gain in respect of the Group’s available-
for-sale investments recognised in other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$39,000 (2016: loss of HK$64,000). A gain of
HKS$16,000 was reclassified from other comprehensive income to

the statement of profit or loss during the year (2016: Nil).

The above investments consist of investments in equity securities
which were designated as available-for-sale financial assets and

have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

As at 31 March 2017, certain unlisted equity investments with a
carrying amount of HK$357,000 (2016: HK$357,000) were stated
at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors are of the opinion that
their fair value cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not

intend to dispose of them in the near future.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the gain of HK$688,000
arising from the disposal of an unlisted available-for-sale equity
investment with a carrying amount of HK$2,376,000 whose fair
value previously could not be reliably measured was included in
“Other income and gains” in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss.

AR > AR B R At 2 T R e R 2 T 4G o B
O F IR AR 239,000 00 (ZF— N4 lF R
64,000¥70) ° 4EW > 16,000¥ 702 25 BAE 3
fb 2R EH A BEHBECE—ANE
HE) o

FliR g A E RS G e R
B Rl A > HLAERR R B0 H SR 8 R o

PR —-EE=ZA=+—H > IR %357,000
Wt (ZF—N4F 1 357,000800) 2 &I LT
HE 25 42 75 DA BA T B R AE B R > 06T R A
B AG s Z W KK » #HER R A TE
ARV SEH T B o AR R
gl

BREZR-ANEZAZ T+ —HILERE > BHE—
TE MR T 1B 2,376,00035 76 2 FE b 71 W] 43k Hh 65 i A
IE » HAFHEEHARE T SEh 5 & - i
A2 W 25688,000¥ 00 » BEGRFAHERZ
[l W A B W g J TR o
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20. INVENTORIES 20. 7+

2017 2016
—Z bt TR AR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Raw materials R 90,140 103,461
Work in progress 2P B 8,650 10,341
Finished goods J2E B h 175,046 226,179
273,836 339,981

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. HE B B Wk

2017 2016

e S S TR

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT

Trade receivables JE W 5 Wk 552,164 569,904
Impairment WA (1,066) (1,106)

551,098 568,798

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally for a period
of one to three months, extending up to four to five months for
major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade

receivables. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the

21, EWCER 5 Rk (78)

TP IR > AR B ST YT B B R 2

reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provisions, B OHERZERSHWT
is as follows:

2017 2016
—F—s SR A
HKS$°000 HK$’000
W T T
Within 1 month RPN 224,648 223,618
1 to 2 months 1228 A 94,584 103,180
2 to 3 months 2E3MAH 89,117 101,963
Over 3 months 3fAAH VL 142,749 140,037
551,098 568,798

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

JE W S 5 MR ik < WAL A S B I DL AN

2017 2016

e SNt ZERANE

HK$’000 HK$’000

EWT I BT

At beginning of year AT 1,106 2,650
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) CHERIE RG] (HaE7) 149 357
Amount written off as uncollectible 8 5 A Ji vk i Il 2 3k (189) (1,901)
At end of year A& 1,066 1,106

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade

receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$1,066,000 (2016: HK$1,106,000) with a
gross carrying amount before provision of HK$1,066,000 (2016:
HK$1,106,000). The individually impaired trade receivables

relate to customers that were in default or delinquency in

payments and are not expected to be recovered.

b A W B B R AR T A R B
T 48 3% 1 A %5 1,066,000 76 (& — N 4 ¢
1,106,000% ) < A CWHE 2 BEWE 5
W 3K 16 7 41,066,000 06 (ZF — A

1,106,000¥58) ° 7 B % 5 Z 51 C Wi fE 2 B
W B B M sk U 9 A M R K > S S R T

Wl o

TR o b OE R e WOW KM OE R A
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 21. HEWC B B M ak (4)

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered

to be impaired is as follows:

B R Z BEW BT S IRk Z IR B A AT A °F

2017 2016

—Z2— L RN

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT Vedion

Neither past due nor impaired S 18 24 1) 5 Yk AE 509,158 538,049
Less than 1 month past due B A8 H 21,508 22,442
1 to 3 months past due M — = =10 H 14,642 4,970
Over 3 months past due B = A DL L 5,790 3,337
551,098 568,798

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

Included in trade receivables is an amount due from a subsidiary
of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (“HKFH”), a
substantial shareholder of the Company, of HK$314,000 (2016:
Nil), which is repayable on credit terms similar to those offered

to the major customers of the Group.
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22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

22. THAS AR ~ WY 4 e 0 fib 0k

2017 2016
S R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Vidioarn
Prepayments TN RIH 66,436 52,622
Deposits and other receivables HE 8RN e e 106,383 111,301
172,819 163,923
Less: Deposits classified as R P E |
non-current assets BREZR 4 (30,721) (32,285)
Current portion WEE 142,098 131,638

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The

financial assets included in the above balances relate to

receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

S 7 N S A YT A o bt G B 6 A P
A A 7 2 ) O A4 T Bk 2 M WK OH o

23. %/Aﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ)\ﬁﬁzﬁﬁiﬁ

2017 2016

L4 RN

HK$’000 HKS$’000

BT 3o an

Listed equity investments, at market value LR B > 47,444 43,315

The above equity investments at 31 March 2017 were designated

by the Group as financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss upon initial recognition.

PR R E R —F - LE A= HAEAR
A5 [P T 0R e R AR R S T 3R N P EIE IR S A

W 2 4 0 T o
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4. Bl BB E&SMHEH
2017 2016
e Sl 2 RN
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Vedioln
Cash and bank balances Bla R BATHAF 515,648 500,775
Time deposits with original maturity of less  J5 7 2| H A it

than three months when acquired =H ZEMER 323,792 298,657
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBESHERH 839,440 799,432
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances AR REFD ANRE TARE]D 3
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted (B2 B4 M SRAT 45 1% 2 148,671,000 06 (— &
to HK$148,671,000 (2016: HK$151,473,000). RMB is not —INAE 151,473,000 78) - ARWAFA K
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under b T A £ (HAE B B B APl R 45 B
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and 5] 1 %k TE ~ 5 R A ) I A% BB E o AN A [
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign BRI EATIME LW EB 2 BT AN R

Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB B8 e s H At £ o

for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank AT & 3e H BT E A K DL 8 A &
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying A E - S EMEXTI MNP HE—MA
periods of between one day and one month (2016: one day and R -NE:—HEANMEA) ZAF AR
six months) depending on the immediate cash requirements of the B HPEAREFZIHRESER > BHRELH
Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit ZHE MM E AR RPEA R - RITEEIF
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks PIEM RN AR BRI EEZ 8T -

with no recent history of default.

25. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 25. $5 4 i B

On 20 March 2017, the Group entered into a sale and leaseback REF-BEZH S H > AR SRR =
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of a 75 AT o7 B AR I8 B k> DA Hh B i AR
property situated in Hong Kong for a cash consideration of W3 > Bl AEH368,000,0009 7T ([ 43 th
HK$368,000,000 (the “Property Disposal”). The transaction Bl  FERHP_F—LEIATIVH B
was completed on 19 May 2017. As at 31 March 2017, the RER-EE=ZA=ZF—H o ARAE LR
relevant leasehold land and building with a carrying amount of H 5 Z R THI {E %545,307,0009 76 (i A7 s 488
HK$45,307,000 included in Hong Kong operating segment was SrER ) B RUR R AR B o AT B B 0 —
classified as held for sale. Further details of the disposal are 2 A WO P B A0 R A A T Rk
included in note 40 to the financial statements and the Company’s FEZHZTHZAEE -

announcement dated 20 March 2017.
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
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26. %gﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ ~ JU At JE A Kk I B

» B ~ ~

2017 2016

R LA TR N

HKS$’ 000 HK$’000

BT B W

Trade payables AT B 5 IRk 164,943 184,760
Other payables JEAth, BE A 3K IE 59,957 60,905
Accruals FEE AR 140,134 95,995
365,034 341,660

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

FECE IR > AR R H I Z A SRRz
AR B AT anr

2017 2016

—F—L TR A

HKS$’ 000 HK$’000

BT BT

Within 1 month 1A A K 112,067 122,903
1 to 2 months 12218 H 25,884 30,443
2 to 3 months 2%3ME H 11,710 13,160
Over 3 months A AL L 15,282 18,254
164,943 184,760

Included in trade payables are amounts due to the Group’s
associates of HK$40,687,000 (2016: HK$38,247,000) and a
subsidiary of HKFH, a substantial shareholder of the Company,
of HK$141,000 as at 31 March 2016, which are normally settled
on 30-day to 60-day terms.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled on 30-day to 60-day terms. Other payables are

non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.

JE AT B 5 MR Ak B G A RS R I 8 A R 2K
JH40,687,000% 7 (& — /S 4F : 38,247,000
) BB —ANEZHA=ZT—HEREKAH
— 44 BB RV A A 0 — [ R A W) 2 kO
141,000% 78 » 15 55— B $%30% 60 H B FR 45 4 -

FEASF B2 0 M sk s R G B — M 453022 60 H 19T PR &5

o J A EA SR TS 50 8 o 75 BT 3 2 =
H o

:?*t@ﬁiﬁ'ﬂl%%@ﬁl‘ﬁ&ﬂ



Notes to Financial Statements

S s i oty Pk

Year ended 31 March 2017 & E _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H I4FE

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 27. AT A B Z 84T B
BORROWINGS
2017 2016
—2 L RN
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Maturity HK$’000 rate Maturity HK$’000
kS 2 H BT HBEA &R 2 H W
Current
wH
Trust receipt loans — unsecured 0.6%-2.9% Within 65,327 0.7%-2.9% Within 94,592
S G H AT TG PR A K 12 months 12 months
or on or on
demand demand
128 A W 1216 H ™
Bank loans — unsecured 0.8%-5.5% Within 864,793 0.6%-5.5% Within 909,725
4K 30 SR AT Bk 12 months 12 months
or on or on
demand demand
128 A W 1216 H ™
930,120 1,004,317

Non-current

I By
Bank loans — unsecured 1.2%-2.9 % 2018-2019 82,469 0.8%-2.5% 2017-2019 105,205
HEHLIT SRAT B e 2T IEC Sl i S
2R AR 2R LE
1,012,589 1,109,522
2017 2016
R L4 TR N
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT W oo
Analysed into: v
Bank loans: AT R -
Within one year or on demand BN B R R 930,120 1,004,317
In the second year BTAER 74,061 57,746
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BEZBHEN
W% E R WA 8,408 47,459
1,012,589 1,109,522
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27.INTEREST-BEARING BANK

BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

All the bank and trust receipt loans bear interest at floating interest

rates.

(b)

The bank loans were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Japanese
yen, Renminbi and United States dollar at the end of the reporting
period.

As at 31 March 2017, there were no term loans repayable over
one year containing a repayment on demand clause. As at 31
March 2016, ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand
clause and based on the maturity terms of the bank loans and trust
receipt loans, the amounts repayable in respect of the Group’s
interest-bearing bank borrowings were: within one year of
HK$997,053,000; in the second year of HK$65,010,000; and in
the third to fifth years, inclusive of HK$47,459,000.

27.

BT R B Z 84T Bk (A1)

Hf

B

(a)  FRAT BT R A5 RE WO BE k3 DL B AU &G, -

RHCE IR - SUT R MESE - FE - AR
T FE0 2 BLAL o

(b)

W_F—LE=ZH=+—H > MEATER
— 415 A R R I AR A T B I R A R
Ko MR -ANEZAZ1T—H > MIBEMT %
TR R R K R AR R SR AT AR AR R
Wi Bk Z B ek > AS 4 8 28 B A ) R 2 61
AT 48 5 =2 B 3K JE #5997,053,0009 J6 28 it — 4
W2 5 65,010,000%5 JC 8 A 58 A8 5 K
47,459,000 TC B A ZAE B AAE (BIEE R

FI4F) 32 -

3B %iE B2 I
T PR AE B BB RV 2 BT -

28. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the

28.

year are as follows:

2017 e e RS

Deferred tax liabilities 3 %iE B I £ 4%
Fair value
adjustment

Accelerated  arising from

tax acquisition of  Revaluation = Withholding
depreciation  subsidiaries  of properties taxes Total
PR D
AR A
il ZATHNE WEEA BB At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EW T W T EWTI W T #W T
At 1 April 2016 REZ—AFENA—H 4477 11,919 4,570 201 21,167
Deferred tax charged/(credited) A RBR RN
to the statement of profit or (FA) ZIEREBLIH
loss during the year (note 10) (Hfit10) (986) (293) (103) 128 (1,254)
Exchange realignment i 3 - (801) - 9) (810)
Gross deferred tax liabilities RoE—tEZA=Z+—H
at 31 March 2017 Z BRI A A 3491 10,825 4,467 320 19,103

TR o b OE R e WOW KM OE R A
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 28. ¥E #EBLIH (7))
2017 —F—Lti
Deferred tax assets Y %t BE I s
Losses
available for
Decelerated offsetting
tax  against future
depreciation  taxable profits Others Total
W Ji A B A
W B B BB A
i %P4 7 Hfy Hit
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
W T EW T EW T #W T
At 1 April 2016 R-F—=AENHE—H 2,480 6,030 1,321 9,831
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the statement A4 R B IR W FH A/ (1 BR)
of profit or loss during the year (note 10) ZIBERIA (M it10) 66 (317) 109 (142)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2017 R-F—tHEZH=Z+—H
Z TEAE L B 2,546 5,713 1,430 9,689
2016 RN
Deferred tax liabilities YIE %1t BE £ A
Fair value
adjustment
Accelerated  arising from
tax  acquisition of Revaluation ~ Withholding
depreciation subsidiaries  of properties taxes Total
FRI W s B I
MEBE AR A A
il Z AT WEEA; L At
HK$000 HK$’000 HKS$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
W T BWFT EHTT W T #EH T
At 1 April 2015 R-ZF—HENH—H 4,243 11,595 4,673 201 20,712
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 32) W e oY A ) (M AE32) - 1,436 - - 1,436
Deferred tax charged/(credited) KEFERBBERMEE/ GEA)
to the statement of profit or BB (Hit10)
loss during the year (note 10) 234 (600) (103) - (469)
Exchange realignment M e, F % - (512) - - (512)
Gross deferred tax liabilities R-B-ANEZH=Z+—H
at 31 March 2016 Z BRI A A 4477 11,919 4,570 201 21,167

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2017



Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2017 BE - —tLE=H=+—H IL4EE

28. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 28. ¥EHEBLIH (7))
2016 TR N
Deferred tax assets 3B HE B &

Losses

available for

Decelerated offsetting
tax against future
depreciation  taxable profits Others Total
AR S 2
i EEZER it At
HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$000 HK$’000

BT #H T #EWTT #EWTT

At 1 April 2015 REZZ—R4ENA—H 2,437 - 1,352 3,789
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 32) W O i 8 ) (M E32) - 1,060 - 1,060
Deferred tax credited/(charged) AR RBR RN (1)

to the statement of profit or BRI (M iE10)

loss during the year (note 10) 43 4,970 (31 4,982

Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2016 R-F-ANEZHA=Z1+—H

Z IS A A 2480 6,030 1,321 9,831
For presentation purpose, certain deferred tax assets and MBI F » & TRELEBIEE & R A H ORI
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position. BARDLFR RS - BB 28 E W E AL
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the P 2 0 S0 B TR 45 B A A AT AN T
Group for financial reporting purposes:
2017 2016
—ZF—ti RN
HK$°000 HKS$’000
BT BT T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the R e BRI ERRZ
consolidated statement of financial position B IE K A A 8,629 8,771
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the REFA M BRI ERRZ
consolidated statement of financial position PR W TE A A (18,043) (20,107)
(9,414) (11,336)
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 28. ¥E #EBLIH (7))

The Group has unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong Kong
of approximately HK$93,933,000 (2016: HK$91,769,000) that
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has unrecognised tax losses arising in Mainland China of
approximately HK$217,467,000 (2016: HK$204,316,000) that
will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profit. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these losses as, in the opinion of the directors, it
is uncertain whether sufficient future taxable profits will be

available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate for the year ended 31 March
2017 is 10% (2016: 5%). The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2017, except for the deferred tax recognised for a
PRC subsidiary that will distribute dividend, no other deferred
tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China that are subject to withholding
taxes. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately HK$68,635,000 at 31 March 2017 (2016:
HK$72,289,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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AEMAEHRFBEAEZ RERBREEBRL S
93,933,000% 6 (=& — N4 : 91,769,000
J0) AR E IR F BB R AR 2
R 2 R W A o ASHE IR A B P B K R A
AR — BB Z RMERBIEEHEL 5
217,467,000% 70 (ZF — N 4F : 204,316,000%
J6) > ARG H & Z ERR B A o % B
BRI MR A BRI E A > FEHETR
R BB E A2 A0 A 2R R i ) v Bt A 0 B
BhEiH o

PR v [ A SE P 4B B - A B K B R on =2 Ak
T 4% A 3 1) 3 Ah 4% R IR 2 i S ZE Ol
10%THBL - HEH _FRENE—H—HE
AR _Z2FLETA=Z1T—H
18 2 BA) o IR AN P B R 54
B b [ K P RT R BB A o 08 R 2w
TK - MALENS - ME_FT—LFE=EH
Et+—HIEFEZBEABREL10% (ZF—A
A 5%) o B o A 5 R v B K B R 2
MEARB _FENFE—H - HREAEZER
Fi 43 TR Z I8 B B A EAUER

NZF—LHE=ZHA=Z+—H B —M T
43 IR B 8 22 v B RS > ) R AR A R I A
S U6 A A AR R Ik e R . 2 Y 4 D BE
i Z R FE R Pir B A 2 0 A e R O At
HEBLIE o Ry o 5% SRS A R R T L AR
ARWEBPIRERER - R _F—LFE=H
ZF—H > BB REZRBAFZRER
WA 2 A T R A B T B AR 2 W R P = AR A
#568,635,000% JC (= F — /N 4F : 72,289,000%
Jo) °

A28 R B8 T W2 3K 47 W 2 7
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SHARE CAPITAL 29, A
Shares BBy
2017 2016
—Z L4 TR AR
HK$°000 HK$°000
T BWTF o
Authorised: VE
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 1,000,000,000 8% 45 Ji% i {6
HK$0.10 each 0.10¥ 70 2 ¥ 18 % 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: CEITRER -
384,257,640 ordinary shares of 384,257,640/ %5 JB 1 {H
HK$0.10 each 0.10% 70 Z 3% 18 38,425 38,425

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the scheme include the Company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees
of the Company, and any director or employee of the Company’s
subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds any equity

interest.

On 28 August 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”). The Scheme is valid and effective for a period
of 10 years up to 27 August 2022, after which no further share
options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect in all other respects. Share options
complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which are
granted during the duration of the Scheme and those remain
unexercised immediately prior to the end of the 10-year period
shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms
of grant as within the share option period for which such share
options are granted, notwithstanding the expiry of the Scheme.

30. ik B A it =1

A V) A PR T Sl R O S A e S A 4R
MEEEFAARIMZIAEK2HE - 5t
ZHEKSEERFHANFZER (BT
FEBATE D) - H AR B AR 2 A B 2 F K
A A5 V) A Ay i 2 B A o o R
&5 o

PR NH T \H s RAFRM—IH
i JRE M ) (TRH 30 0) o 58 2 A RBOW 21048 »
BRI HENAZTEHRIL s REMAE
T2 AT T Ji e B > L 5 ) > e R A T A At
T ISR RO AL o B AR A bl BRI
BT > W EHE 104E A B8 B s A AE S
SO0 )6 5 A0S A B AT A PR R > ) T
RERZ R Z AR PEATAE > MR SZ TS0 Z S 2 -
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 30. Jik B mE w1 (4)

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 38,831,364 ordinary shares,
being 10.0% of the shares of the Company in issue on 28 August
2012. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 38,831,364 ordinary
shares, representing 10.1% of the existing issued share capital
of the Company. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates,
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive directors of the Company (excluding any independent
non-executive director who is a grantee of the share options). In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of each
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon receipt of the duplicate offer
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
grantee with the number of shares in respect of which the offer
is accepted clearly stated therein, together with payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the
expiry of the Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated.
The terms and conditions of the share options granted are
determinable by the directors on a case-by-case basis. Such
terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to (i) the
subscription price; (ii) the period within which the Company’s
shares must be taken up under the share option, which must not
be more than 10 years from the offer date; (iii) the minimum
period, if any, for which a share option must be held before it can
be exercised; and (iv) the performance target, if any, that must be

achieved before the share option can be exercised.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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AEZF-ZANAZT N OBIT R Z
10.0% o WA 5 H 81 > R BE G #8 w) Bt 88 47 2
T 48 K % 38,831,364 )5 15 18 It > AH ZE AL
AHE BT MAZ10.1% » FEAEMT+ M A H
A REFETRFEHNZBEAEKS R
BBAT Z f v Ry BB R 4S8 AR 4 R AR AT ]
R 2 BB AT RAR 2 1% o AT — 25 3% 3l
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IR Z B S IR AT B AT HAEN) o BAb
AEAT T+ A8 A I 42 P A ] 2 EEBROR
B IE AT > TR AL
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JBe R BB B R A HE o
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EEFT28 H P M 45 A AR N A ZE B I AR
E A R R R T A AR s o ZE R
A9 5 B WE = B H > W S A s o AR AE T
] o M RERE & JER o N A BE AR I R RE S A
i T B A Ik H R A o BT I RE 2
K B AG A E A ML s A B R X
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ZATREI > 0 BRR RE A I R R
A5 (i) B TR HE e SR ZE R 2 A RTAT A (i
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

31

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors in their absolute discretion at the time of the making of
the offer which shall be stated in the letter containing the offer,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the offer date which must be a trading day; (ii)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value

of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or

to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, no share option was granted to directors and
other employees of the Company or any director or employees of
the Company’s subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds

any equity interests (2016: Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
option outstanding under the Scheme (2016: Nil).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 78 to 79 of the financial
statements.

The Group’s share premium account includes (i) the credit of
HK$19,900,000 which represents the difference between the
nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and the
aggregate nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1993; and (ii)
the debit of HK$40,889,000 arising from the repurchase of shares
during the years ended 31 March 2015, 2013, 2011 and 2010.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign
Investment Enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries and the Group’s associates operating as Foreign
Investment Enterprises in Mainland China has been transferred
to the reserve funds. The reserve funds are non-distributable in

nature and can be utilised to offset the losses incurred.

The capital reserve represents the Group’s share of capitalisation

of retained profits by an associate.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
the shares cancelled upon repurchase of the Company’s shares.

30. Ji B AE 3 (%)

WEBEREZ AT R R RS - B
AT Ao A 2 2 O AR A o 2 R R
ASFHAE T LT 08 o 4 () AR 2 W) Ry A s e 4%
WEBERER B (AR S H) FEBi R B H iEE
B Wi 5 G AR 2y ] B4 A R 4
fE k HO39T W F0E &R 5 B 7RG A2 B g H O R
I 0 S M 5 B (i) AR 2 W) AR =2 A o

Ji BB NI 48 MR T 5 A N WU B, R J SRR
EREZHT -

RN WESERZ I RHE T A A W R A
oAl B A A W) B Ja 4 ) e AR 4 T e A E A
ZHBZLMERLRER (2T NF ) o

TR IR > A TR R T S SR G R AT B
JRHE (N4 )

foti A

A SR AR A7 9 B0 A 4 B 2 A A e L ) A A
BERISHRTIH Z B HE B RN LS o

31.

A S [ B 7 6 AR RS ¢ (i) %% $019,900,000%
JCZHEMRHE » JIA A W) OB AT A T 4 S AR 9
—Ju U= A A A O 2 e A ] 2 B
AT {48 B o R 2 2580 5 (i) 40,889,00038
TEZE®E TRBEZ—HE - 2=
s R R R -RIE=ZA=ZFT—HIE
A FBE W T JE A B A o

AR AT R A i £ A S Ak B A ik A > i ACAR
B v R K DA b e 4 A 3 T AR 2 B
D) B g O R TR A Y L A1 488 4 v A 2
AT SRR AR B > T AR EN B A A Z s o

A A A AR T A — T A R 2 AR AR
M i o

5 A I [ i 5 41 D [0 A A ) MG AR R Y % M
ZhifE -

:?*t@ﬁiﬁ-ﬂl%ﬂ%@ﬁl‘ﬁ’&ﬂ



Notes to Financial Statements

S 285 i B

Year ended 31 March 2017 BE _FE—tHE=ZH=+—HILEE

32. BUSINESS COMBINATION 32. X5 4 b

On 2 November 2015, Champ Business, a 70%-owned subsidiary MR-F—HE+T—H_H BE(—HAREH
of the Group, acquired a 100% interest in Murray Catering at YA T0%ME 25 14 PR 2 51) W SE R 2 1009 HE
a total cash consideration of approximately HK$19,480,000. 5 > 8B4 R A %519,480,0003 JG o 3 i
Murray Catering is engaged in catering business providing Rg 2 BRET » FE/REMIEREZERK
mainly lunch box and tuck shop services to schools in Hong R B /N MBS o A 4R T WO SR DA — 25
Kong. The Group acquired Murray Catering to further expand PEF IR T Z R ACE T - I B A 42 [ i 3
its catering business in Hong Kong and create synergetic effects 5 B %5 o [F] B 2% o

with other businesses of the Group.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Murray T B e Z R EERAEZAF
Catering as at the date of acquisition were as follows: HEEF T -
Fair value
recognised
Notes on acquisition
T AT R T 52
Bt 7t ZAF1E
HK$’000
BT or
Property, plant and equipment L ERN Y & 13 4,683
Other intangible assets oAt J 5 17 6,751
Inventories & 590
Trade receivables JE W 5 iRk 252
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEATARIE ~ 7T 4 B i R Wk IH 2,840
Cash and cash equivalents REeRBE&FHEH 1,952
Trade payables, other payables and accruals JE A B 5 MR Ak ~ A B ARk Ak I K
JEwH RS (11,302)
Deferred tax liabilities 78 9iE B JE £ A 28 (376)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value NP AB T R 2 W) A A A 5,390
Goodwill on acquisition W = v 16 14,090
Satisfied by cash VLB 4 A 19,480
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32. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 2. %EPF ()

The fair values of trade receivables and other receivables as at the
date of acquisition amounted to HK$252,000 and HK$239,000,
respectively. The gross contractual amounts of trade receivables
and other receivables were HK$252,000 and HK$239,000,
respectively, which were expected to be collectible.

The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$328,000 for the
acquisition. These transaction costs had been expensed and were
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

None of the goodwill recognised was expected to be deductible

for income tax purpose.

W FRA > R A BT B MR sk At R Wk TE 2
2 F 1 43 Bl £5252,0009 J6 239,000 JG o HE
W B 5 B ik e At B Ak S 2 A A B A By
252,0003 7T 5£239,0009 ¢ > 3 78 7 W ] o

245 [k WO A AR B R AR 3280005 T © %%
RGOS » Wil ANEF A EBEZITH
PN o

S 488 © e 58 < 7 B FEUYT T P 0 R BT AR B o

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of WHEER 2B AERBSHFWT ¢
Murray Catering is as follows:
HK$’000
BT T
Cash consideration Bl &RE (19,480)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired B 2 Bl BB A S EIHHE 1,952

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included
in cash flows from investment activities
Transaction costs of the acquisition included

in cash flows from operating activities

During the year ended 31 March 2016, since the acquisition,
Murray Catering contributed HK$19,791,000 to the Group’s
revenue and loss of HK$718,000 to the consolidated profit.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year
ended 31 March 2016, the revenue and the profit of the Group
for that year then ended would have been HK$2,960,689,000 and
HK$42,169,000, respectively.

SABRBEBEZHERBEZHER
B4 A HIH B S (17,528)
s 2 B4 R 2 W A B R

(328)

(17,856)

BEZFZ-ANFE=ZH=T—HIREE > AKRE
I FI Ly A 4 1 BT B RK 2 A %519,791,000
W o0 I B B A e A A SR 1H718,0009 T -

WAEMRERE-F-ANE=ZH=1T—HILFEE
WIEAT > AREEPRBRE Y H ILEE 2 s Kk
F1 23 51 %2,960,689,0004 G 42,169,000 T ©

TR o b OE R e WOW KM OE R A
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33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year, the Group had the following disposal of
subsidiaries:

33. LB b B A H)
AR s AR HLAE T DL W A T

(a) the disposal of 100% equity interests in a subsidiary, (a) HE—FKMWEAF100%2Z HEE > H#&F
which held the entire interests in a subsidiary in Mainland H—FKARPERAAH  REEHLESH
China engaging in raising and sale of livestocks, for a total 2K g AR Z &R > BMEE R
consideration of HK$45,000,000. The gain on the disposal 45,000,000% 7T o B Bt I 2 Hi £ W2k 49 %
before tax amounted to approximately HK$40,326,000 and 40,326,000 70 K& B Bl 1% Z B 3 40 5
gain on the disposal net of tax amounted to approximately 37,816,000% 7T °
HK$37,816,000.

(b) the disposal of 100% equity interests in a subsidiary in b)) HE KR PBEAM BEH —XEBR
Mainland China, which held a poultry farm, for a total LM E AR 100%HEZ > BEELA L
consideration of approximately HK$25,562,000. The gain 25,562,000 7T © BRBEHT 2 B WA 4 %
on the disposal before tax amounted to approximately 21,414,000% 70 K bR B 1% Z B W25 40 %
HK$21,414,000 and gain on the disposal net of tax 20,356,000%5 JC ©
amounted to approximately HK$20,356,000.

(c) the disposal of 100% equity interests in a subsidiary in Hong (c) HE—FRMNEW A —HYWEZH
Kong, which held a property, for a total consideration of J& A Rl 100%RE 25 » 48 4F 18 £562,000,000
HK$62,000,000. The gain on the disposal (before and after Wt o WS (BRRLAT R ERALR) 2 A
tax) amounted to approximately HK$38,306,000. 38,306,000% JC °

2017 2016
R LA ZEN
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt BT BT T
Net assets disposed of: i th B 2 K B
Property, plant and equipment LE WY & ] 13 31,855 -
Prepaid land lease payments TEAT 1 b AL B 15 615 -
Goodwill L 16 3,929 -
Inventories FeLy 1,827 -
Prepayments, deposits and FATRE ~ R
other receivables At J7E 3K T 1,107 -
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KB4 % HEE 438 -
Trade payables, other payables FEAT B 5 MRk~ HoAth
and accruals JRE A ok T T M LA (1,188) -
38,583 -
Exchange fluctuation reserve FEE e, Y5 ) ol 5 (6,067) -
32,516 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries H B B 4\ 2 W s 5 100,046 -
Satisfied by cash VLB 4 A 132,562 -
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34.

Year ended

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in

respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

31 March 2017 & E - F—HLE=HA=+—HILFEE

BEWEA A (5)

A O B 2 ) 2 B S B S H R S
SHTE

HK$°000
3o
Cash consideration B4R 132,562
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of i B RB &S MEEA (438)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect A B A R 2 Bl e R B4 S IE H
of the disposal of subsidiaries WA 132,124
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 4. BEMB L
(a) As lessor (a) fEREBMA

The Group leases its investment property (note 14) to an
associate under an operating lease arrangement, with a lease

negotiated for a term of two years.

At 31 March 2017, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under a non-cancellable operating lease

with its associate falling due as follows:

AL EHE LI RN Z B G
% (MiE14) F— WG A7 - R Z M
R I Ty WA o

REF-LHEZA=H > REREEE
AT FTSLZ A AR A R > AR R
2T T S 390 FR AT WO g IR < KR TN

T :
2017 2016
R — LA TRNAE
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT N 3o
Within one year —4E R 453 1,176
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EELA . A ETRWAE = 490
453 1,666
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34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 4. BEMA L (F)

(continued)

(b) As lessee b) fEBARMA
The Group leases certain land and buildings under operating AR B $ A R PR T e R
lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for terms ranging F o REMZMAEH H—FEE2ILTHEA
from one to fifty years. The Group has the option of Eo NETREME R » AREHA RS
extending the leases by up to one year in certain operating BERMENE—4 -

lease arrangements.

At 31 March 2017, the Group had total future minimum RE-F—-EEZA=T—H > REERGE
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases AR A T 4 S0 2 268 AL A Y T 5 R

it Z AR A RIE T

falling due as follows:

2017 2016
—F—L O S A
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T BT C
Within one year —4E R 132,740 162,463
In the second to fifth years, inclusive W ORRHE B RWE 149,021 224,031
After five years BAFR 27,374 41,203
309,135 427,697
35. COMMITMENTS 35. 7Rk ¥
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note %Lj’(lﬁa‘ﬁ%@)‘#?ﬁiﬁ%%ﬁ%%?ﬁ% VN
34(b) above, the Group had capital commitments in respect of [ e AR 2~ R R AR
property, plant and equipment at the end of the reporting period: mE
2017 2016
e S i R A
HKS$’000 HK$’000
EWT I BT T
Contracted, but not provided for CET A H R B 9,313 5,377
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed

elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had

36. AN LR Y

(a) O 4% B 5 o S At b 7 P sl 2 22 5
REERAN > AR ARG T B L B AN ERT LT

the following material transactions with its related parties FIE RS
during the year:
2017 2016
—F— bl RN
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt ik BT T BT T
Associates: WA
Purchases of goods HEEE 5 6) 352,058 430,526
Sales of goods HEE N (ii) 1,911 10,936
Promotion expenses reimbursed W A AR R
by associates BB X (iii) 34,750 35,832
Rental income HEerA @iv) 1,245 1,261
A subsidiary of a substantial ARAFRERRZ
shareholder of the Company: iy AR
Sales of goods HEER (v) - 1,693
Commission income [HEON (vi) 228 269
Commission expenses 4B X (vi) 1,194 506
Notes: Mt -
(i) The cost of purchases from associates was made at pre- () IR A B RN Z AR T AR T 4 O B e
determined prices agreed between the parties. e Z EME R o
(ii) The selling prices of the goods sold to associates were (i) I Mgk 2 ) B A 2 R UG 2 i A
determined by reference to prices and conditions similar to FEE T Z LA S B E o
those offered to other major customers.
(iii) The promotion expenses reimbursed by associates were (i) 508 2 v) B R B S T AR A A 1 2
determined by reference to the costs incurred by the Group. BX A2 5 A B R o
(iv) The rental income from an associate was determined between (iv) ZREBE AR Z AW TS B A4 [ SR
the Group and the associate. BT FEE o
(v) The selling prices of the goods sold to a subsidiary of a (v) MARAFEERRZMEAFASERMHZ
substantial shareholder of the Company were determined by BHIR2EF BT R EEE P Z O
reference to prices and conditions similar to those offered to ¥ MR AR B E o
other major customers.
(vi) The commission income/expenses were determined between (vi) &M BIE TS AR E K E BRI

the Group and the subsidiary of the substantial shareholder on

normal commercial terms.
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

36. BN AR5 (%)

(a) (continued) (@ (#)
The related party transactions in respect of items (v) and S (v) Be(vi)E Z B N 32 B W R L
(vi) above constitute continuing connected transactions HRLAISE 14ATE P € Z FR AL 5 o
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since B 58 (v) B (vi) T Z 4 BT b v A B 5
the amounts in respect of items (v) and (vi) are below de 14A.76f% Z B AR H S K FBR# » SB(v) X
minimis threshold for the purposes of Rule 14A.76 of the (vi)JE 1 2 T 8 A0 8 S b R IE R 2 B
Listing Rules, items (v) and (vi) are fully exempt from AL~ AR A B O B HLE o
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules.
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (b)  SRBR N 2 i A R A A
Details of the Group’s trade payables to its associates at the IR - AR 2 BB AT B A R 5
end of the reporting period are disclosed in note 26 to the MR K A S S 2 R W k20 B R
financial statements.
(c) Commitments with related parties: (c) BB N+t Z R :
On 1 October 2015, a subsidiary of the Group entered WA H—H » AR E—H
into a two-year agreement with an associate, to lease the O ) B[] B 8% O W1 AT S W AR G > DA
Group’s investment property to that associate. Details of the WAHAR G G YT %8 AW - A
operating lease commitment are disclosed in note 34(a) to R A RIS R OO O MR
the financial statements. 34(a)iN 55 °
(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: (d) AREEFEEEHANE R
2017 2016
—Z -t TRNE
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T T BT
Short term employee benefits w30 B fE A 18,809 19,142
Pension scheme contributions A8 P 4wt ) Atk 357 684
19,166 19,826

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
remuneration are included in note 8 to the financial

statements.
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37.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 37. &M T H2Z M
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FEREHIR > A MR TR ZREENT :

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2017 —®— L
Financial assets S 333
Financial Available-
assets at fair for-sale
value through Loans and financial
profit or loss receivables assets Total
LA THER
HEARZ BXR Wk
E4.3 0 HE ek ZEWYRE i
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000

BT BT #EWY T #W T

Available-for-sale investments Wl ERE = = 1,188 1,188
Trade receivables e 5 ek - 551,098 - 551,098

Financial assets included in prepayments, B RFAN AH T8 R AR W
deposits and other receivables REZERMERE - 106,383 - 106,383

Financial assets at fair value through BATHEBBSE ARZ EREE
profit or loss 47,444 - - 47,444
Cash and cash equivalents RekBe%HEEA - 839,440 - 839,440
47,444 1,496,921 1,188 1,545,553
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (continued)
2016

Financial assets

» =
37. &R LR 2Z 58 (5)
— g .
&N
4 b
Financial Available-
assets at fair for-sale
value through Loans and financial
profit or loss receivables assets Total
TN FEER
R A2 Bk R3S
SHEE HE ek ZEMERE Bk
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000

BT #H T

BT BT

Available-for-sale investments AR - - 1,351 1,351
Trade receivables JE W 5 1Rk - 568,798 - 568,798
Financial assets included in prepayments, LG R AR T 4 R A W
deposits and other receivables REZERMEE - 111,301 - 111,301
Financial assets at fair value through BATHEBBRE A ARZ EREE
profit or loss 43,315 - - 43,315
Cash and cash equivalents e kB &ESHEA - 799,432 - 799,432
43315 1,479,531 1,351 1,524,197
Financial liabilities S £
2017 2016
- B S
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
U AT A AR S AR AR
1 4B i £1 4 11 <2 i 1
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T T BT T
Financial liabilities included in trade 35 7 HE A B 5 Mk > S At
payables, other payables and accruals JRE A Ak T % M it £ £ <
A 345,851 305,689
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR B Z RiT & 1,012,589 1,109,522
1,358,440 1,415,211
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Except for certain unlisted equity investments classified as
available for sale for which the fair value could not be measured
reliably and were carried at cost, available-for-sale investments
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were

carried at fair value.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities
included in trade payables, other payables and accruals and bank
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments or with floating

interest rates.

The Group’s finance team is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. The finance team reports directly to the
executive directors and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance team analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the executive directors. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced

or liquidation sale.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of club debentures are based on

market observable transactions.

38. Ak T H 2 Al B A P2 b

B TR A B 2 JE Bl R Rs 4 >
OB B VT S st R 4R A B R A T A
H B B 3 O S EZ 1 R AMR 2 4 il
A PRSI -

BRI AL RE A > R A B L A A 0
B FHA Rt e > e RBEEHEER -
JE WA BT 5 Bk~ A R TR RO T S A
JE Wk T 2 4 Tl AL AR A B B MR
A JE A5 sk L e B it 0 £ 2 4 4 A6 DA S BRAT
B 2P K B b SR TR

255 [ B 2 DA B TR R E G L A ST
B BOR KRR o S 78 I K 1 AT S
T B MER o R R H O B K
G5 A 4 ik TR ARUAE A S ) > Sl e S B D A
Y 2 B A o Al A P BT I R B St ot
Al 1620 TR % A5 SR 4 T S P 00 D 4 A T 5
i S AL & B G

R EXAEN A TEDZ TREAKZ S
i (it 56 78 sl M Y B ) T A B T AT A2 5
AL -

R 45 A 4 T DA T B B o
A6 25 W 2 - DA v B8 T 355 28 B A R
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (%)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement

BT

hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 March 2017

AT A AT 0 B

REF—LFEZH=4—H

Fair value measurement using

38. A ik T H 2 A P B A P2 bl

R B A 4 T 4 L A P R AR

2 PR
Quoted prices Significant
in active observable
markets inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total
e CIWNTE k-
i 5 9 A LN i
(58—HM) (58 =M) ik
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT W T T BT T
Available-for-sale investments: WAL ERE
Listed equity investments LiiRE R R E 204 - 204
Unlisted club debenture Ik b & B4l R - 627 627
Financial assets at fair value BATHEBERBERARZ
through profit or loss S E A 47,444 - 47,444
47,648 627 48,275
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 38. Ak T H 2 Al B A b
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (%)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

BT (57)
FEL T e it 0 B (B

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)
As at 31 March 2016 REZFE—ANE=ZH=1+—H

Fair value measurement using

ASPALH R
Quoted prices Significant
in active observable
markets inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total
i R BE
T 55 A LN
(58—M) (58— ) 7t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
W F T BT T BT T
Available-for-sale investments: Ak
Listed equity investments LR E 367 - 367
Unlisted club debenture Bl R Y e - 627 627
Financial assets at fair value AT HERBRHRARZ
through profit or loss & E A 43,315 - 43,315
43,682 627 44,309

AR R A AE SR R SR R T
B A TR - T A = e 0 S0 A S 2
V(RN ) -

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
for the financial assets (2016: Nil).

REF-BEZHAZT o ARG AT ]
BATVEG B2 AR (2R AFE ) -

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil).
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. IV 75 el B 4% BI H B % R

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank borrowings and cash and short term deposits. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as available-for-sale investments,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, trade
receivables, other receivables, trade payables and other payables,

which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s short and long term debt
obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using variable

rate debts, which is regularly reviewed by senior management.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on
floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

39. IV %5 L B 4% PI H RS % R (7))

(continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) % B ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in basis points before tax in equity*
-3 B3 B Wi 5 A BE 23+
Bim,/ (84) B/ (84) B/ (84)
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
2017 —®—-LtiE
Hong Kong dollar It 25 (1,306) -
Japanese yen H & 25 (1,049) -
RMB N 25 (289) -
Hong Kong dollar Wt (25) 1,306 -
Japanese yen H & (25) 1,049 -
RMB AR ¥ (25) 289 -
2016 RN
Hong Kong dollar ¥t 25 (616) -
Japanese yen H [8l 25 (1,613) -
RMB JNEL 25 (325) -
Hong Kong dollar ot (25) 616 -
Japanese yen H [8l (25) 1,613 -
RMB N (25) 325 -

* Excluding retained profits

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currency.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
Japanese yen and RMB exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and equity (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

BT RE i A

A IE L, B

A AR [0 i 2 58 B W B o % S LB T R
R AL LB 2 S RE B W SN 2 IS H
Fm A o

A BURAE P A7 M A v 5 N 5K AR N 2 A DL
T > A5 1B Bk A v ) B M B (R B W O
Be £ A5 1 2 SF- i 5 B BT 50) s e 1R H |
Be N B W T 52 B w] B 5 Bl 2 R EE o

TR o b OE R e WOW KM OE R A
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. S 5 B B 4 B H B R BOSRE (A)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) A B Bl B ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in rate before tax in equity*
JE R B BE 1 %k A B A
Bim/ (84) Hm/ (E4) ¥/ (85)
% HKS$’000 HKS$’000
B o oo
2017 .
If Hong Kong dollar weakens ¥ o0 5 H JE 55 3
against Japanese yen 1 (783) -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens Ve 0 5 N\ R 59 3
against RMB 1 1,592 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens ¥ o0 5 H JE R 2
against Japanese yen 1) 783 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens V8 0 5 N\ R iR 3
against RMB 1 (1,592) -
2016 ZEANE
If Hong Kong dollar weakens s o0 5 H [H 55
against Japanese yen 1 (5,118) -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens # W0 SE N\ R 59 3
against RMB 1 1,554 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens U0 5 H [H 5
against Japanese yen (D 5,118 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens 5 W0 S R B 5 3
against RMB (H (1,554) -

* Excluding retained profits
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale investments,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and other
receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these

instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations
of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by
geographical region and by industry sector. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group as
the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are widely
dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 21
to the financial statements.

39. 35 M Bar 4% BEL H B K Bk (A

15 FE L B8

A B A R ORE B SEZR P EATR
Sy o RIEAAR B Z WK > A B AR R AT
RHWEF > BALBEBRGEEEERT - )
b o A B T A B R R WA R 2 L > T ARAR
V) S L e o S K

AR [ Al S B T B A A
H o~ i 88 - A TEEBHBARZ
<ol A LAt MR WK I 2 A BB 1 32 5
BITER) > BB SE Y TR Z IR E -

FH A A 458 i {8 LM 0 e £ 8 T S PR 2 P OB AT
oy > WA EAT AT o 17 B K 4 o B0 1
VLR /R G E 5 ~ Hulit B A7 34795 B -
SN AL 2 MR S MRk 2 % P R B R AZ 4
AT 25 A1 SRR AT 3 o WA SR [ g Sl 0 TR 4R
AR R

A4 5 A S Rk 2 A R R B e A A
BRSO B 2L e
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. W5 M B 4 2L R B SR (4D
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Liquidity risk W E 4 E b
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a AREHBBREHAREHERDESFHE TH B
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity EAEHERR - T HEEEHeH T H KA
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade LR E (I EWRE S EZ) BRI HE ERE R
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. The BEBRUTEMBE SRR - REHNHEENS
Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of WMIE R EBAN B ZMITER R E4SH
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank M B E M R o
borrowings.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as R OET A AR BIEZK » DL 20 A 45 3 #i;
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual R Z & H A &EBI B

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2017
e S
On demand
or less than 1to5
12 months years Total
R Bk
Aik1248 A 1554 Hm
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T W T #WT T

Financial liabilities included B HE T HE AT B 5 IRk~
in trade payables, other At A 33K JE B
payables and accruals ErrafEZz LA 345,851 - 345,851
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JHBAT R B Z RAT B 931,974 82,633 1,014,607
1,277,825 82,633 1,360,458
2016
RN
On demand
or less than 1to5
12 months years Total
HE R
A 1248 A 1 BS54 okl
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T T T
Financial liabilities included B HE T HE AT B 5 IR AR~
in trade payables, other Al JRE A+ 35 I X
payables and accruals BT A2 4 n A 305,689 - 305,689
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR B Z BT & 1,006,226 105,360 1,111,586
1,311,915 105,360 1,417,275
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2017, there were no term loans repayable over
one year containing a repayment on demand clause. As at 31
March 2016, the Group’s term loans with on demand clause
in the amount of HK$7,264,000 were repayable over one year
in accordance with the terms of the loan. The relevant loan
agreement contained a repayment on demand clause giving the
bank the unconditional right to call in the loan at any time and
therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total
amount was classified as “on demand”.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments classified as available-for-sale investments (note 19)
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 23)
as at 31 March 2017.

If the prices of the respective listed equity investments had
been 3% higher/lower, with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s available-for-sale investment revaluation reserves
would have increased/decreased by approximately HK$6,000
(2016: HK$11,000) at 31 March 2017 as a result of the changes
in the fair values of the Group’s certain available-for-sale
investments, and the Group’s profit after tax for the year would
have increased/decreased by approximately HK$1,188,000 (2016:
HK$1,085,000) as a result of the changes in the fair value of the

Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

39. IV %5 L B 4% PI H RS % R (7))

L ) ¥ 4 B (A7)

RoF—CEEA=1—H o e ER—
AR AR R W ) AR A B R R R R o
MN_F—ANE=ZH=1+—H  WEEHZ K
Koo AREERF REREEGR T AR
7,264,000%5 7C W] — 412 R o FH B Bk I R
£ v B SR A R K > IR T SRAT SR AR RE A
W I SR B R Bk o BRIk o AR b R B R UL i
FoSERAEO B A REXR] -

JBe 53¢ TR R Bt

i 55 AU JRL e i 9 PR T R 4 K T A il i o
i A6 5 ) T A BORE 25 07 4 O 1B AR L
Bio R-F—LE=ZA=+—H » REMAZ
PRI B A T 6 A 8 (Rt 19) Mt A PR 758
s AR Z S Rh e (FhE23) Z 850 b o 5 %
T 51 B0 5% 1B A L B

i 4% T W 2 B Z AE RS B WA 3% > HoAth
AR R AR N R LEEAE
H > A ] 2 W] 43k H B 8 70 ol A 1 81 AR 4
M5 AT B B A O A 5 B) i 4 B 1Y
WA #16,000% J6 (ZF— N4 1 11,0009
JG) > T AS 45 [ 2 AR AF B B3 A0 A% Bk R 16 181 A 42 1)
Frf MR A FEB RIS AR & RE EZ A
SF-{F 5 B 1 3 m A £11,188,0008 06 (=&
— N 11,085,000 78) ©
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business

and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, issue new shares or repurchase shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2017 and 31
March 2016.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity attributable to
the equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratio is regularly
reviewed by senior management. The gearing ratios as at the end

of the reporting periods were as follows:

39. IV %5 Rl B 4% BI H B B R (7))

A4 B

ACHR M 2 A B R R AR AC SR A R
3 ¥ AR AR S5 DR ) O A A AR
Vo 3R DS 7 S0 S M e AU B R AR A -

75 [0 L 8 A P AR e < A L A AR S I
VAR BE o T #k o ol B S AC A M > A 4R 0 T
B ZURE, ~ BT B S [l JBe Ay o A
ER-EHEEA=ZTHEZFE-AFEEA
St HIRFEERN s EAREHEZ B - BORR
TRR S 4 B ) o

AGE I AR EA R DB R EAR > MR
TR R B BRAT B2k B DA 2 W M 25 i A
B A B 2 T e B 30 o 0 A B 6 ol i A
JE IR o REEHIR > AEEARKLRNT

2017 2016
—F— L ZE A

HKS$’000 HK$’000

T o -3

Interest-bearing bank borrowings JHBAT R B Z SRAT & 1,012,589 1,109,522
Equity attributable to equity holders of B e i A N W) RE 2

the Company P A & R AR 1,318,100 1,367,057

Gearing ratio HEE AR 77 % 81%

40. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING 40. i % W 4% 3

PERIOD

The Property Disposal, which was completed on 19 May 2017,

/N Sl v S WS R WINE BV ALV E ik )
il A wt B R (0 B R B B 28 5 AR ) T
wE AR 3. 208 W T o AR A AR A I8 2 Bk 2 A B
Bt R EOR - W 2 e ep— M A R R R
BN B AR R Tl 2 k2 A A T g g o

is expected to result in a total gain on disposal before tax of
approximately HK$320 million, net of directly attributable
transaction costs. In accordance with the requirements of the
relevant accounting principles relating to sale and leaseback
arrangement, part of the gain will be deferred and amortised over
the leaseback period.
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

41. AR A 2 M B R FE

TP AR A B AR 2 ] B R L A Z R

W

2017 2016
—F L4 TR A
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Ik i ) ¥
Investments in subsidiaries R EAF 2 RE 143,098 143,098
Available-for-sale investments AL R 203 165
Deferred tax assets IE 9k Bl JEH G 1,569 1,886
Total non-current assets FET B K A A 144,870 145,149
CURRENT ASSETS TR R g7
Due from subsidiaries A W Bt B 2 ) 802,496 685,003
Prepayments FE AT 3K IE 136 137
Cash and bank balances Bl & RBIT G 1,105 988
Total current assets B & A AR 803,737 686,128
CURRENT LIABILITIES Ui By 1%
Due to subsidiaries JRE A It Jog 2 ] 501,846 499,985
Accruals JRE 55 1,862 1,830
Total current liabilities B A AR 503,708 501,815
NET CURRENT ASSETS R ) e 300,029 184,313
Net assets EEFH 444,899 329,462
EQUITY HE £
Issued capital EE AT A 38,425 38,425
Reserves i e 406,474 291,037
Total equity HE 25 A8 {H 444,899 329,462

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen ¥ & il

Director # #

NAM Chi Ming, Gibson ¥ & W

Director # FH

:?*t@ﬁiﬁ'ﬂl%%@ﬁl‘ﬁ&ﬂ



Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2017 BE _FE—tHE=ZH=+—HILEE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

41. AR A w2 W EHR L A% (4)

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(continued)
Note: Mt -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AATF ZEEMBEEN T
Available-
for-sale
Share investment Capital
premium revaluation redemption Retained
account reserve reserve profits Total
o i A
B WA A
JBe B e B MR filt i Il i A PR 18 kA Hsk
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT BT idio o
At 1 April 2015 B FE—-HAENA—H 233,120 42 1,531 54,085 288,778
Total comprehensive income A P 4 2 I A
for the year - (12) - 38,776 38,764
Final 2015 dividend TR AR - - - (24,977) (24,977)
Interim 2016 dividend TR ANEPHRE - - - (11,528) (11,528)
At 31 March 2016 and MoF—ANEZH=+—HA K
at 1 April 2016 RB—ANEMNA—H 233,120 30 1,531 56,356 291,037
Total comprehensive income AR P A 2 IR A
for the year - 38 - 151,904 151,942
Final 2016 dividend TR ARERBKRE - - - (24,977) (24,977)
Interim 2017 dividend R LA PR E - - - (11,528) (11,528)
At 31 March 2017 RoZ—-tE=H=+—H 233,120 68 1,531 171,755 406,474

The Company’s share premium account includes (i) the credit
of HK$53,719,000 which represents the difference between the
nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and
the combined net assets of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the group reorganisation in 1993; and (ii) the debit of
HK$40,889,000 arising from the repurchase of shares during the
years ended 31 March 2015, 2013, 2011 and 2010. Under the
Company Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, a distribution
may be made from the share premium account in certain

circumstances.

The difference between the share premium account of the
Company and that of the Group represents the difference
between the aggregate nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries and their combined net assets acquired, pursuant to
the group reorganisation in 1993, as detailed above.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of

the shares cancelled upon repurchase of the Company’s shares.
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ZHEMRE > TR ) DT B AR T A BELAR B
—NhWNE2FEEHEMAMBRBZIHBARNZE
P & B A W 4 2 2580 5 JR(ii)40,889,000%5
FTCZAMEH > IINERE F—HE S SF—=
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2017 & FE _~F—-bLE=ZA=+—H IL4FE

42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 42. V0 5 % 2 Bk
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue AMHEHRECR F - CEANA=ZTHERS
by the board of directors on 30 June 2017. e 3 B T 8 o
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Particulars of Property

E A

31 March 2017 Z=&F—+L4E=ZH=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Bk

Percentage of
attributable
interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group
7 4R 1 A
DA & AR Lty g
Levels 1 and 2 (west portion) Industrial Medium term lease 100
of Four Seas Group Guangdong
Headquarter Building Complex,
Yuepu South Industrial Zone,
Shantou, Guangdong Province,
The People’s Republic of China
SR YN ] T3 T LA 100
i SR 4 il B T v 3 D
VO 4 1 4 R

AR M (W)
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